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FormFactor, the FormFactor logo and its producttactnology names, including MicroSpring, MicroFerMicroLign, TRE and
HARMONY, are trademarks or registered trademarkBarmFactor in the United States and other countAd other trademarks, trade
names or service marks appearing in this AnnuabRem Form 10-K are the property of their respectwners.

Throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we refeFormFactor, Inc. and its consolidated subsigaas “FormFactor,” the
“Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our”. Our fiscal yearend on the last Saturday in December. Our lasetfiseal years ended December 27,
2003, December 25, 2004 and December 31, 200 ctsply.




NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardimg statements within the meaning of the SeasiExchange Act of 1934 and
the Securities Act of 1933, which are subject $tigj uncertainties and assumptions that are diffioypredict. The forward-looking
statements include statements, among other thiogserning our business strategy (including arditeig trends and developments in, and
management plans for, our business and the markefisich we operate, financial results, operatieguits, revenues, gross margin, operating
expenses, products, projected costs and capitaheipires, research and development programs, aatbsarketing initiatives and
competition. In some cases, you can identify ttetagements by forward-looking words, such as “mawight,” “will,” “could,” “should,”
“expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimat” “predict,” “intend” and “continue,” the nega&\wor plural of these words and other
comparable terminology. The forward-looking statateare only predictions based on our current eggieas and our projections about
future events. All forward-looking statements ird#d in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are basemhupformation available to us as of
the filing date of this Annual Report on Form 10¥au should not place undue reliance on these fatM@oking statements. We undertake
no obligation to update any of these statementarigireason. These forward-looking statements wevkhown and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors that may causactual results, levels of activity, performancechievements to differ materially from those
expressed or implied by these statements. Thesarddnclude the matters discussed in the sectititierl “ltem 1A: Risk Factors” and
elsewhere in this Form 10-K. You should carefuliysider the numerous risks and uncertainties destiinder such section.

PART |
ltem 1: Business

We design, develop, manufacture, sell and suppedigion, high performance advanced semiconducédemprobe cards.
Semiconductor manufacturers use our wafer prokdsdarperform wafer probe test on the whole wafehe front end of the semiconductor
manufacturing process. We introduced our first wafebe card based on our MicroSpring intercontetinology in 1995. We offer
products that are custom designed for semicondatdmufacturers’ unique wafer designs and enabla theeduce their overall cost of test.

In fiscal 2005, we benefited from semiconductor afanturers’strong demand for our products as they continuedtace convention
probe cards with our advanced wafer test technetodgiew applications such as mobile RAM and thesiten to 90 and sub-90 nanometer
technology process nodes and Double Data Rate MPdR Il, architecture contributed to our overaienue growth, which was partially
offset by lower demand for our NAND and NOR flasfer probe cards. As a result, in fiscal 2005 evenues increased by 34% as
compared to fiscal 2004. In fiscal 2005, we alsimed significant costs associated with the ttarsto our new manufacturing facility in
Livermore, California, which we expect to completehe first half of fiscal 2006. We were able tmél the costs associated with this
transition from operating cash flow.

Products

Our products are based on our proprietary techimedogcluding our MicroSpring interconnect tectogyt and design tools. Our
MicroSpring interconnect technology, which includesilient spring-like contact elements, enabletoyzroduce wafer probe cards for
applications that require reliability, speed, psemi and signal integrity. We manufacture our M&padng contact elements through precision
micro-machining and scalable semiconductor-likean#dbrication processes. Our MicroSpring contaoctssprings that optimize the relative
amounts of force on, and across, a bond pad dthiatest process and maintain their shape andguositer a range of compression. These
characteristics allow us to achieve




reliable, electrical contact on either clean ordized surfaces, including bond pads on a waferrd8ipring contacts enable our wafer probe
cards to make hundreds of thousands of touchdovthawinimal maintenance for many device applicasiohhe MicroSpring contact can be
attached to many surfaces, or substrates, inclyatimged circuit boards, silicon wafers, ceraming &arious metalized surfaces.

Since its original conception, the MicroSpring @mithas evolved into a library of spring shapestanlnologies. Our designers use this
library to design an optimized custom wafer proasldor each application. Since developing thistamental technology, we have
broadened and refined it to respond to the incngadeémands of smaller, faster and more complexcmrductors. We continue to invest in
research and development activities around ourdatemect technology, including our micro-electroetmenical systems, or MEMS,
technology, as our MicroSpring contacts have scaleize with the evolution of semiconductors.

Our MicroSpring contacts include geometrically fgedip structures. These tip structures are thts pd our wafer probe cards that
come into contact with the devices being tested,aap manufactured using proprietary micro-maclgirsiemiconductor-like processes. These
tip structures enable precise contact with smalldopad sizes and pitches. Our technology allowsh®idesign of specific geometries of the
contact tip that deliver precise and predictabéeteical contact for a customer’s particular apadiion.

Our wafer probe cards are custom products thadesigned to order for our customers’ unique waésighs. For high parallelism test
applications, our products require large area abtaay sizes because they must accommodate 8y@Q simultaneous contacts. This
requirement poses fundamental challenges thatdediue planarity of the array, the force needandake contact and the need to touch all
bond pads with equal accuracy. As of the dateisfRbrm 10-K, we have developed wafer probe cdrdsuse array sizes ranging from 50
mm x 50 mm up to greater than 200 mm x 200 mmeomhination with complex multiayer printed circuit boards that we have desigiadt.
current dynamic random access memory, or DRAM,axdirtg technology allows our products to contactaip88 DRAM chips in parallel.
Our current flash contacting technology allows wafer probe cards to contact up to 796 flash cimgmarallel.

We have invested and intend to continue to invessiclerable resources in our wafer probe card desis and processes. These tools
and processes enable automated routing and tnagth ladjustment within our printed circuit boardegl @reatly enhance our ability to rapidly
design and lay out complex printed circuit boardaures. Our proprietary design tools also enabl® design wafer probe cards particuli
suited for testing today’s low voltage, high powhips. Low voltage, high frequency chips requirpesior power supply performance. Our
MicroSpring interconnect technology is used to jewa very low inductance, low resistance electpedh between the power source and the
chip under test.

In 2005, we announced our new, proprietary “Harmi@mghitecture for wafer probe cards. Our Harmorghaecture addresses some of
the significant challenges presented by the futi@m@ands of single touchdown wafer probing and Wégk parallelism wafer test, and will be
a key building block for our future generationdarfje area array Flash, DRAM, Wafer Level Burn4id &ligh Frequency probing solutions.

Because our customers typically use our wafer poalds in a wide range of operating temperatusespposed to conducting wafer
probe test at one predetermined temperature, we designed complex thermal compensation charatitsrigto our products. We select our
wafer probe card materials after careful considematf the potential range of test operating terapees and design our wafer probe cards to
provide for a precise match with the thermal expamsharacteristics of the wafer under test. Assault, our wafer probe cards generally are
able to accurately probe over a large range ofatijmer




temperatures. This feature enables our customersetohe same wafer probe card for both low anld temperature testing without a loss of
performance. In addition, for those testing situadithat require positional accuracy at a spetgfitperature, we have designed wafer probe
cards optimized for testing at such temperatures.

Our many spring shapes, different geometricallycjgeetip structures, various array sizes and dévpraited circuit board layouts enable
a wide variety of solutions for our customers. @esigners select the most appropriate of theseeslesnor modify or improve upon such
existing elements, and integrate them with our otdehnologies to deliver a custom solution optedifor the customer’s requirements.

Customers

Our customers include manufacturers in the DRAMKHl and logic markets. The Company’s customergsiseafer probe cards to test
DRAM chips including DDR, DDR II, Rambus DRAM, oilRAM, Synchronous DRAM, or SDRAM, and enhanced DRAMEDRAM,
static RAM chips, NOR and NAND flash memory chipsrial data devices, chipsets, microprocessorsracracontrollers.

Four customers accounted for 72.8%, 64.8% and 66f28ar revenues in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003 eetively. The following
customers accounted for more than 10% of our reasfar fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal

2005 2004 2003
Intel Corporation 11.8% 14.5% 30.1%
Spirox Corporatior 23.C% 20.0% 13.4%
Elpida 22.7% 18.7% 12.4%
Infineon Technologie * 11.6% 10.3%
Samsun( 15.3% * *

* Less than 10% of revenues.
Except as identified above, no customer accourtethbre than 10% of our revenues during any ofdkethree fiscal years.

Backlog

Our backlog increased to $46.6 million at Decen8igr2005 from $32.9 million at December 25, 2004 Wanufacture our wafer pro
cards based on order backlog and customer commisiigacklog includes only orders for which writieumthorizations have been accepted,
shipment dates within 12 months have been assignédevenue has not been recognized. In additawkldg includes service revenue for
existing product service agreements to be earntidnathe next 12 months.

Manufacturing

Our wafer probe cards are custom products thateseyd to order for our customersiique wafer designs. We manufacture our proc
at our new facility located in Livermore, Califoaqiwith some manufacturing functions continuinguat old facility, which is also located in
Livermore. We anticipate completing the transitiorour new manufacturing facility in the first half 2006.

Our proprietary manufacturing processes includelanding, photolithography, plating and metalluagjigrocesses, dry and electro-
deposition, and complex interconnection systemgmedihe critical steps in our manufacturing procesperformed in a Class 100 clean
room environment. We also expend resources onstemably and test of our wafer probe cards and atitgeontrol.




We depend upon suppliers for some critical comptsnehour manufacturing processes, including cecasubstrates and complex
printed circuit boards, and for materials usedunmanufacturing processes. Some of these compoaadtmaterials are supplied by a single
vendor. Generally, we rely on purchase orders rattan long-term contracts with our suppliers, viahétibjects us to risks including price
increases and component shortages. We continuaboage alternative sources of supply for thesepmments and for materials.

We maintain a repair and service capability in kimere, California. We provide service and repapatalities in our service center in
Seoul, South Korea. We also have a repair andcgecdnter in Dresden, Germany, Tokyo, Japan arel @ity Hsinchu, Taiwan.

Research, Development and Engineering

The semiconductor industry is subject to rapid tedbgical change and new product introductionsemthncements. We believe that
our continued commitment to research and developraed our timely introduction of new and enhanagder probe test solutions and other
technologies related to our MicroSpring intercoriiechnology are integral to maintaining our contpet position. We have and are
continuing to invest considerable time and resainc&reating structured processes for undertaktiagking and completing our developm
projects, and plan to implement those developmiatdsnew product or technology offerings. We exgeatontinue to allocate significant
resources to these efforts and to use automatidinérmation technology to provide additional eféincies in our research and development
activities.

We have historically devoted on average approxilydt#% to 16% of our revenues to research and dpwetnt programs. Research
and development expenses, excluding stock-basedearsation, were $27.6 million for fiscal 2005, ®l@illion for fiscal 2004 and $15.6
million for fiscal 2003.

Our research and development, including our prodangtneering activities, are directed by individuaith significant expertise and
industry experience. As of December 31, 2005, wk1i® employees in research and development.

Sales and Marketing

We sell our products utilizing a proprietary satesdel that emphasizes the customer’s total costwoership as it relates to the costs of
test. With this sales model, we strive to demomstnaw test costs can be reduced by simulatingiktomer’s test floor environment,
including testers and probers, utilizing our praduand comparing the overall cost of test to thaboventional wafer probe cards.

We sell our products worldwide primarily throughr alirect sales force, a distributor and independaigs representatives. As of
December 31, 2005, we had 15 sales professiomalioith America, South Korea and Japan we selpooducts through our direct sales
force. In Europe, our local sales team works wittependent sales representatives. In China, Malaghilippines and Singapore, we sell
through Spirox Corporation, our regional distribut/e also have the ability to sell our productedi to customers in these regions. In
October 2005, we terminated our agreement withagdor the distribution of our products in Taiwamdshave transitioned to a direct sales
model in Taiwan.

Our marketing staff, located in Livermore, Calif@nTaiwan and Tokyo, Japan, works closely withteorers to understand their
businesses, anticipate trends and define produatsill provide significant technical and econoraitvantages to our customers.

We utilize a highly skilled team of field applicati engineers that support our customers as thegratie our products into their
manufacturing processes. Through these custorraiam$hips, we develop a close understanding dbmesr and product requirements,
thereby accelerating our customers’ production mp




Environmental Matters

We are subject to U.S. federal, state and local fareign governmental laws and regulations regatmthe protection of the
environment, including those governing the discbharfjpollutants into the air and water, the manag@rand disposal of hazardous
substances and wastes, the clean-up of contamisis¢ésdand the maintenance of a safe workplacebé&lieve that we comply with all
material environmental laws and regulations thatyaf us. In late 2003 and 2004, we received ayregate of six notices of violation from
the California Department of Toxic Substances Ganthe Bay Area Air Quality Management DistridtetCity of Livermore Water
Resources Division and the California Division afdDpational Safety and Health at various timesndigg violations of certain
environmental regulations. In fiscal 2005, we reeditwo notices of violation from the City of Livaore regarding violation of certain
applicable discharge limits. For each notice resgiiwe promptly took appropriate steps to addriésd the violations noted, believe that all
such violations were addressed, paid the applidaigs ranging from $150 to $7,750 and confirmechstorrective steps. Notwithstanding
our corrective actions, certain of the noticesiofation remain unresolved and we may be subjepetmlties based thereupon.

While we believe that we are in compliance withnadlterial environmental laws and regulations tipaiyato us, in the future, we may
receive additional environmental violation noticasd if received, final resolution of the violat®identified by these notices could harm our
operating results. New laws and regulations, strienforcement of existing laws and regulations,discovery of previously unknown
contamination at our or othersites or the imposition of new cleanup requirementdd adversely impact our operations, which wdadste ¢
negative effect on our operating results and clastst

Competition

The highly competitive wafer probe card marketamprised of many domestic and foreign companies has historically been
fragmented with many local suppliers servicing widlial customers. Our current and potential conbqestin the wafer probe card market
include AMST Co., Ltd., Cascade Microtech, Inc.infReetall GmbH, Japan Electronic Materials CorpamatiSV Probe, Inc., Micronics Jag
Co., Ltd., Phicom Corporation, Tokyo Cathode LabamaCo., Ltd. and Tokyo Electron Ltd., among othdn addition to the ability to
address wafer probe card performance issues, itinangyrcompetitive factors in the industry in whisle compete include product quality and
reliability, price, total cost of ownership, leachés, the ability to provide prompt and effectivestomer service, field applications support
timeliness of delivery.

Some of our competitors are also suppliers of alypees of test equipment or other semiconductoipagent, or offer both advanced
wafer probe cards and needle probe cards, and enegydreater financial and other resources thanov®\ié expect that our competitors will
enhance their current wafer probe products andtiegtmay introduce new products that will be cotitipe with our wafer probe cards. In
addition, it is possible that new competitors, urthg test equipment manufacturers, may offer resliniologies that reduce the value of our
wafer probe cards.

Additionally, semiconductor manufacturers may inmpdst chip designs that include built-in self-tegpabilities or similar functions or
methodologies that increase test throughput andreite some or all of our current competitive adagas. Our ability to compete favorably
is also adversely affected by (1) low volume ordbet do not meet our present minimum volume reguoénts, (2) very short cycle time
requirements which may be difficult for us to m€8),long-standing relationships between our cortgrstand certain semiconductor
manufacturers, and (4) semiconductor manufactestrstrategies that include low performance sendigcior testers.




Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part upon our ability tontaii and protect our proprietary technology andaieduct our business without
infringing the proprietary rights of others. Weyrein a combination of patents, trade secret lanademarks and contractual restrictions on
disclosure to protect our intellectual propertyhtig

As of December 31, 2005, we had 326 issued pateimghich 176 are United States patents and 156oaeggn patents. The expiration
dates of these patents range from 2013 to 2024is9ued patents cover many of the features ofriardonnect technology, as well as some
of our inventions related to wafer probe cards tasting, wafer-level packaging and test, socketsamsemblies and chips. In addition, as of
December 31, 2005, we had 406 patent applicatiendipg worldwide, including 125 United States aggtiions, 260 foreign national or
regional stage applications and 21 Patent Coopardtieaty applications. We cannot provide any asste that our current patent
applications, or any future patent applicationg tia may file, will result in a patent being issugith the scope of the claims we seek, or at
all, or whether any patents that we may obtain moli be challenged or invalidated. Even if addiilopatents are issued, our patents might not
provide sufficiently broad coverage to protect proprietary rights or to avoid a third party cla@gainst one or more of our products or
technologies.

We have both registered and unregistered trademadtading FormFactor, MicroSpring, MicroForce, dvbLign, TRE, HARMONY
and the FormFactor logo.

We routinely require our employees, customers, kengpand potential business partners to enterdatdidentiality and non-disclosure
agreements before we disclose to them any sensitipeoprietary information regarding our produ¢éshnology or business plans. We
require employees to assign to us proprietary médion, inventions and other intellectual propéhtgy create, modify or improve.

Legal protections afford only limited protectior faur proprietary rights. We also may not be susftésn our efforts to enforce our
proprietary rights. Notwithstanding our effortspimtect our proprietary rights, unauthorized partigay attempt to copy aspects of our
products or to obtain and use information that @gard as proprietary. From time to time, we hawb® aware of situations where others
are or may be infringing on our proprietary right¢e evaluate these situations as they arise aotlteléake actions against these companies
as we deem appropriate. Others might independdatiglop similar or competing technologies or methoddesign around our patents, or
attempt to manufacture and sell infringing produetsountries that do not strongly enforce intdllet property rights or hold invalid our
intellectual property rights. In addition, leadiogmpanies in the semiconductor industry have ektenmtent portfolios and other intellectual
property with respect to semiconductor technoldgyhe future, we might receive claims that weiafenging intellectual property rights of
others or that our patents or other intellectuapprty rights are invalid. We have received inghst, and may receive in the future,
communications from third parties inquiring about mterest in licensing certain of their intelleat property or more generally identifying
intellectual property that may be of interest to us

We have invested significant time and resourcesiirtechnology, and as a part of our ongoing efftotprotect the intellectual property
embodied in our proprietary technologies, including MicroSpring interconnect technology and degigotesses, we may be required to
enforce our intellectual property rights againgtimging third parties.

For a description of the material intellectual prdpg-related disputes in which we are involved, ‘$&xn 3: Legal Proceedings”.

Employees

As of December 31, 2005, we had 653 regulartfie employees, including 119 in research and dgweént, 74 in sales and marketi
54 in general and administrative functions, and ih0@perations.




By region, 609 of our employees were in North Aro@ri21 in Japan, 10 in South Korea, 9 in TaiwandimdEurope. No employees are
currently covered by a collective bargaining agreetin\We believe that our relations with our empés/are good.

Available Information

We maintain a website at http://www.formfactor.cafe make available free of charge on our websiteaonual report on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current report$-orm 8-K and amendments to those reports filediari$hed pursuant to Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Exchange Act, as soon as reasonahbtipable after we electronically file such matewdh, or furnish it to, the SEC. The
reference to our website does not constitute iraratpon by reference of the information containetha site.

The public may also read and copy any materiaksviiedfile with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Refeee®oom at 100 F Street N.E.,
Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain infation on the operation of the Public ReferencerRby calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-
0330. The SEC also maintains an Internet websitedbntains reports and other information regaréisgers, such as FormFactor, that file
electronically with the SEC. The SEC'’s Internet gitbis located at http://www.sec.gov.

Executive Officers

The names of our executive officers, their agesf@ecember 31, 2005 and their positions with mmpany are set forth below.

Name Age Position

Dr. Igor Y. Khandros 51  Chief Executive Officer and Direct

Joseph R. Bronson 57 President, Member of the Office of the Chief ExeauOfficer
and Directol

Ronald C. Foste 55 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

Stuart L. Merkadea 44 Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segr

Dr. Igor Y. Khandrogounded FormFactor in April 1993. Dr. Khandros bBasved as our Chief Executive Officer as well &iractor
since that time. Dr. Khandros also served as oesiéent from April 1993 to November 2004. From 1892992, Dr. Khandros served as the
Vice President of Development of Tessera, Incroaider of chip scale packaging technology thattrdounded. From 1986 to 1990, he was
employed at the Yorktown Research Center of IBMg@cation as a member of the technical staff ancdiaager. From 1979 to 1985, Dr.
Khandros was employed at ABEX Corporation, a cgsiinindry and composite parts producer, as a relseaetallurgist and a manager, and
he was an engineer from 1977 to 1978 at the InstdtiCasting Research in Kiev, Russia. Dr. Khasdrmads a M.S. equivalent degree in
metallurgical engineering from Kiev Polytechnictige in Kiev, Russia, and a Ph.D. in metallurgyni Stevens Institute of Technology.

Joseph R. Bronsdmas served as a Director since April 2002. Mr. Bmonhas served as our President and a member Offibe of the
Chief Executive Officer since November 2004. MroBson was an Executive Vice President of Applieddvals, Inc., a manufacturer of
semiconductor wafer fabrication equipment, from &aber 2000 to October 2004, and a member of thieeddf the President and the Chief
Financial Officer of Applied Materials from Janudar998 to October 2004. Mr. Bronson served as aob&fice President and as the Chief
Administrative Officer of Applied Materials from daary 1998 to December 2000 and as Group Vice damsof Applied Materials from
April 1994 to January 1998. Mr. Bronson servestenBoard of Directors of two publicly traded comigsn Jacobs Engineering Group Inc.
and Advanced Energy Industries, Inc. Mr. Bronsoa @ertified Public Accountant and holds a B.Sadnounting from Fairfield University
and a M.B.A. from the University of Connecticut.




Ronald C. Fostehas served as our Chief Financial Officer sincedd&@005. Mr. Foster previously served as Chief ikaed Officer of
JDS Uniphase, a manufacturer of products for fiptic communications, from February 2003 to Mar6B2 Prior to joining JDS Uniphas
Mr. Foster was the Chief Financial Officer of Ndyel provider of network operating systems, frol@2@ February 2003. Mr. Foster served
as Vice President of Finance and Operations, CatpdZontroller at Novell Corporation from 1998 @02. Prior to Novell, Mr. Foster
served as Vice President, Operations ControlleAfiplied Materials, and also spent more than teary various financial roles at Hewlett
Packard Corporation. Mr. Foster received an M.Brém the University of Chicago and a B.A. in econcsrfrom Whitman College.

Stuart L. Merkadeatbas served as one of our Senior Vice Presidents §hctober 2003 and as our General Counsel anét8acsince
October 2002. Mr. Merkadeau previously served @&sajrour Vice Presidents from October 2002 to Saper 2003, and as our Vice
President of Intellectual Property from July 200@ictober 2002. From 1990 to July 2000, Mr. Merkadpracticed law as an associate and
then a partner with Graham & James LLP, where keiafized in licensing and strategic counselingntellectual property matters. Mr.
Merkadeau is admitted to practice in California asgistered to practice before the U.S. Patenflamdemark Office. Mr. Merkadeau holds a
B.S. in industrial engineering from Northwesternigmsity and a J.D. from the University of Califarat Los Angeles.

ltem 1A: Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the following riskctars, as well as the other information in this AahReport on Form 10-K, in
evaluating FormFactor and our business. If anyeffollowing risks actually occur, our busineseaficial condition and results of operations
would suffer. Accordingly, the trading price of csommon stock would likely decline and you may lafleor part of your investment in our
common stock. The risks and uncertainties desctiieéalv are not the only ones we face. Additionsitsithat we currently do not know ab
or that we currently believe to be immaterial mipampair our business operations.

Our operating results are likely to fluctuate, whiccould cause us to miss expectations about theseilts and cause the trading price of
our common stock to decline.

Our operating results are likely to fluctuate. A®ault, we believe you should not rely on periogperiod comparisons of our financial
results as indicators of our future performancen&of the important factors that could cause ouemaes and operating results to fluctuate
from period-to-period include:

« customer demand for our products;

< our ability to deliver reliable, cost-effective phacts in a timely manner;

 the reduction, rescheduling or cancellation of msd® our customers;

 the timing and success of new product introductemd new technologies by our competitors and us;
» our product and customer sales mix and geograpsétas mix;

« changes in the level of our operating expensesatedsupport our anticipated growth;

« areduction in the price or the profitability ofrquroducts;

» changes in our production capacity or the availghilr the cost of components and materials;

* our ability to bring new products into volume preatian efficiently;

« our ability to add manufacturing capacity and &bgize production yields and ramp production volym
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« our ability to efficiently expand the capacity afrmmew manufacturing facility;

« any disruption in the operation of our manufactgfiacility;

« our relationships with customers and companiesrttatufacture semiconductor test equipment,
 the timing of and return on our investments in aeske and development;

< our ability to collect accounts receivable;

» seasonality, principally due to our customers’ pasing cycles; and

* market conditions in our industry, the semiconduitdustry and the economy as a whole.

The occurrence of one or more of these factors huighse our operating results to vary widely. If mvenues or operating results fall
below the expectations of market analysts or iroresthe market price of our common stock couldidesubstantially.

Cyclicality in the semiconductor industry historitig has affected our sales and might do so in theture, and as a result we could
experience reduced revenues or operating results.

The semiconductor industry has historically beetlicgl and is characterized by wide fluctuationginduct supply and demand. From
time to time, this industry has experienced sigatiiit downturns, often in connection with, or inieipaition of, maturing product and
technology cycles, excess inventories and decimgseneral economic conditions. This cyclicalityubcause our operating results to decline
dramatically from one period to the next. For exlmpur revenues in the three months ended Septe28b2001 declined by 25.5%
compared to our revenues in the three months ehateel 30, 2001, and our revenues in the three mentted March 29, 2003 declined by
15.7% compared to our revenues in the three mamtied December 28, 2002. Our business dependsyhepwn the development of new
semiconductors and semiconductor designs, the whfrproduction by semiconductor manufacturersthemverall financial strength of o
customers, which, in turn, depend upon the cumadtanticipated market demand for semiconductatgansducts, such as personal
computers, cell phones and personal electroniccdsythat use semiconductors. Semiconductor manuéas generally sharply curtail their
spending during industry downturns and historichtye lowered their spending disproportionatelyertban the decline in their revenues.
a result, if we are unable to adjust our levelmahufacturing and human resources or manage otg aog deliveries from suppliers in
response to lower spending by semiconductor mahufas, our gross margin might decline and caude agperience operating losses.

If we are unable to manufacture our products effetly, our operating results could suffe

We must continuously modify our manufacturing psszs in an effort to improve yields and producfgrerance, lower our costs and
reduce the time it takes for us to design and netufe our products. We also may be subject totswbat negatively affect our
manufacturing processes and impact our business@erating results. For example, during our fisgerter ended December 25, 2004, we
experienced a contamination problem in our manufagj line. This contamination problem caused #dyikcline that, in turn, resulted in «
inability to timely ship products to our customéfge have incurred substantial costs, and may iadditional costs as we increase capacity
and yields at our new manufacturing facility, whaduld negatively impact our gross margin. Siméli@rt up costs and negative impact may
occur if we modify our manufacturing processesplement new manufacturing technologies, methodspancesses and purchase new
equipment. We could experience manufacturing dedagsinefficiencies as we pursue increased capanityyields at our new manufacturing
facility, and when we refine new manufacturing tealogies, methods and processes, implement themmlime production and qualify them
with customers, which could cause our operatingltes$o decline. The risk of encountering delayslifficulties increases as we manufacture
more complex products. In addition, if
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demand for our products continues to increase, iN@eed to further expand our operations to maciufige sufficient quantities of products
without increasing our production times or our wusts. As a result of such expansion, we couleefaired to purchase new equipment,
upgrade existing equipment, develop and implement manufacturing processes and hire additionahieahpersonnel. Further, new or
expanded manufacturing facilities could be subjecfualification by our customers. We have expa@ehand may continue to experience
certain difficulties in expanding our operationstanufacture our products in volume on time aracaeptable cost. For example, despite
recently bringing on line our new manufacturingiliag we are experiencing difficulties in fulfiltig all of our customers’ orders in a timely
fashion. This increases our vulnerability to oumpetitors and increases the likelihood that outarasrs will seek solutions from other
suppliers or to develop solutions themselves. Astioued difficulties in expanding our manufactgrioperations could cause additional
product delivery delays and lost sales. If demamabir products decreases, we could have excessfatauring capacity. The fixed costs
associated with excess manufacturing capacity ccalde our operating results to decline. If weus@ble to achieve further manufacturing
efficiencies and cost reductions, particularly & are experiencing pricing pressures in the maldetp our operating results could suffer.

If we do not innovate and keep pace with technotmjidevelopments in the semiconductor industry, guoducts might not be competitiv
and our revenues and operating results could suffer

We must continue to innovate and to invest in nedeand development to improve our competitive fimsiand to meet the needs of our
customers. Our future growth depends, in signifigemt, upon our ability to work effectively wittnd anticipate the testing needs of our
customers, and on our ability to develop and suppew products and product enhancements to mese theeds on a timely and cost-
effective basis. Our customers’ testing needs aceming more challenging as the semiconductor tnglgentinues to experience rapid
technological change driven by the demand for cempircuits that are shrinking in size and at the time are increasing in speed and
functionality and becoming less expensive to predixamples of recent trends driving demand fdmetogical research and development
include semiconductor manufacturersinsitions to 110 nanometer, 100 nanometer, 99mater, 80 nanometer and 70 nanometer techn
nodes, to 512 megabit density devices, and to [2oDbta Rate Il, or DDR I, architecture devices.fBgther example, the anticipated
transition to Double Data Rate IIl, or DDR lIl, &itecture devices will be a technological changelie semiconductor industry. Our
customers expect that they will be able to integoatr wafer probe cards into any manufacturing gge@s soon as it is deployed. Therefore,
to meet these expectations and remain competitiganust continually design, develop and introdut@ dimely basis new products and
product enhancements with improved features. Ssfidgzroduct design, development and introductioradimely basis require that we:

« design innovative and performance-enhancing proaiuttitectures, technologies and features thagmifitiate our products from
those of our competitors;

« transition our products to new manufacturing tedbgies;

« identify emerging technological trends in our tangarkets;

« maintain effective marketing strategies;

< respond effectively to technological changes odpobd announcements by others; and
« adjust to changing market conditions quickly ansteffectively.

We must devote significant research and developnesioiurces to keep up with the rapidly evolvindhtextogies used in semiconductor
manufacturing processes. Not only do we need tfenteal expertise to implement the changes necgss&eep our technologies current,
we must also rely heavily on the judgment of ounagement to anticipate future market trends. Iweunable to timely predict
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industry changes, or if we are unable to modify pnaducts on a timely basis, we might lose custsmemarket share. In addition, we might
not be able to recover our research and developexgenditures, which could harm our operating tssul

If semiconductor memory device manufacturers detaydiscontinue the conversion to 300 mm wafers, @uowth could be impede

The growth of our business for the foreseeableréutiepends in large part upon sales of our wafavgcards to manufacturers of
dynamic random access memory, or DRAM, and flasmamg devices. The previous downturn in the semicotat industry caused various
chip manufacturers to readdress their respectiagesfies for converting existing 200 mm wafer fahtion facilities to 300 mm wafer
fabrication, or for building new 300 mm wafer fataiion facilities. Some manufacturers have delagadcelled or postponed previously
announced plans to convert to 300 mm wafer falidoaiVe believe that the decision to convert t®@ m wafer fabrication facility, or to
ramp a 300mm facility, is made by each manufactoased upon both internal and external factord) asc

« current and projected chip prices;

» projected price erosion for the manufacturer’sipaldr chips;

« supply and demand issues;

« overall manufacturing capability within the manutaer’s target market(s);
 the availability of funds to the manufacturer;

 the technology roadmap of the manufacturer; and

 the price and availability of equipment needed imithe 300 mm facility.

One or more of these internal and external facawsyell as other factors, including factors thatamufacturer may choose to not
publicly disclose, can impact the decision to maima 300 mm conversion schedule, to delay theasion schedule for a period of time, to
delay the actual full scale production of chipa &00 mm facility, or to cancel the conversion tdwoilding of a 300 mm facility. It is also
possible that the conversion to 300 mm wafersaatiur on different schedules for DRAM chip manuiiaets and flash memory chip
manufacturers. We have invested significant ressure develop technology that addresses the mak&800 mm wafers. If manufacturers
memory devices delay or discontinue their curré@@ ;im wafer conversion, or make the transition nstwe/ly than we currently expect, our
growth and profitability could be impeded. In adatit any delay in large-scale adoption of manufactubased upon 300 mm wafers would
provide time for other companies to develop andkeigoroducts that compete with ours, which couldrhaur competitive position.

We depend upon the sale of our wafer probe cardssigbstantially all of our revenues, and a downtuin demand for our products could
have a more disproportionate impact on our reventlean if we derived revenues from a more diversifigroduct offering.

Historically, we have derived substantially alloafr revenues from the sale of our wafer probe cAiisanticipate that sales of our we
probe cards will represent a substantial majorityur revenues for the foreseeable future. Ourrtassi depends in large part upon continued
demand in current markets for, and adoption in mewkets of, current and future generations of cafiewprobe cards. Large-scale market
adoption depends upon our ability to increase costawareness of the benefits of our wafer probgscand to prove their reliability, ability
to increase yields and cost effectiveness. We neayniable to sell our wafer probe cards to certatengtial customers unless those customers
change their device test strategies, change thedgrnprobe card and capital equipment buying gifese or change or upgrade their existing
test equipment. We might not be able to sustainaease our revenues from sales
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of our wafer probe cards, particularly if conditioin the semiconductor market deteriorate or ddmptove or if the market enters into
another downturn in the future. Any decrease ireneres from sales of our wafer probe cards couleh loarr business more than it would if
offered a more diversified line of products.

If demand for our products in the memory device afiigh chip logic device markets declines or fails §row as we anticipate, our revenu
could decline.

We derive substantially all of our revenues fronfevg@robe cards that we sell to manufacturers oABIRnemory and flash memory
devices and manufacturers of microprocessor, chgwother logic devices. In the microprocessoipset and other logic device markets,
our products are primarily used for devices empig¥lip chip packaging, which are commonly referteds flip chip logic devices. In fiscal
2005 and fiscal 2004, sales to manufacturers of MR&vices accounted for 76.9% and 69.0%, respdgtigéour revenues, sales to
manufacturers of logic devices accounted for 9. b & 1%, respectively, of our revenues, and salesanufacturers of flash memory
devices accounted for 13.3% and 21.9%, respectieélyur revenues. Therefore, our success depenuksrf upon the continued acceptance
of our products within these markets and our abittcontinue to develop and introduce new prodanta timely basis for these markets. In
particular, to continue to grow our business, wed® further penetrate the flash memory markettarghin additional market share with
manufacturers in this market. To the extent thaavesunable to do so, our ability to grow couldeuf

A substantial portion of these semiconductor devisesold to manufacturers of personal computedscamputer-related products and to
manufacturers of personal electronic devices. Bothpersonal computer market and the personareféctdevices market have historically
been characterized by significant fluctuationsemdnd and continuous efforts to reduce costs, whitlrn have affected the demand for .
price of memory devices and microprocessors. Thgopal computer market and the personal electaiices market might not grow in the
future at historical rates or at all and desigtivigtin those markets might decrease, which cowddatively affect our revenues and operating
results.

The markets in which we participate are competitiaad if we do not compete effectively, our opengtresults could be harmed.

The wafer probe card market is highly competithiéth the introduction of new technologies and marrants, we expect competiti
to intensify in the future. In the past, increasethpetition has resulted in price reductions, redugross margins or loss of market share, and
could do so in the future. Competitors might introed new competitive products for the same marketisdur products currently serve. These
products may have better performance, lower pacesbroader acceptance than our products. In addftr products such as wafer probe
cards, semiconductor manufacturers typically quatibre than one source, to avoid dependence argiesiource of supply. As a result, our
customers will likely purchase products from oumgeetitors. Current and potential competitors inelddMST Co., Ltd., Cascade
Microtech, Inc., Feinmetall GmbH, Japan Electrdvimterials Corporation, SV Probe Inc., Micronicsaao., Ltd., Phicom Corporation,
Tokyo Cathode Laboratory Co., Ltd. and Tokyo Electi_td., among others. Many of our current andptial competitors have greater ne
recognition, larger customer bases, more estaldisbhstomer relationships or greater financial, iécdd, manufacturing, marketing and other
resources than we do. As a result, they might betalrespond more quickly to new or emerging tetbgies and changes in customer
requirements, devote greater resources to the gf@welnt, promotion, sale and support of their prtgjuand reduce prices to increase market
share. Some of our competitors also supply othmrsyf test equipment, or offer both advanced waf@be cards and needle probe cards.
Those competitors that offer both advanced wafeb@icards and needle probe cards might have steaisging relationships with our
customers or with potential customers. Becauseowsod offer a needle probe card or other conveatitechnology wafer probe card for less
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advanced applications, it may be difficult for odritroduce our advanced wafer probe cards to tbes®mers and potential customers for
certain wafer test applications. It is possibld #dsting or new competitors, including test equgmt manufacturers, may offer new
technologies that reduce the value of our wafeb@mards.

We derive a substantial portion of our revenuestita small number of customers, and our revenues|dodecline significantly if any
major customer cancels, reduces or delays a purehakour products.

A relatively small number of customers has accalifite a significant portion of our revenues in garticular period. In fiscal 2005 and
fiscal 2004, four customers accounted for 72.8%6h8%, respectively, of our revenues. Our tendsirgustomers accounted for 95.3% of
our revenues in fiscal 2005 and 98.0% of our reesrin fiscal 2004. We anticipate that sales ofgyaducts to a relatively small number of
customers will continue to account for a significpartion of our revenues. The cancellation or dafeof even a small number of purchases
of our products could cause our revenues to detliaay particular quarter. A number of factorsldozause customers to cancel or defer
orders, including manufacturing delays, interrupsi¢o our customers’ operations due to fire, natlisasters or other events or a downturn in
the semiconductor industry. Our agreements withcastomers do not contain minimum purchase commmtsp@nd our customers could
cease purchasing our products with short or na@adt us or fail to pay all or part of an invoit®some situations, our customers might be
able to cancel orders without a significant pendhyaddition, consolidation in the semiconductuaduistry, particularly among manufacturers
of DRAM, could reduce our customer base and leddsioor delayed sales and reduced demand for aterywrobe cards. Industry
consolidation also could result in pricing pressuas larger DRAM manufacturers could have sufficiErgaining power to demand reduced
prices and favorable nonstandard terms. Additignakrtain customers may not want to rely entimlgubstantially on a single wafer probe
card supplier and, as a result, such customersi cedlice their purchases of our wafer probe cards.

If our relationships with our customers and compags that manufacture semiconductor test equipmentederate, our product
development activities could be harmed.

The success of our product development efforts mpapon our ability to anticipate market trendd smcollaborate closely with our
customers and with companies that manufacture semicctor test equipment. Our relationships wittséheustomers and companies provide
us with access to valuable information regardinguf@acturing and process technology trends in thd@@nductor industry, which enables us
to better plan our product development activitidsese relationships also provide us with opportesito understand the performance and
functionality requirements of our customers, whitiprove our ability to customize our products ttifitheir needs. Our relationships with
test equipment companies are important to us bedass equipment companies can design our wafbeprards into their equipment and
provide us with the insight into their product @ahat allows us to offer wafer probe cards forwih their products when they are
introduced to the market. Our relationships with customers and test equipment companies couldiaiete if they:

« become concerned about our ability to protect timdllectual property;

* become concerned with our ability to deliver gyatitoducts on a timely basis;
» develop their own solutions to address the neetekiing improvement;

« implement chip designs that include enhanced Iugelf-test capabilities;

* regard us as a competitor;

« introduce their own wafer probe card product;

15




» establish relationships with others in our industry
« attempt to restrict our ability to enter into rédaships with their competitors.

Many of our customers and the test equipment corepave work with are large companies. The conserpseaf a deterioration in our
relationship with any of these companies couldxaeerbated due to the significant influence thesepanies can exert in our markets. If our
current relationships with our customers and tgat@ment companies deteriorate, or if we are untbbievelop similar collaborative
relationships with important customers and tesimgant companies in the future, our long-term abtld produce commercially successful
products could be impaired.

Because we generally do not have a sufficient bagkof unfilled orders to meet our quarterly revent@rgets, revenues in any quarter a
substantially dependent upon customer orders reediand fulfilled in that quarter.

Our revenues are difficult to forecast because @reetplly do not have a sufficient backlog of uefillorders to meet our quarterly
revenue targets at the beginning of a quarter.dRashsubstantial percentage of our revenues imaasgter depends upon customer orders for
our wafer probe cards that we receive and fulfiltiat quarter. Because our expense levels arel iragart on our expectations as to future
revenues and to a large extent are fixed in thet $bion, we might be unable to adjust spendingnire tto compensate for any unexpected
shortfall in revenues. Accordingly, any significatortfall of revenues in relation to our expectasi could hurt our operating results.

We presently rely upon a distributor for a portiasf our revenues, and any disruption or other chanipeour relationship with our
distributor could have a negative impact on our Enues.

Spirox Corporation, our distributor in Singapor&jlippines, Malaysia and China, and our distributofaiwan through October 17,
2005, provides a portion of our revenues. Sal&pioox in fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004 accounted28:0% and 20.0%, respectively, of our
revenues. Spirox also provides customer suppog.rétiuction in the sales or service efforts orrfaial viability of our distributor, or
deterioration in, or termination of, any part of eelationship with our distributor could harm aerwenues, our operating results and our
ability to support our customers in the distribigderritory. In addition, if we are required taaislish alternative sales channels in the region
through a different distributor or through an indegent sales representative, or if we make thesidacio sell direct into the region as we, for
example, have undertaken in Taiwan, it could coresgabstantial time and resources, decrease ouruegend increase our expenses.

If our relationship with our independent sales reggentative changes, our business could be harn

We currently rely on one independent sales reptaiea to assist us in the sale of our productsairis of Europe. If we make the
business decision to terminate or modify our ref&hip with our independent sales representativatbrany future independent sales
representative, or if an independent sales reptatbem decides to disengage from us, and we deffettively and efficiently manage such a
change, we could lose sales from existing custornedsfail to obtain new customers.

We have transitioned to a direct sales model inwan and certain regions in Europe. If we are unabie successfully transition to the
direct sales model, we could lose customers ortfaibbtain new customers and consequently, negdyiu@pact sales of our products in
these regions.

Until October 17, 2005, we relied upon Spirox Caogtion to sell our products in Taiwan. We have thisales personnel in Taiwan and
will now rely upon our direct sales force to genersales in this market. Sales to Spirox in Taiveeyell as the other jurisdictions in whic
operated, constituted 23.0% of our revenues ilfid005 and 20.0% in fiscal 2004. While Spirox aaus to serve as our distributor in
Singapore, Philippines, Malaysia and China, a fiiganit percentage of their sales on our behalf in
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recent years occurred in Taiwan. As a result oftnsition to a direct sales model in Taiwan, @istributor may reduce their efforts on our
behalf in these other markets and our sales irethegkets may suffer. In 2005 we also concludedeationship with an independent sales
representative in Europe, who was responsibledaam geographic areas. If we are unable to sstdéstransition to the direct sales model
in Taiwan or these European regions or if the itemmstakes longer than we anticipate, we coula logstomers and fail to obtain new
customers in these markets. Any difficulties assult of these transitions could hurt our reputatiod sales in these markets.

If semiconductor manufacturers do not migrate elents of final test to wafer probe test, market actare of other applications of ot
technology could be delayed.

We intend to work with our customers to migrateredats of final test from the device level to thefavdevel. This migration will
involve a change in semiconductor test strateg@s toncentrating final test at the individual devievel to increasing the amount of test at
the wafer level. Semiconductor manufacturers tyjyicake time to qualify new strategies that affdwir testing operations. As a result,
general acceptance of wafer-level final test migdttoccur in the near term or at all. In additisemiconductor manufacturers might not
accept and use wafer-level final test in a way tisats our technology. If the migration of elemaitnal test to wafer probe test does not
grow as we anticipate, or if semiconductor manufi@ss do not adopt our technology for their wafetye test requirements, market
acceptance of other applications for our technologyld be delayed. In addition, if various manufiaets do not elect to invest in wafer test
technology enabling the identification of known datie, or KGD, or if the projected or anticipatedestment in such technology is delayed
or reduced, it could delay the introduction of technologies and negatively impact our business.

Changes in test strategies, equipment and processed cause us to lose revenues.

The demand for wafer probe cards depends in laaigaupon the number of semiconductor designs, tdolgy and architecture
transitions in chip designs, and the overall semdcetor unit volume. The time it takes to test dewdepends upon the number of devices
being tested, the complexity of these devicestdbtsoftware program and the test equipment itAsltest programs become increasingly
effective and test throughput increases, the nurmbeafer probe cards required to test a given mauwf devices declines. Therefore,
advances in the test process could cause us taétse

If semiconductor manufacturers implement chip desidpat include increased built-in self-test calitéds, or similar functions or
methodologies that increase test throughput, itccnagatively impact our sales or the migratiorelgiments of final test to the wafer level.
Additionally, if new chip designs or types of chigae implemented that require less, or even nousésg wafer probe cards, or significantly
reduce wafer test complexity, our revenues couliipacted. Further, if new chip designs are implet@eé which we are unable to test, or
which we are unable to test efficiently and prowide customers with an acceptably low overall @fsest, our revenues could be negatively
impacted.

We incur significant research and development es@&in conjunction with the introduction of new gwot architectures and platforms.
Often, we time our product introductions to the-aduction of new test equipment platforms or thelidation of manufacturers to adopt a
new test platform. Because our customers requitte test equipment and wafer probe cards, any d®laysruption in the introduction of ne
test equipment platforms would negatively affeat gowth.

We manufacture all our products at our facilitiesiLivermore, California, and any disruption in theperations of these facilities could
adversely impact our business and operating results

Our processes for manufacturing our wafer probdscerquire sophisticated and costly equipment aspkaially designed facility,
including a semiconductor clean room. We manufactwr wafer probe
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cards at our new facility located in Livermore, i@ahia, with some manufacturing functions contimgiiat our old facility, which is also
located in Livermore. Any disruption in the opeoatiof either of our facilities, whether due to amination in our manufacturing process,
technical or labor difficulties, destruction or dage from fire or earthquake, infrastructure faifuseich as power or water shortage or any
other reason, could interrupt our manufacturingrati@ns, impair critical systems, disrupt commutigras with our customers and suppliers
and cause us to write off inventory and to losesdh addition, if the previous energy crises @lifGrnia that resulted in disruptions in power
supply and increases in utility costs were to reaur might experience power interruptions and styas, which could disrupt our
manufacturing operations. This could subject usds of revenues as well as significantly highesteof energy. Further, current and
potential customers might not purchase our prodbitiiey perceive our lack of a fully operationéteanate manufacturing facility to be a risk
to their continuing source of supply.

If we do not effectively expand our manufacturingypacity at our new operations and manufacturingesiiour business and operatir
results will be negatively impacted.

We initiated the move into our new campus facility_ivermore in 2004. In the first half of 2006, \waticipate completing the transition
to and ramp of our new manufacturing facility irvéimore. The costs of starting up our new manufagufacility, including capital costs
such as equipment and fixed costs such as rentramgltion costs, including personnel and matexiglenses required for the new site ramp
and qualification, redundancy costs of maintairtimg production sites in parallel, and any close d@four existing manufacturing facilitie
are substantial. Our current transition plan véljuire us to have both our old and new manufagenilities operational through the first
half of fiscal 2006. We may choose to continueaiarinanufacturing operations at our old facilitgrgsafter. This will cause us to incur
significant costs due to redundancy of infrastreett both sites at least for the first half o€é52006 and potentially longer. The transition
might also lead to manufacturing interruptions, ethtould mean delayed deliveries or lost sales.eSanall of our customers could require a
full qualification of our new facility. Any qualifiation process could take longer than we anticipatg difficulties with the transition or with
bringing the new manufacturing facility to full gty and volume production could increase ourg;atisrupt our production process and
cause delays in product delivery and lost saleg;iwivould harm our operating results.

If we are unable to continue to reduce the timdakes for us to design and produce a wafer probedgaur growth could be impede:

Our customers continuously seek to reduce theitita&es them to introduce new products to markee cyclicality of the
semiconductor industry, coupled with changing destsaior semiconductor devices, requires our custsitoebe flexible and highly adaptable
to changes in the volume and mix of products thegtrproduce. Each of those changes requires a esigrdand each new design requires a
new wafer probe card. For some existing semicomdwlgvices, the manufacturers’ volume and mix ofipict requirements are such that we
are unable to design, manufacture and ship prodoctseet such manufacturers’ relatively short cyicie requirements. We, for example,
have lost sales in the past where we were unalrteetd a customes’schedule for wafer probe cards for a particudsigh. If we are unable
reduce the time it takes for us to design, manufacind ship our products in response to the nefealsr customers, our competitive position
could be harmed and we could lose sales.
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We obtain some of the components and materials we in our products from a single or sole sourcealimited group of suppliers, and
the partial or complete loss of one of these supmicould cause production delays and a substaritiak of revenues.

We obtain some of the components and materialsinsaat products, such as printed circuit boaregagsies, plating materials and
ceramic substrates, from a single or sole soureelianited group of suppliers. Alternative sourees not currently available for sole source
components and materials. Because we rely on pseabvalers rather than long-term contracts withnilgority of our suppliers, we cannot
predict with certainty our ability to obtain compants and materials in the longer term. A soleraitéd source supplier could increase prices,
which could lead to a decline in our gross mar@ar dependence upon sole or limited source sugpigposes us to several other risks,
including a potential inability to obtain an adetugaupply of materials, late deliveries and poanponent quality. Disruption or termination
of the supply of components or materials could ylskipments of our products, damage our custontaiorships and reduce our revenues.
For example, if we were unable to obtain an adegsiapply of a component or material, we might tlavese a substitute component or
material, which could require us to make changesuirmanufacturing process. From time to time mphast, we have experienced difficulties
in receiving shipments from one or more of our digpp, especially during periods of high demanddor products. If we cannot obtain an
adequate supply of the components and materiateguére, or do not receive them in a timely manner might be required to identify new
suppliers. We might not be able to identify newsigrs on a timely basis or at all. We, as welbas customers would also need to qualify
any new suppliers. The lead-time required to idgrind qualify new suppliers could affect our ailio timely ship our products and cause
our operating results to suffer. Further, a solknoited source supplier could require us to eirigs non-cancelable purchase commitments or
pay in advance to ensure our source of supplynlim@ustry downturn, or in an environment in whggowth is not at a level we projected or
anticipated, commitments of this type could reBultharges for excess inventory of parts. If wewarable to predict our component and
materials needs accurately, or if our supply isugited, we might miss market opportunities by reihf able to meet the demand for our
products.

Wafer probe cards that do not meet specificatiomghat contain defects could damage our reputatiatecrease market acceptance of our
technology, cause us to lose customers and revenaied result in liability to us.

The complexity and ongoing development of our wafebe card manufacturing process, combined witressses in wafer probe card
production volumes, have in the past and coulthénftiture lead to design or manufacturing problefaos.example, we have experienced the
presence of contaminants in our plating baths, whave caused a decrease in our manufacturingsyeeltiave resulted in unanticipated
stress-related failures when our wafer probe carddeing used in the manufacturing test environrmefurther example is that during our
fiscal quarter ended December 25, 2004, we expezoba contamination problem in our manufacturing.liThis contamination problem
caused a yield decline that, in turn, resultedunipability to timely ship products to our custamieManufacturing design errors such as the
miswiring of a wafer probe card or the incorre@gament of probe contact elements have causedrepaat manufacturing design steps. In
addition to these examples, problems might resoifhfa number of factors, including design defetiaterials failures, contamination in the
manufacturing environment, impurities in the matisrused, unknown sensitivities to process conditisuch as temperature and humidity,
and equipment failures. As a result, our produeteehin the past contained and might in the futorgan undetected errors or defects. Any
errors or defects could:

« cause lower than anticipated yields and lengtheafriglivery schedules;
» cause delays in product shipments;

e cause delays in new product introductions;
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* cause us to incur warranty expenses;

* resultin increased costs and diversion of devegmesources;

* cause us to incur increased charges due to unusabietory;

* require design modifications; or

* decrease market acceptance or customer satisfagtiothese products.

The occurrence of any one or more of these evenilsl tiurt our operating results.

In addition, if any of our products fails to mepgsifications or has reliability, quality or comitslity problems, our reputation could be
damaged significantly and customers might be rehtdb buy our products, which could result in alighe in revenues, an increase in product
returns or warranty costs and the loss of existiurggomers or the failure to attract new custonm@us.customers use our products with test
equipment and software in their manufacturing faed. Our products must be compatible with the@mers’equipment and software to fo
an integrated system. If the system does not fangiroperly, we could be required to provide fiafiplication engineers to locate the
problem, which can take time and resources. Iptioblem relates to our wafer probe cards, we ntigle to invest significant capital,
manufacturing capacity and other resources to coitreOur current or potential customers also rmiggek to recover from us any losses
resulting from defects or failures in our produtisbility claims could require us to spend sigcéfint time and money in litigation or to pay
significant damages.

If our ability to forecast demand for our productdeteriorates, we could incur higher inventory losstihan we currently experienci

Each semiconductor chip design requires a custofaryaobe card. Because our products are despgaific, demand for our products
difficult to forecast. Due to our customers’ shadetivery time requirements, we often design, preauaterials and, at times, produce our
products in anticipation of demand for our produatber than in response to an order. Due to tertainty inherent in forecasts, we are,
expect to continue to be, subject to inventory.rislwe do not obtain orders as we anticipate, mad have excess inventory for a specific
customer design that we would not be able to sedhty other customer, which would likely resultimentory write-offs.

From time to time, we might be subject to claimsinfringement of other parties’ proprietary rightsvhich could harm our business.

In the future, as we have in the past, we mightikecclaims that we are infringing intellectual peoty rights of others. We have
received in the past, and may receive in the futmesmunications from third parties inquiring about interest in a license, and asserting
that we need a license, to certain of their intdllel property. For example, we received such anconication from Microelectronics and
Computer Technology Corporation in October 2001hwifollow-up letter in January 2002, inquiringoabour interest in acquiring a license
to certain of their patents and technology. We aseived a letter from IBM Corporation in Febru@802, with a follow-up letter in
August 2003, inquiring about our interest and nieealcquire a license to IBM patents and technoledpted to high density integrated prol
We have not engaged in a dialog with Microeleciter@ind Computer Technology Corporation. We havegedin a dialog with IBM
Corporation regarding our companies’ respectivelliettual property portfolios and technologies, anticipate that this dialog will continue.
In August 2002, subsequent to our initiating cqroeslence with Japan Electronic Materials Corponatégarding the scope of our
intellectual property rights and the potential agadbility of those rights to certain of its waferope cards, Japan Electronic Materials
Corporation offered that precedent technologiesteas to one of our foreign patents that we hautified, and also referenced a U.S. patent
in which it stated we might take interest.
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For the inquiries we have received to date, weatdrlieve we infringe any of the identified pateand technology. The semiconductor
industry is characterized by uncertain and configcintellectual property claims and vigorous pobien and pursuit of these rights. The
resolution of any claims of this nature, with othaiut merit, could be time consuming, result intlyoltigation or cause product shipment
delays. In the event of an adverse ruling or seta, we might be required to pay substantial dasagease the use or sale of infringing
products, spend significant resources to developinfringing technology, discontinue the use oftair technology and/or enter into license
agreements. License agreements, if required, migthibe available on terms acceptable to us ol.afls loss of access to any of our
intellectual property or the ability to use anyoair technology could harm our business.

If we fail to protect our proprietary rights, ourampetitors might gain access to our technology, efhcould adversely affect our ability 1
compete successfully in our markets and harm oueogiting results.

If we fail to protect our proprietary rights adetglg, our competitors might gain access to ournetbgy. Unauthorized parties might
attempt to copy aspects of our products or to atdad use information that we regard as proprietathers might independently develop
similar or competing technologies or methods ofgiearound our patents. In addition, the laws ohynforeign countries in which we or our
customers do business do not protect our intelégxoperty rights to the same extent as the ldtiseoUnited States. As a result, our
competitors might offer similar products and we htigot be able to compete successfully. We alsoaamssure that:

* our means of protecting our proprietary rights Ww#él adequate;
« patents will be issued from our currently pendinduture applications;

* our existing patents or any new patents will béigieht in scope or strength to provide any meafuhgrotection or commercial
advantage to us;

« any patent, trademark or other intellectual prgpeght that we own will not be invalidated, circuemted or challenged in the United
States or foreign countries; or

others will not misappropriate our proprietary teclogies or independently develop similar techng]atyplicate our products or
design around any patent or other intellectual eriyprights that we own, or attempt to manufactmd sell infringing products in
countries that do not strongly enforce intellectualperty rights.

We might be required to spend significant resoutoasonitor and protect our intellectual propeights. We presently believe that it is
likely that one or more of our competitors are ggimethodologies or have implemented structuresdettain of their products that are
covered by one or more of our intellectual propeigits. We have in the past brought claims togubour rights, and, in certain cases, our
competitors have initiated invalidity proceedingdareign patent offices against certain of ouepé. For example, in connection with our
litigation with Phicom Corporation, one of our coatitors, on or about October 27, 2005, the Koreatef® Court issued rulings holding
invalid certain claims of two of our Korean paterftke two Korean patents affected by the rulingsNws. 278,342, entitled “Method of
Altering the Orientation of Probe Elements in alier€ard Assembly,” and 399,210, entitled “Probed@sssembly”, both of which had
previously been upheld by the Korean Intellectuabrty Office when it dismissed validity challesga their entirety. On or about
February 9, 2006, the Korea Patent Court issuediregrholding invalid certain claims of our KoreBatent No. 324,064, entitle@bntact Tij
Structures for Microelectronic Interconnection Eésrts and Methods of Making Samé&n or about February 9, 2006, the Korea Patent(
also issued a ruling declining to render a decisiom validity challenge against certain claimsaf Korean Patent No. 252,457, instead re-
opening the case for further proceedings to be lbdray a new panel of three Patent Court judges.diicome of any Company appeal of
ruling(s) of the Korean Patent Court can not bénitefely predicted, but will result in the
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Company incurring additional expenses. See the dl Bgoceedings” section of this Annual Report omik@0-K for a description of the
infringement actions we have brought against Phiaaththe invalidity proceedings that Phicom is pinmg against certain of our patents.

While we do not have a monetary damages exposuhege various invalidity proceedings, it is poksike will incur material expenses
in our litigation with Phicom or in defending ountéllectual property more broadly. Any litigatiomhether or not it is resolved in our favor,
could result in significant expense to us and ditlex efforts of our management and technical garsb In addition, while patents are
territorial and a ruling on a certain given patéoés not necessarily impact the validity or enfahilty of a corresponding or related patent in
a different country, an adverse ruling in one countight negatively impact our ability to enfordeetcorresponding or related patent in other
countries. Finally, certain of our customer confsamontain provisions that require us to indemoifly customers for third party intellectual
property infringement claims, which would incredlse cost to us of an adverse ruling in such a clAimadverse determination could also
negatively impact our ability to license certainooir technologies and methods to others, and rigsalir competitors being allowed to sell
products with, or add to their products, featumed benefits contained in our products, thereby cedpour competitive advantages over these
competing products.

If we fail to effectively manage our service cergepur business might be harme

In 2002, we expanded our repair and service cémtgeoul, South Korea. In 2003, we opened a repalrservice center in Dresden,
Germany. In 2004 we opened a repair and serviceicenTokyo, Japan. In 2005 we opened a servidedasign center in Taiwan. These
service centers are part of our strategy to, anutingr things, provide our customers with more edfic service and repair of our wafer probe
cards. If we are unable to effectively manage euwvise centers, or do not expand or enhance ouicsezenters, or open additional service
centers, to meet customer demand, or if the wodertaken in the service centers is not equivatettie level and quality provided by repairs
and services performed by our North American repad service operations, which are part of our rfeturing facility in Livermore,
California, we could incur higher wafer probe cegdair and service costs, which could harm our atpeg results.

If we do not effectively manage changes in our messs, these changes could place a significant str@am our management and operatiol
and, as a result, our business might not succeed.

Our ability to grow successfully requires an effeeplanning and management process. We plan tease the scope of our operations
and the size of our direct sales force domestically internationally. For example, we have movedcouporate headquarters and are
transitioning manufacturing operations to our nawility in Livermore, California. Our growth coufilace a significant strain on our
management systems, infrastructure and other resaufo manage our growth effectively, we mustshtiee necessary capital and continue
to improve and expand our controls, systems anmdstriicture in a timely and efficient manner. Thasources might not be available when
we need them, which would limit our growth. Our trofs, systems and procedures might not be adetmategpport a growing public
company. If we do not implement in a timely mansealable information technology systems, we maybeadble to maintain or expand our
current manufacturing capacity, which would, imtunave a negative impact on our operating resilbair management fails to respond
effectively to changes in our business, our busimeight not succeed.

If we fail to attract, integrate and retain qualifid personnel, our business might be harm

Our future success depends largely upon the cadisarvice of our key management, technical, aled saad marketing personnel, and
on our continued ability to hire, integrate andinetqualified individuals, particularly engineersdasales and marketing personnel in order to
increase market

22




awareness of our products and to increase reveRaesxample, in the future, we might need techmpeasonnel experienced in
competencies that we do not currently have or req@ompetition for qualified individuals may bédnse, and we might not be successful in
retaining our employees or attracting new persorie loss of any key employee, the inability tocssfully integrate replacement
personnel, the failure of any key employee to perfin his or her current position or our inabilttyattract and retain skilled employees as
needed could impair our ability to meet customet 'chnological demands. All of our key personnghie United States are employees at-
will.

We may make acquisitions, which could put a strain our resources, cause ownership dilution to odoskholders and adversely affect
our financial results.

While we have made no acquisitions of businessesluygts or technologies in the past, we may makaisitions of complementary
businesses, products or technologies in the futotegrating newly acquired businesses, producteamologies into our company could put
a strain on our resources, could be expensiveiareddonsuming, and might not be successful. Fugaggiisitions could divert our
management’s attention from other business con@rd®xpose our business to unforeseen liabibtiesks associated with entering new
markets. In addition, we might lose key employe&genintegrating new organizations. Consequently,might not be successful in
integrating any acquired businesses, productscontdogies, and might not achieve anticipated ragsrand cost benefits. In addition, future
acquisitions could result in customer dissatistactperformance problems with an acquired comppotgntially dilutive issuances of equity
securities or the incurrence of debt, contingetiilities, possible impairment charges relateddodyvill or other intangible assets or other
unanticipated events or circumstances, any of wbathd harm our business.

As part of our sales process, we could incur sulpgial sales and engineering expenses that do naulein revenues, which would harr
our operating results.

Our customers generally expend significant effextaluating and qualifying our products prior togiey an order. The time that our
customers require to evaluate and qualify our wpfebe cards is typically between three and 12 hwahd sometimes longer. While our
customers are evaluating our products, we mightrisabstantial sales, marketing, and research emel@bment expenses. For example, we
typically expend significant resources educatingmospective customers regarding the uses anditseakour wafer probe cards and
developing wafer probe cards customized to therpialecustomer’s needs, for which we might not dienbursed. Although we commit
substantial resources to our sales efforts, we thmgher receive any revenues from a customer. ¥ample, many semiconductor designs
never reach production, including designs for whighhave expended design effort and expense. liti@ddorospective customers might
decide not to use our wafer probe cards. The leofgtime that it takes for the evaluation process for us to make a sale depends upon r
factors including:

« the efforts of our sales force and our distribatiod independent sales representatives;

« the complexity of the customer’s fabrication preees

+ the internal technical capabilities of the custonaad

» the customer’s budgetary constraints and, in pdaicthe customer’s ability to devote resourcethéoevaluation process.

In addition, product purchases are frequently suliedelays, particularly with respect to largstomers for which our products may
represent a small percentage of their overall mseh. As a result, our sales cycles are unpretiictélve incur substantial sales and
engineering expenses without generating revenwesperating results could be harmed.

23




Ouir failure to comply with environmental laws anagulations could subject us to significant fines dfiabilities, and new laws and
regulations or changes in regulatory interpretatiaor enforcement could make compliance more diffitaind costly.

We are subject to various and frequently changirf f&deral, state and local, and foreign governaidaws and regulations relating to
the protection of the environment, including thgseerning the discharge of pollutants into theaaid water, the management and disposal of
hazardous substances and wastes, the cleanuptafiinated sites and the maintenance of a safe \amépWe could incur substantial costs,
including cleanup costs, civil or criminal finessanctions and third-party claims for property dgenar personal injury, as a result of
violations of or liabilities under environmentalla and regulations or non-compliance with the emvinental permits required at our
facilities.

These laws, regulations and permits also couldiredie installation of costly pollution control@gment or operational changes to li
pollution emissions or decrease the likelihoodatfidental releases of hazardous substances. Itiagdiew laws and regulations, stricter
enforcement of existing laws and regulations, tiseavery of previously unknown contamination at oupthers’ sites or the imposition of
new cleanup requirements could require us to dwtaioperations, restrict our future expansiorject us to liability and cause us to incur
future costs that would have a negative effectumoperating results and cash flow.

Because we conduct some of our business internaibn we are subject to operational, economic, fir@al and political risks abroad

Sales of our products to customers outside theedr8tates have accounted for an important pamiofevenues. Our international sales
as a percentage of our revenues were 65.8% an@6deRpectively, for fiscal 2005 and fiscal 20G%pectively. Additionally, certain of our
Korean customers purchase through their North Ataersubsidiaries. In the future, we expect intéonat sales, particularly into Europe,
Japan, South Korea and Taiwan, to continue to axtdou a significant percentage of our revenuesokdingly, we will be subject to risks
and challenges that we would not otherwise fageeitonducted our business only in the United Statiesse risks and challenges include:

« compliance with a wide variety of foreign laws aedulations;

« legal uncertainties regarding taxes, tariffs, gapéxport controls, export licenses and other ttwdders;

« political and economic instability in, or foreigordlicts that involve or affect, the countries afr@ustomers;
« difficulties in collecting accounts receivable dodger accounts receivable payment cycles;

« difficulties in staffing and managing personnektdbutors and representatives;

« reduced protection for intellectual property rigintsome countries;

« currency exchange rate fluctuations, which coutdaifthe value of our assets denominated in logakocy, as well as the price of
our products relative to locally produced products;

« seasonal fluctuations in purchasing patterns ierotbuntries; and
« fluctuations in freight rates and transportatiosrdptions.

Any of these factors could harm our existing ingtional operations and business or impair our tyliidi continue expanding into
international markets.
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We might require additional capital to support bugiss growth, and such capital might not be availabl

We intend to continue to make investments to supgpginess growth and may require additional fuodgspond to business
challenges, which include the need to develop n@dyxts or enhance existing products, enhancepenating infrastructure and acquire
complementary businesses and technologies. Acalydiwe may need to engage in equity or debt firanto secure additional funds.
Equity and debt financing, however, might not baikable when needed or, if available, might noaibailable on terms satisfactory to us. If
we are unable to obtain adequate financing or imanon terms satisfactory to us, our ability toitboue to support our business growth and
to respond to business challenges could be signifig limited.

Unanticipated changes in our tax rates or exposuoeadditional income tax liabilities could affectun profitability.

We are subject to income taxes in both the UnitatkS and various foreign jurisdictions, and oundstic and international tax
liabilities are subject to the allocation of expen@ different jurisdictions. Our effective taxeaould be adversely affected by changes in the
mix of earnings in countries with different statyttax rates, changes in the valuation of defetagdcassets and liabilities, changes in tax laws
including pending tax law changes such as the litefnafn export sales and the research and developaoredit, changes in our business
model or in our manufacturing activities, and bytenial audit assessments. In particular, the cagryalue of deferred tax assets, which are
predominantly in the United States, is dependerdgwrability to generate future taxable incomehia United States. In addition, the amount
of income taxes we pay could be subject to ongairdjts in various jurisdictions and a material asseent by a governing tax authority cc
affect our profitability.

The trading price of our common stock has been aadikely to continue to be volatile, and you mighbt be able to sell your shares at or
above the price that you paid for them.

The trading prices of the securities of technologgpanies have been highly volatile, and from e @f our initial public offering in
June 2003 through December 31, 2005, our stock pias ranged from $14.00 a share to $29.98 a shaedrading price of our common
stock is likely to continue to be subject to witlecfuations. Factors affecting the trading priceof common stock include:

 variations in our operating results;

* announcements of technological innovations, newlyets or product enhancements, strategic alliaocegnificant agreements by
us or by our competitors;

* recruitment or departure of key personnel;
« the gain or loss of significant orders or customers

» changes in the estimates of our operating resulthanges in recommendations by any securitieysisathat elect to follow our
common stock;

« market conditions in our industry, the industrié®or customers and the economy as a whole; and
» sales or perceived sales of substantial amourdarodfommon stock held by existing stockholders.

In addition, if the market for technology stockstloe stock market in general experiences lossvasitor confidence, the trading price of
our common stock could decline for reasons unréledeur business, operating results or finan@aldition. The trading price of our
common stock also might decline in reaction to évémat affect other companies in our industry efémese events do not directly affect us.
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The concentration of our capital stock ownershiptviinsiders will likely limit your ability to influence corporate matters.

Our executive officers, directors, current 5% arajer stockholders and entities affiliated with ahthem together beneficially own a
large percentage of our outstanding common stosla Pesult, these stockholders, acting togethee babstantial influence over all matters
that require approval by our stockholders, inclgdime election of directors and approval of siguaifit corporate transactions. As a result,
corporate actions might be taken even if otherkstoltlers oppose them. This concentration of ownnstight also have the effect of
delaying or preventing a change of control of cumpany that other stockholders may view as berafici

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation andylaws or Delaware law might discourage, delay oeyent a change of control of ot
company or changes in our management and, therefatepress the trading price of our common stock.

Delaware corporate law and our certificate of ipawation and bylaws contain provisions that coustaurage, delay or prevent a
change in control of our company or changes innsamagement that the stockholders of our companydeaagn advantageous. These
provisions:

« establish a classified board of directors so tioatai members of our board are elected at one;time
« provide that directors may only be removed “forseluand only with the approval of 66 2/3% of owrcstholders;

* require super-majority voting to amend some praowisiin our certificate of incorporation and bylaws;

authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferitedlsthat our board could issue to increase thebmuraf outstanding shares and to
discourage a takeover attempt;

limit the ability of our stockholders to call spakimeetings of stockholders;
« prohibit stockholder action by written consent, @threquires all stockholder actions to be takemrmaeeting of our stockholders;

« provide that the board of directors is expresshharized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws; and

establish advance notice requirements for nominatior election to our board or for proposing nratteat can be acted upon by
stockholders at stockholder meetings.

In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware Generap®mtion Law may discourage, delay or preventange in control of our company. In
addition, each of our named executive officers eentiain other officers of the company have ent@rmichange of control severance
agreements, which were approved by our Compens@tommittee, which could increase the costs assmtiaith a change of control and
thus, potentially deter such a transaction.

Item 1B: Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2: Properties

Our corporate headquarters, which includes salageating, administration, manufacturing, enginegreand research and development
facilities, is located in Livermore, California. Wiave moved our corporate headquarters and ar@tiosning manufacturing operations to our
new facility in Livermore, California. The new féity is comprised of a campus of four buildingsatotg approximately 131,000 square feet.
We presently lease all or part of these four baogdi In addition, we also lease office,
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repair and service, and/or research and developspaice outside of the U.S. The leases expire mustimes through 2012. We believe that
our existing and planned facilities are suitabledior current needs.

Information concerning our principal propertiesoa®ecember 31, 2005 is set forth below:

Square
Location Principal Use Footage Ownership
Livermore, CA Corporate headquarters, product design, 266,89: Lease(

manufacturing, engineering, distribution,
research and developme

Tokyo, Japan Sales office, marketing, product design, 19,472 Lease(
research and development, field service
and service and repair cen

Yokohama City, Japan Future office for field service and service 2,777 Lease(
and repair cente

Seoul, South Korea Sales office, product design, field service, 5,32¢ Lease(
service and repair cent

Dresden, German Service and repair cent 755 Lease(

Munich, Germany Sales office 162 Lease(

Jubei City, Hsinchu Taiwa Service and product design cer 9,30% Lease(

Milan, Italy Sales office 915 Lease(

Item 3: Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be subject to legal pealiregs and claims in the ordinary course of businAs of the filing date of this
Form 10-K, we were not involved in any materialdegroceedings, other than as set forth below.

On February 24, 2004, we filed in the Seoul Southzistrict Court, located in Seoul, South Koreap tseparate complaints against
Phicom Corporation, a Korean corporation, allegifgngement of a total of four Korean patents &s$tio us. One complaint alleges that
Phicom is infringing our Korean Patent Nos. 252 ,45itled “Method of Fabricating Interconnectidsising Cantilever Elements and
Sacrificial Substrates,” and 324,064, entitled “@ah Tip Structures for Microelectronic Intercontiec Elements and Methods of Making
Same”. The other complaint alleges Phicom is iging our Korean Patent Nos. 278,342, entitled “Médtbf Altering the Orientation of
Probe Elements in a Probe Card Assembly,” and 399 gntitled “Probe Card Assembly”. Both complaisggk injunctive relief. The court
actions are part of our ongoing efforts to prothetintellectual property embodied in our propmigt@chnology, including our MicroSpring
interconnect technology.

On or about March 19, 2004, Phicom filed in the & Intellectual Property Office, or KIPO, invatidactions challenging the validity
of some or all of the claims of each of the foutepés of our company at issue in the Seoul infringet actions. KIPO dismissed Phicom’s
challenges against all four of the patents-at-isBhécom appealed the dismissals of the challetigb®e Korean Patent Court.

On or about October 27, 2005, the Korean Patentt@maued rulings holding invalid certain claimsteb of our Korean patents. The
two Korean patents affected by the decisions a® R68,342, entitledViethod of Altering the Orientation of Probe Elenwint a Probe Cai
Assembly,” and 399,210, entitled “Probe Card AsdgimliVe are appealing these decisions to the Koapreme Court. We are also
continuing our enforcement action against Phicofeuithese patents in the Seoul Southern DistriariCmcluding certain claims from both
patents that were not addressed by the Korean tRademt decisions.

On or about February 9, 2006, the Korean Patentt@sued a ruling declining to render a decisiarPhicom’s appeal regarding our
Korean Patent No. 252,457, entitled “Method of kedimg
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Interconnections Using Cantilever Elements andificiet Substrates,” instead re-opening the casdifther proceedings to be handled by a
new panel of three patent court judges. Meanwhikeleaves unchanged the decision of KIPO affirmirgvalidity of the claims of Patent
No. 252,457. On or about the same date, the KdPagent Court invalidated ten claims of our KoreateRt No. 324,064, entitle‘Contact

Tip Structures for Microelectronic Interconnectidlements and Methods of Making Same,” but did wmioirass some sixty-one other claims
of the 324,064 patent that were not before therP&eurt. Following normal practice, the basistfogse rulings was not given and written
opinions explaining the rulings would typically brpected in one to three weeks. We are evaludimgubstantive merits of an appeal to the
Korean Supreme Court regarding the 324,064 patéatare also continuing our enforcement action agd&thicom under both the 252,457
and 324,064 Korean patents in the Seoul Southestni@iCourt, including certain claims from the 3284 patent that were not addressed or
affected by the Korean Patent Court.

The proceedings in Korea do not affect our corradpag U.S. and other international patents.

On March 4, 2005, we filed a patent infringememtdait in the United States District Court for thestict of Oregon against Phicom
charging that it is willfully infringing four U.patents that cover key aspects of our wafer prabaésc The complaint in this action alleges
Phicom has incorporated our proprietary technolagfyits products and seeks both injunctive rediefl monetary damages. The U.S. patents
identified in the complaint are U.S. Patent No.78,862, entitled “Method of Planarizing Tips of BeoElements of a Probe Card Assembly”
U.S. Patent No. 6,246,247, entitled “Probe CardeAdsly and Kit, and Methods of Using Same”, U.StepaNo. 6,624,648, entitled “Probe
Card Assembly” and U.S. Patent No. 5,994,152 tledti‘Fabricating Interconnects and Tips Using 8@l Substrates”. Three of the
patents at issue in the U.S. are substantiallytickgrto those at issue in our litigation with Rimic in Korea. On or about August 2, 2005,
Phicom answered the complaint by denying infringetnalleging defenses and asserting counterclagekiisg adjudications on the validity
and enforceability of our patents and whether Rhiinfringing those patents. Phicom also file@ion with the Oregon District Court
seeking that the lawsuit be transferred to the DiStrict Court for the Northern District of Califieia, which is where our principal place of
business is located, and Phicom’s motion was demi#ttbut prejudice by the District Court. On or ab&ebruary 7, 2006, the District Court
issued a scheduling order as jointly proposed byptrties that culminates in a pretrial conferesredlay 30, 2007, followed by a two to four
week trial at a date to be set by the Court. Athefdate of this Form 10-K, discovery has begunthadcarties are exchanging written
preliminary contentions regarding infringement amatidity.

We have incurred and could in the future incur makéegal expenses in connection with these lpgateedings.

One or more third parties have initiated challerigdsreign patent offices against other of ourepds$. For example, on or about
October 6, 2004, a third party filed an invalidatigroceeding with KIPO relating to our Korean Patea. 312,872. After briefing, KIPO
dismissed the challenge and upheld the validitglladf the claims of our Korean Patent No. 312,8in2% matter was appealed by the third
party to the Korean Patent Court. On or about A®il 2005, an invalidation action was filed withAQ against our Korean Patent
No. 467,997. KIPO has yet to rule on this invaliolataction. By way of further example, challenggaiast three of our Taiwan pater
Taiwan Patent Nos. 189,155, 198,158 and 121,53%&, been filed in the Taiwan Intellectual Propert§i¢2, or TIPO. TIPO has not issued
rulings in any of the validity challenge proceeding/hile we believe we do not have a material menyedamages exposure in these various
invalidity proceedings, it is possible we will inconaterial attorneys’ fees in defending our intetil&l property at issue in these challenges.

Item 4: Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
None.
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PART Il
Item 5: Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Skdwlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities
Price Range of Common Stock

Our common stock has been listed on the NasdaghNatMarket under the symbol “FORM” since June 2()3. Prior to this time,
there was no public market for our common stocle fidilowing table sets forth the range of high & sales prices per share as reporte
the Nasdaq National Market for the periods indidate

Fiscal 2005 High Low

First Quarter $27.81 $20.9:
Second Quarte 29.98 20.49
Third Quartel 28.43 22.55
Fourth Quarte 28.25 19.63
Fiscal 2004 High Low

First Quarter $22.858 $17.54
Second Quarte 22.55 17.00
Third Quartel 22.55 16.00
Fourth Quarte 29.08 18.41

The closing sales price of our common stock orNthsdaq National Market was $37.67 per share onuaep24, 2006. As of
February 24, 2006, there were 121 registered helaferecord of our common stock.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends oea@umon stock. We currently expect to retain adlible funds and any future
earnings for use in the operation and developmeatiobusiness. Accordingly, we do not anticipageldring or paying cash dividends on
common stock in the foreseeable future.
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Item 6: Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial data derived from our consolidated financial statetsieThis data should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statemseand the related notes, and “ltem 7: Managem@&iscussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations”.

Dec. 31, Dec. 25, Dec. 27, Dec. 28, Dec. 29,
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(in thousands, except per share date

Consolidated Statement of Operations Dats

Revenues $ 237,49 $ 177,762 $ 98,30z $ 78,68 % 73,43¢
Cost of revenues 129,62: 90,15¢ 49,92¢ 39,45¢ 38,38¢
Stock-based compensation 479 626 612 426 73
Gross margin 107,39: 86,977 47,761 38,802 34,97t
Operating expenses
Research and development(1) 27,63¢ 19,81: 15,56¢ 14,592 14,61¢
Selling, general and administrative(1) 41,352 29,01¢ 19,04¢ 17,00t 18,50
Stock-based compensation 3,10z 2,03z 2,55C 2,03¢ 601
Restructuring charges — — — — 1,38C
Total operating expenses 72,092 50,86/ 37,16: 33,63¢ 35,10(¢
Operating income (loss) 35,301 36,11: 10,59¢ 5,16¢€ (125)
Interest income, net 4,282 2,45C 1,005 729 819
Other income (expense), net (1,091) 500 563 (87) (342)
Income before income taxes 38,49: 39,06¢ 12,164 5,80¢ 352
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 8,31C 13,88t 4,64¢ (3,55€) 307
Net income 30,182 25,17¢ 7,51% 9,36¢€ 45
Preferred stock dividend — — (2,340 (5,272) (4,830)
Amount allocated to participating preferred stodklecs — — (10) (3,479) —
Net income (loss) available to common stockholi $ 30,182 % 25,17¢ $ 5,165 $ 615 $ (4,785)
Net income (loss) per share available to commocksimders;
Basic $ 0.76 $ 0.67 $ 025 % 014 $ (1.19
Diluted $ 0.73 $ 0.63 $ 0.19 $ 0.10 $ (1.19
Weighted-average number of shares used in per
share calculations:
Basic 39,547 37,641 21,01z 4,41% 4,03z
Diluted 41,59C 40,05¢ 29,28( 5,90€ 4,032
(1) Amounts exclude stock-based compensatiofgliasvs:
Research and development $ 710 $ 830 $ 893 $ 708 $ 120
Selling, general and administrative 2,392z 1,20z 1,657 1,331 481
Total $ 3,102 % 2,03 $ 2,55C $ 2,03€ $ 601
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities $ 211,60¢$  191,48: $ 179,27($ 34,34t $ 27,57¢
Working capital 232,11( 205,10¢ 190,84+ 40,641 31,07¢
Total assets 381,361 302,56¢ 239,23¢ 77,95¢ 62,26¢
Long-term debt, less current portion — — — 625 1,167
Redeemable convertible preferred stock and warrants — — — 65,201 65,201
Deferred stock based compensation, net (2,495) (5,413) (7,902) (10,782) (4,051)
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 317,78¢ 265,17¢ 215,01« (4,604) (17,582)
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Item 7: Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should kad in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and the relate@s included elsewhere in this Annual Report omb0-K. In addition to historical
consolidated financial information, the followingsdussion and analysis contains forward-lookingestgents that involve risks, uncertainties
and assumptions as described under the “Note Reégguieorward-Looking Statements” that appears eariiethis Annual Report on
Form 1(-K. Our actual results could differ materially frotinose anticipated by these forward-looking stateimias a result of many factors,
including those discussed under “Item 1A: RisktBex’ and elsewhere in this Annual Report on FortaKL

Overview

We design, develop, manufacture, sell and suppedigion, high performance advanced semiconducédemprobe cards.
Semiconductor manufacturers use our wafer protasdarperform wafer probe test on the whole sendootor wafer, prior to singulation, in
the front end of the semiconductor manufacturiragpss. After the fabrication of a semiconductoremahe chips on the wafer are subject to
wafer probe test. During wafer probe test, a wafebe card is mounted in a prober, which is in wonnected to a semiconductor tester, and
the wafer probe card is used as an interface toemrelectronically with and test individual chips a wafer. At the core of our product
offering are our proprietary technologies, inclyour MicroSpring interconnect technology and degigpcesses. Our MicroSpring
interconnect technology includes a resilient cangdement manufactured at our production facilittekivermore, California. We operate ir
single industry segment and have derived our resepuamarily from the sale of wafer probe cardomorating our MicroSpring
interconnect technology.

We were formed in 1993 and in 1995 introduced oat Eommercial product. During 1996, we introdudieel industry’s first memory
wafer probe card capable of testing up to 32 deviicgarallel. Our revenues increased from $1.1ianiin fiscal 1995 to $237.5 million in
fiscal 2005.

We work closely with our customers to design, depeind manufacture custom wafer probe cards. Eaééryrobe card is a custom
product that is specific to the chip and wafer gesiof the customer. Our customers, in turn, opérathe highly cyclical semiconductor
industry and are subject to severe fluctuatiorthéndemand for their products. Because of the aatfiour customers and our business, our
revenue growth is driven in significant part by thenber of new semiconductor designs that our custse develop, the technology transiti
involved in these designs and our customers’ pricalu@olumes. In the past, this has resulted inbming subject to demand fluctuations that
have resulted in significant variations of reven@egpenses and results of operations in the pepoetented. We expect these fluctuations,
and the resulting variations in our financial résuio continue in future periods.

In fiscal 2005, we benefited from semiconductor afanturers’strong demand for our products as they continuedtace convention
probe cards with our advanced wafer test technetodgiew applications such as mobile RAM and thesiten to 90 and sub-90 nanometer
technology process nodes and double data rate P& 11, architecture contributed to our over&lenue growth, which was partially offset
by lower demand for NAND and NOR flash applicatioAs a result, in fiscal 2005 our revenues incrédse34% as compared to fiscal 2C
In fiscal 2005, we also incurred significant castsociated with the transition to our new manufaagufacility in Livermore, California. We
were able to fund the costs associated with thissition from operating cash flow.

The majority of our sales are directly to semicastdumanufacturers. In fiscal 2005, sales to fawgtemers accounted for 72.8% of our
revenues. Because the semiconductor industryditvely concentrated industry, we believe th&s#o a limited number of customers will
continue to account for a substantial part of augitess. We generally have limited backlog andefloee we rely upon orders that are booked
and shipped in the same quarter for about halfiofevenues. Our backlog increased from
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$32.9 million at December 25, 2004 to $46.6 millairDecember 31, 2005. We manufacture our wafdsgoards based on order backlog
customer commitments. Backlog includes only ord@rsvhich written authorizations have been accepgbipbment dates within 12 months
have been assigned and revenue has not been reedgim addition, backlog includes service revelauexisting product service agreements
to be earned within the next 12 months. In additadirect sales we also have significant salesutadistributor. Sales to our distributor were
23.0%, 20.0% and 13.4% of our revenues in fiscBb2@004 and 2003, respectively. Currently, we fanedistributor, Spirox Corporation,
which serves Singapore, Philippines, Malaysia ahih& We also have the ability to sell our produlitectly to customers in these regions.
Prior to October 2005, we sold our products in Eaivthrough Spirox until we transitioned to a direales and service model in that country.

Management focuses on various external measuresrthact our performance, including for examplengmnductor manufacturer
technology transitions, semiconductor manufactuviader fabrication facility expansions, semiconduatevice architecture changes and
implementations, and new market developments.

We believe the following information is key to umsi@nding our business, our financial statemenrdstlam remainder of this discussion
and analysis of our financial condition and resafteperations:

Fiscal Year. Our fiscal year ends on the last Saturday in Deeznmithe fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 haxeg&s. Fiscal
years ended December 25, 2004 and December 23 h2@D52 weeks eac

Revenues. We derive substantially all of our revenues fromdurct sales of wafer probe cards. Wafer probe salels accounted for
99.9% of our revenues in fiscal 2005, 99.9% ofrewenues in fiscal 2004 and 99.8% of our revenudis¢al 2003. Revenues from licensing
of our design and manufacturing technologies hastetically been insignificant. Increases in revesiiave resulted from increased demand
for our existing products, the introduction of namgre complex products and the penetration of newkets. Revenues from our customers
are subject to both quarterly, annual and othetdlations due to design cycles, technology adoptites and cyclicality of the different end
markets into which our customers’ products are.Sdld expect that revenues from the sale of waf@gicards will continue to account for
substantially all of our revenues for the foreséeélture.

Cost of Revenues.Cost of revenues consists primarily of manufactyrimaterials, payroll and manufacturing-related bead. In
addition, cost of revenues also includes costse@ o the start up of our new manufacturing facilDur manufacturing operations rely upon
a limited number of suppliers to provide key comgrais and materials for our products, some of whieha sole source. We order materials
and supplies based on backlog and forecasted castmalers. Tooling and setup costs related to dhgnganufacturing lots at our suppliers
are also included in the cost of revenues. We esgoahl warranty costs and inventory provisions dteroffs of inventory as cost of revenu

We design, manufacture and sell a fully custom pebchto the semiconductor test market, which igjestt to significant cyclicality and
demand fluctuations. Our wafer probe cards are texmroducts that are custom to a specific chipgheand must be delivered on relatively
short lead-times as compared to our overall manurfi,ag process. As our advanced wafer probe carlmanufactured in low volumes and
must be delivered on relatively short lead-timeis not uncommon for us to acquire production malgand start certain production
activities based on estimated production yieldsfanetasted demand prior to or in excess of acteaiand for our wafer probe cards. We
record inventory reserve for estimated obsoleterammdsaleable inventories equal to the differeratevben the cost of inventories and the
estimated market value based upon assumptions aliate demand and market conditions. If actualke@aconditions are less favorable tt
those projected by management, additional inverm@sgrve would be required. Once established,rigaal cost of our inventory less the
related inventory reserve represents the new @ss$ lof such products. Reversal of these reseswesognized only when the related
inventory has been scrapped or sold.
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Research and DevelopmentResearch and development expenses include expeates to product development, engineering and
material costs. Almost all research and developroestis are expensed as incurred. We devoted 115286 and 15.8% of our revenues to
research and development programs in fiscal 20084 2nd 2003, respectively. We plan to continuevest a significant amount in research
and development activities to develop new techrie®pr current and new markets and new applicatiorthe future. We expect these
expenses to scale with revenue growth in the raf@2% to 16% of revenues, excluding stock-basedpsmsation.

Selling, General and Administrative Selling, general and administrative expenses ireckxpenses related to sales, marketing, and
administrative personnel, internal and outsidessadpresentatives’ commissions, market researclt@mglilting, and other sales, marketing,
and administrative activities. These expensesiatdode costs for enforcing our patent rights aegutatory compliance costs. We expect that
selling expenses will increase as revenues increaskwe expect that general and administrativersgs will increase in absolute dollars to
support future revenue growth.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caoditind results of operations are based upon msgdtiolated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with U.Srgdly accepted accounting principles. The prefaraf these financial statements and
related disclosures requires us to make estimatkassumptions that affect the reported amourasséts and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amountstafevenue and expenses in the reporting periodradyelarly evaluate our estimates and
assumptions related to allowances for doubtfulivat®es, inventories, marketable securities, incéaxes, warranty obligations,
contingencies, litigation and accrual for othebilities. We base our estimates and assumptiorsument facts, historical experience and
various other factors that we believe to be redslenander the circumstances, the results of whocinfthe basis for making judgments about
the carrying values of assets and liabilities dredaccrual of costs and expenses that are notyeauiarent from other sources. The actual
results experienced by us may differ materially addersely from our estimates. To the extent thezematerial differences between our
estimates and the actual results, our future esfilbperations will be affected.

We believe that the following are critical accougtpolicies:

Note 2 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial $tatets describes the significant accounting polioged in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition.Under Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staofnting Bulletin No. 104, “Revenue RecognitiorSAB
104), we recognize revenue when title and rislos$ lhave passed to the customer, there is persu@stence of an arrangement, delivery
has occurred or services have been rendered, ldemice is fixed or determinable, and collectipibf the resulting receivable is reasonably
assured.

Revenues from product sales to customers otherdistributors are recognized upon shipment or égjidepending upon the terms of
sale and reserves are provided for estimated afioms We defer recognition of revenues on saldgstdbutors until the distributor confirms
an order from its customer.

In multiple element arrangements, we follow thedgmice in EITF 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements withthdld Deliverables,” to
determine whether there is more than one unit odaating. To the extent that the deliverables apagable into multiple units of accounting,
we then allocate the total fee on such arrangenterte individual units of accounting using theideial method. We then recognize revenue
for each unit of accounting depending on the natfitbe deliverable(s) comprising the unit of aauting (principally following SAB 104).

We offer product maintenance and repair arrangesrterdur customers that are accounted for in aecmelwith FASB Technical
Bulletin No. 90-1, “Accounting for Separately PricExtended Warranty
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and Product Maintenance Contracts”. Amounts du@ ftastomers under these arrangements are initetlyrded as deferred revenues. The
fees are recognized as revenue on a straight-$isis lbbver the service period and related costeeameded as incurred.

Revenues from licensing of our design and manufexggdechnology, which have been insignificant &el are recognized over the term
of the license agreement or when the significantractual obligations have been fulfilled.

We have to make estimates and judgments with regal/enue recognition and changes in these gstinaad judgments could impact
our revenues and results of operations.

Warranty Reserve. We provide for the estimated cost of product waiesmat the time revenue is recognized. While wgage in
extensive product quality programs and processehiding actively monitoring and evaluating the lifyaf our component suppliers, our
warranty obligation is affected by product failuates, material usage and service delivery costgtiad in correcting a product failure. We
continuously monitor product returns for warrantylanaintain a reserve for the related expensesihgsm our historical experience and .
specifically identified field failures. As we s@lew products to our customers, we must exercissiderable judgment in estimating the
expected failure rates. This estimating procesased on historical experience of similar produmssyell as various other assumptions that
we believe to be reasonable under the circumstaBterild actual product failure rates, materiabasar service delivery costs differ from
our estimates, revisions to the estimated warrkaibylity would be required.

From time to time, we may be subject to additiareats related to warranty claims from our custorrBngs additional warranty would
be recorded in the determination of net incoméégeriod in which the additional cost was ideatlfi

Inventory Reserve. We state our inventories at the lower of cost, coteg on a first in, first out basis, or market. Y&eord inventory
reserve for estimated obsolescence or unmarketal@atories equal to the difference between th¢ abimventories and the estimated ma
value based upon assumptions about future demahcharket conditions. If actual market conditions kess favorable than those projected
by management, additional inventory reserve marehaired. Inventory reserves once established@reenersed until the related inventory
has been scrapped or sold.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived &ggebe Disposed of.We account for the impairment of long-lived assets
accordance with Statement of Financial Accountitep&ard, or SFAS, No. 144, “Accounting for the linpeent or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets”. We evaluate the carrying value of our ingd assets whenever certain events or changesciimstances indicate that the carrying
amount of these assets may not be recoverable.eévectts or circumstances include, but are notdidhib, a prolonged industry downturn, a
significant decline in our market value or sigriiint reductions in projected future cash flows.

Significant judgments and assumptions are requiréide forecast of future operating results usetthépreparation of the estimated
future cash flows, including profit margins, lorey+h forecasts of the amounts and timing of ovenaliket growth and our percentage of that
market, groupings of assets, discount rates anuiriat growth rates. In addition, significant esttemand assumptions are required in the
determination of the fair value of our tangibledealived assets, including replacement cost, econabsolescence, and the value that could
be realized in orderly liquidation. Changes in thestimates could have a material adverse effettteassessment of our long-lived assets,
thereby requiring us to write down the assets.
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Accounting for Income TaxesWe account for income taxes under the provis@BFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes”.
Under this method, we determine deferred tax assetdiabilities based upon the difference betwiberfinancial statement and tax bases of
assets and liabilities using enacted tax rateffétefor the year in which the differences areeotpd to affect taxable income. The tax
consequences of most events recognized in thentyrear’s financial statements are included in etging income taxes currently payable.
However, because tax laws and financial accourstiagdards differ in their recognition and measurgméassets, liabilities, equity, reven
expenses, gains and losses, differences arise déxetive amount of taxable income and faefinancial income for a year and between the
bases of assets or liabilities and their reportadumts in the financial statements. Because gssimed that the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities will be recovered and settled, exdjvely, a difference between the tax basis adisget or a liability and its reported amount in
the balance sheet will result in a taxable or audghle amount in some future years when the reélkabilities are settled or the reported
amounts of the assets are recovered, hence gigadora deferred tax asset. We must then assetikalihood that our deferred tax assets
will be recovered from future taxable income andhi® extent we believe that recovery is not likehg, must establish a valuation allowance.

As part of the process of preparing our consoliifiteancial statements, we are required to estimaténcome taxes. This process
involves estimating our actual current tax exposagether with assessing temporary differencesrtteat result in deferred tax assets.
Management judgment is required in determining\aalyation allowance recorded against our net dedetax assets. Any such valuation
allowance would be based on our estimates of texabbme and the period over which our deferredatsets would be recoverable. While
management has considered future taxable incomeragaing prudent and feasible tax planning strategi assessing the need for a
valuation allowance, if we were to determine thatwould not be able to realize all or part of oet deferred tax assets in the future, an
adjustment to the deferred tax assets would rasaliditional income tax expense in such period.

In fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004, given our incregdievels of profitability, we concluded that itrisore likely than not that we will be able
to utilize our deferred tax assets before theyrexpi

We calculate our current and deferred tax provisiased on estimates and assumptions that coudt #ifim the actual results reflected
in income tax returns filed. Differences between tax provision and tax return may occur and sutjosiments are recorded when identifi
which is generally in the third quarter of the sedpsent year for U.S. federal and state provisions.

The amount of income taxes we pay is subject tomggaudits by federal, state and foreign tax adtiles which might result in
proposed assessments. Our estimate for the pdtenteame for any uncertain tax issue is judgmeintalature. However, we believe we h
adequately provided for any reasonable foreseealitome related to those matters. Our future resodty include favorable or unfavorable
adjustments to our estimated tax liabilities in pleeiod the assessments are made or resolved or stditeites of limitation on potential
assessments expire.
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Results of Operation

The following table sets forth our operating resslas a percentage of revenues:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2005 2004 2003
Revenues 100.C% 100.C% 100.(%
Cost of revenue 54.€ 50.7 50.8
Stock-based compensation 0.2 0.4 0.6
Gross margin 45.2 48.9 48.6
Operating expense
Research and development 11.€ 11.2 15.8
Selling, general and administrative 174 16.3 194
Stock-based compensation 1.3 1.1 2.6
Total operating expenses 30.3 28.6 37.8
Operating incom: 14.9 20.3 10.8
Interest income, ne 1.8 1.4 1.0
Other income (expense), net (0.5) 0.3 0.6
Income before income taxes 16.2 22.0 124
Provision for income taxes 3.5 7.8 4.7
Net income 12.7 14.2 7.7
Preferred stock dividen — — 2.4
Amount allocated to participating preferred stodkleos — — —
Net income available to common stockholc 12.7% 14.2% 5.3%
(1) Amounts exclude sto-based compensation, as follo
Research and developmt 0.3% 05% 0.9%
Selling, general and administrative 1.0 0.6 1.7
Total 1.3% 11% 2.6%
Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2005 and DecembeQ04
Revenue:
Fiscal Increase Change
2005 Fiscal 2004 (decrease’ %

(In thousands)
Revenues by Marke

DRAM $182,82¢ $124,32¢ $58,49¢ 47.1%

Flash 31,64C 38,952 (7,313)  (18.9)

Logic 23,027 14,48C 8,547 59.0
Total revenues $237,49F $177,76: $59,73% 33.6%

Revenues increased 34% in fiscal 2005 compareddal 2004. Markets for our customers are growaigustly, as the convergence of
new applications for advanced chips, combined wtihnology and production capability, is increadiitgdemand for these advanced
products. As a result, the advanced wafer probe rwarket grew rapidly in 2005, as new market fores our enabling technologies
accelerated demand. Continuing strength in moloitecnsumer applications like mobile RAM, the tiios to 90 nanometer technologies
and below, as well as the transition to DDR |l @estture contributed to the overall growth in reues.
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The majority of our revenues for fiscal 2005 waregated by sales of wafer probe cards to manufastwf DRAM devices. The
increase was primarily due to the continued exeoutif major DRAM transitions to 90 nanometer tedbgyg and below, DDR Il architecture
and the proliferation of Mobile RAM applicationspproximately 61% of our DRAM revenue in fiscal 2008s derived from 90 nanometer

and below technology products.

Revenues generated from sales to flash memoryelevanufacturers decreased mainly due to lower dérfmarour NAND flash wafer
probe cards.

Revenues from manufacturers of logic devices irsgdgrimarily due to increased demand for highlfgdisan test products. The
majority of our logic revenues in fiscal 2005 wasided by sales of wafer probe cards to test hegfiopmance flip-chip microprocessor and
chipset applications.

Revenue by Geographic Reg

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of

2005 Revenues 2004 Revenues
(In thousands)

North America $ 81,21« 34.2% $ 63,62¢ 35.8%
Europe 22,74¢€ 9.6% 23,721 13.3%
Japar 62,181 26.2% 45,384 25.5%
Asia Pacific 71,354 30.C% 45,032 25.4%
Total revenues $237,49¢ 100.C% $177,76: 100.(%

Geographic revenue information is based on theiginwg location of the customer. For example, cartédrean customers purchase
through their North American subsidiaries. The @ase in revenues in North America was primarilyehiby demand for wafer probe cards
used to test chips for consumer and mobile prodiitis increase in the percentage of revenues paniaas primarily due to increased sales
to a manufacturer of DRAM devices. The increasgercentage of revenues in Asia Pacific was primaltle to growth in our business with
Taiwan customers. The decrease in the percentageefiues in Europe was primarily due to decreaabs$ to a manufacturer of DRAM

devices in this region.

Gross Margin

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of
2005 Revenues 2004 Revenues
(In thousands)
Gross margit $107,39: 45.2%  $86,971 48.%%

The decrease in gross margin percentage in fi38 2ompared to fiscal 2004 was primarily due éotsip costs related to our new
factory, costs to ramp our new factory to a higlesenue capacity and higher provision for excesisadnsolete inventory. During fiscal 2005
and fiscal 2004 we incurred $12.2 million and $®ilion, respectively of start up expenses relatethe bring up of our new manufacturing
facility, which represented 5.1% and 2.8% of revesjuespectively. The increase in inventory proviso $10.9 million, or 4.6% of revenues
for fiscal 2005 as compared with $4.5 million, 8% of revenues for fiscal 2004 was primarily do@xcess custom inventory quantities. As
our advanced wafer probe cards are manufacturiedvivolumes and must be delivered on relativelyrstead-times, it is not uncommon for
us to acquire production materials and start aepiedduction activities based on estimated productields and forecasted demand prior t
in excess of actual demand for our wafer probescard
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Research and Developme

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of
2005 Revenues 2004 Revenues
(In thousands)
Research and developm:e $27,63¢ 11.6% $19,81: 11.2%

Stock-based compensation expense
(excluded from research and developm $ 710 03% $ 830 0.5%

The increase in research and development expemsdsolute dollars was mainly due to an increasgpfoximately $3.5 million in
personnel costs and an increase of approximate8/i§ifllion in development related costs. Througitdl 2005, we continued the
development of our next generation parallelism isg@cture and products, fine pitch memory and Iggimducts, advanced MicroSpring
interconnect technology and new process technadoie are also making incremental investmentsmteehnologies and products as we
focus on new market opportunities.

Selling, General and Administrativ

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of
2005 Revenues 2004 Revenues
(In thousands)
Selling, general and administrati $41,352 17.4% $29,01¢ 16.2%
Stock-based compensation expense
(excluded from selling, general and
administrative’ 2,392 1.0% 1,203 0.6%

The increase in absolute dollars was mainly dumntoncrease of approximately $7.9 million in persarelated expenses and an
increase of approximately $4.4 million in outsidefpssional services that primarily related to panforcement proceedings and other
consulting services, including compliance and ratpul matters. Stock-based compensation experfigeat 2005 increased primarily due to
the acceleration of options related to the depard@iour chief operating officer.

Interest and Other Income (Expense), N

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of

2005 Revenues 2004 Revenues
Interest income $ 4,282 1.8% $2,45C 1.4%
Other income (expense), r (1,091) (0.5% 500 0.3%

The increase in interest income is due to largehceash equivalents and marketable securitiesdalkdroughout fiscal 2005 relative to
fiscal 2004 and higher interest rates, resultingigher interest income earned. Other expensadoalf2005 was mainly comprised of foreign
currency losses, primarily related to Japanese ®#mer income for fiscal 2004 includes a realizathgontingency relating to a cash refund
of consumption tax paid in Japan of approximatély$nillion.

Provision for Income Taxe:

Annual Annual
Effective Tax Effective Tax
Fiscal Fiscal
2005 Rate 2004 Rate
(In thousands)
Provision for income taxe $8,31C 21.6% $ 13,88t 35.5%
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Our annual effective tax rate for fiscal 2005 af@2was 21.6% and 35.5%, respectively. The lowenrite tax expense for fiscal 2005
was primarily due to higher tax exempt intereshedrand higher tax credits generated in fiscal 2B&&al 2005 was impacted by certain
discrete transactions recorded in the third quarftéiscal 2005, mainly adjustments of $3.0 millimiated to a research and development tax
credit study as well as the release of prior yaaréserves with respect to years for which thiitgaf limitations had been reached.

Fiscal Years Ended December 25, 2004 and Decemi@ePR03
Revenues

Fiscal Fiscal Increase %
2004 2003 (decrease’ Change
(In thousands)

Revenue by Marke

DRAM $124,32¢ $61,42¢ $62,90( 102.4%

Flash 38,9532 18,086 20,867 1154

Logic 14,48C 18,787  (4,307)  (22.9
Total revenues $177,76: $98,30z $79,46( 80.8%

Revenues grew across all regions in fiscal 200zbagpared to fiscal 2003 as conventional probe cawdtinued to be replaced by
advanced wafer test technologies and more tesperdisrmed at the wafer level. The build out of 3@@mvafer production capacity brought
additional demand for wafer probe cards as pasuofcustomers overall capacity expansion. New apfitins like mobile RAM, the transiti
to 110 nanometer technologies, as well as desigs imi Flash memory contributed to the overall gioimtrevenues.

Revenues for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004 wergatively impacted by approximately $5.0 milldue to a severe decline in our
production yields caused by contamination of ousteng wafer production line at our old producti@aility.

The majority of revenues for fiscal 2004 were gateat by sales of wafer probe cards to manufactofddlRAM devices. The increase
was primarily due to a general increase in custdritgroduction volume as well as the continuedcetien of major DRAM transitions to
110 and sub 110 nanometer technology, 512 megabsity, 300mm capacity ramps, DDR Il architecturd mobile RAM applications.

Revenues generated from sales to flash memoryaevanufacturers increased due to strong bit grewththe demand for high
parallelism flash memory test products as welhascontinued ramp in 300mm capacity.

Revenues from manufacturers of flip chip logic degidecreased due to design and mix shift at citoiers as well as our continued
capacity constraints during 2004.

Revenue by Geographic Region

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of

2004 Revenues 2003 Revenues
(In thousands)

North America $ 63,62¢ 35.8%  $49,23¢ 50.1%
Europe 23,721 13.3% 10,129 10.2%
Japar 45,384 25.5% 19,715 20.1%
Asia Pacific 45,033 25.4% 19,223 19.5%
Total revenues $177,76: 100.C%  $98,30Z 100.(%
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The increase in the percentage of revenues in Jaasprimarily due to increased sales to a manufacbf DRAM devices. The
decrease in the percentage of revenues in Northridéaneras primarily due to the decrease in salesdaaufacturers for flip chip logic device

Gross Margin

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of
2004 Revenues 2003 Revenues
(In thousands)
Gross margit $86,971 48.9% $47,761  48.€%

Gross margin for fiscal 2004 remained stable duggher revenues despite $5.0 million of start asts for our new factory. Gross
margin was negatively impacted by approximatelyd due to a severe decline in our wafer yields ahibyecontamination in our production
line at our old production facility during the falrquarter.

Research and Development

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of
2004 Revenues 2003 Revenues
(In thousands)
Research and developm $19,81¢  11.2% $1556¢ 15.8%

Stock based compensation expense
(excluded from research and developm $ 830 05% $ 893 0.9%

Research and development expenses increased rdambp an increase of approximately $2.3 milliopénsonnel costs and an increase
of approximately $1.9 million in development progranaterials and related costs. During fiscal 2002l continued our development of next
generation parallelism products, fine pitch mememd logic products, advanced MicroSpring intercabtechnology and new process
technologies. We are currently building a dedicatssarch and development line as part of our mevpmoject, as we believe it is critical to
continue to make significant investments in redeared development.

Selling, General and Administrative

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of
2004 Revenues 2003 Revenues
(In thousands)
Selling, general and administrati $29,01¢ 16.3% $19,04¢ 19.4%
Stock-based compensation expense
(excluded from selling, general and
administrative’ 1,203 0.6% 1,657 1.7%

Selling, general and administrative expenses isetaue to approximately $4.2 million in persometdted expenses, an increase of
$547,000 in commissions to our sales representatitigen by the increase in revenues and an iner@a$3.4 million in outside professional
services that primarily related to patent litigatend Sarbanes Oxley compliance expenses.
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Interest and Other Income (Expense), Net

Fiscal % of Fiscal % of
2004 Revenues 2003 Revenues
(In thousands)

Interest income, ne $2, 45C 1.4% $1,00¢ 1.0%
Other income (expense), r $ 500 03% $ 563 0.6%

Interest income, net increased due to a larger, cash equivalents and marketable securities baldmoughout fiscal 2004 as a resul
the completion of our initial public offering andlliow-on public offering in 2003. We recognized @rgcontingency relating to a cash refund
of consumption tax paid in Japan of approximatdly0$nillion in fiscal 2004. Foreign currency lossesfiscal 2004 were approximately
$270,000.

Provision for Income Taxes

Annual Annual
Effective Tax Effective Tax
Fiscal Fiscal
2004 Rate 2003 Rate
(In thousands)
Provision for income taxe $ 13,88t 35.5% $4,64¢ 38.2%

Provision for income taxes for fiscal 2004 increhpemarily due to an increase of consolidatedgxetarnings from $12.1 million for
2003 to $39.1 million for 2004. The decrease in2004 effective tax rate was primarily due to duift;g of investments from taxable to tax-
exempt interest bearing securities beginning icali004 and a decrease in our nondeductible $iaskd compensation expense in fiscal
2004.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2005, we had $211.6 millionastt cash equivalents and marketable securitiepa@u to $191.5 million as of
December 25, 2004.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $3ililon for fiscal 2005 compared to $35.7 millifor fiscal 2004 and $15.0 million
for fiscal 2003. The increase in net cash providgdperations in fiscal 2005 compared to fiscal280d 2003 resulted primarily from an
increase in net income in fiscal 2005 as well asitpact of non-cash items that were recorded erstifitements of income, primarily
depreciation and amortization expense and the gimvior excess and obsolete inventories, offsehbgstments in accounts receivable and
inventories to support growth.

Accounts receivable increased by $19.0 million friisnal 2004 to fiscal 2005 due to an increase anldwide revenues. Accounts
receivable increased by $5.3 million from fiscaD3Qo fiscal 2004. Our days sales outstanding freceivables, or DSO, decreased from 50
days at December 25, 2004 to 42 days at Decemh&08%. DSO at December 27, 2003 was 51 days.

Gross inventories were $38.2 million, $24.1 millamd $17.4 million as of December 31, 2005, Decer@be2004 and December 27,
2003, respectively. Inventory reserves at DecerBheR005, December 25, 2004 and December 27, 2888 $4.9.8 million, $12.9 million
and $9.4 million, respectively. The increases ithlyoss inventories and inventory reserves aesaltrof increased volume in business and
strong demand for our products. While inventory amwentory reserve balances have increased in 2@805nventory turns remain high at 8.8
and 9.3 in fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004, respegfividet inventory turns were 8.3 in fiscal 2003.

Inventory reserves, as a percentage of gross iosiest decreased to 51.8% at December 31, 2005a@ahpo 53.5% at December 25,
2004. Inventory reserves, as a percentage of gmesatories were
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54.0% at December 27, 2003. We record inventogruesfor estimated obsolete or non saleable invisgtequal to the difference between
the cost of inventories and the estimated markieevidased upon assumptions about future demantdharicet conditions. If actual market
conditions are less favorable than those projdayethanagement, additional inventory reserve woelddguired. Once established, the
original cost of our inventory less the relatedeintory reserve represents the new cost basis bfmoducts. Reversal of these reserves, if
any, is recognized only when the related inventay been scrapped or sold.

Accrued liabilities increased by $13.7 million fiigcal 2005 due primarily to the increase of $9illiom in accrued income taxes and
increase of approximately $3.5 million in accruethpensation and benefits. Accrued liabilities iase by $4.6 million for fiscal 2004 due
to the increase of $3.2 million in accrued comp&aosaand benefits.

Net cash used by investing activities was $54.0aniffor fiscal 2005, compared to $28.2 million fiscal 2004 and $158.6 million for
fiscal 2003. Net cash used by investing activitesulted primarily from the net purchase of marklgtaecurities and capital expenditures in
each of these periods. Capital expenditures weBe3%aillion for fiscal 2005, $37.7 million for fist 2004 and $11.2 million for fiscal 2003.
In fiscal 2005, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 we isteel in the expansion of manufacturing facilitiesaell as leasehold improvements to our
new headquarters and manufacturing facility. lodi2003, we invested the proceeds from our ingigdlic offering and follow-on offering
into short-term marketable securities.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $Iilion for fiscal 2005 compared with $14.5 miltidor fiscal 2004. Net cash
provided by financing activities was $140.6 millitor fiscal 2003. Net cash provided by financinghaties for fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2004
was mainly due to proceeds received from the eseri employee stock options. In 2003, we completednitial public offering and a
follow-on public offering. These public offeringemgerated $138 million in proceeds.

In May 2001, we signed a ten-year lease for antiathdil 119,000 square feet of manufacturing, redeand development and office
space. The total rent obligation over the termheflease is $21.8 million and is accounted fomasperating lease. In October 2004, we
signed a ten-year lease for an additional 12,00@rsgfeet of research and development space. Tdla¢at obligation over the term of the
lease is $1.0 million and is accounted for as araing lease. We invested approximately $37 mnilioleasehold improvements for our new
headquarters and manufacturing facility through5200

We expect capital expenditures for fiscal 2006pdraximately $30 million primarily related to thepansion of our manufacturing
facilities.

The following table describes our commitments ttleseontractual obligations in cash as of Decen#iger2005.

Payments Due by Fiscal Yea

2006 20072008 2002010  After 2010 Total
(In thousands)
Operating lease $3,174 $6,19¢ $6,34% $5,29C $21,00¢
Inventory purchase obligatiol 452 — — — 452
Other purchase obligatiol 990 — — — 990
Total $4,61€ $6,19¢ $6,345 $5,29C $22,44i

We believe that cash generated from operationstheg with the liquidity provided by our existingsh, cash equivalents and market
securities will be sufficient to meet our anticipdicash needs for at least the next 12 monthsfu@ure capital requirements will depend on
many factors, including the timing and extent aérsgiing to support product development efforts ekgansion of sales and
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marketing activities, and the costs to ensure actmeadequate manufacturing capacity. Accordinglymay seek additional capital through
the issuance of equity or debt securities. Althowghare currently not a party to any agreemengtber of intent with respect to potential
investments in, or acquisitions of, complementargibesses, products or technologies, we may entethiese types of arrangements in the
future, which could also require us to seek add#i@quity or debt financing. Additional funds magt be available on terms favorable to us
or at all.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As part of our ongoing business, we do not pamitgpn transactions that generate relationshipgs witonsolidated entities or financial
partnerships, such as entities often referred girastured finance or special purpose entitie§REs, which would have been established for
the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet ageaments or other contractually narrow or limitedpmses. As of December 31, 2005, we are
not involved in any unconsolidated SPE transactions

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123@jare-Based Payment”. SFAS No. 123(R) requiresl@yep stock options and
rights to purchase shares under stock participgtians to be accounted for under the fair valuéhotbtand eliminates the ability to account
for these instruments under the intrinsic valuehoétprescribed by APB Opinion No. 25, and allowader the original provisions of SFAS
No. 123. SFAS No. 123(R) requires the use of amogiricing model for estimating fair value, whiishamortized to expense over i
requisite service periods. SFAS No. 123(R) alloarsgither prospective recognition of compensatixymease or retrospective recognition,
which may be back to the original issuance of SN&S123 or only to interim periods in the year dbption.

SFAS 123(R) also requires the benefits of tax deding in excess of recognized compensation exptense reported as a financing ci
flow, rather than as an operating cash flow asqoifesd under current accounting rules. This reeuést will reduce net operating cash flows
and increase net financing cash flows in periotkr @doption. Total cash flow will remain unchanden cash flow as it would have been
reported under prior accounting rules.

As permitted by SFAS 123, we currently accountstmare-based payments to employees using APB Op&ianintrinsic value method.
As a consequence, we generally recognize no corapensost for employee stock options and purchasdsr our Employee Stock
Purchase Plan. Although the adoption of SFAS 128(R)r value method will have no adverse impacban balance sheet or total cash
flows, it will affect our net income and dilutedreangs per share. The actual effects of adoptingSSE23(R) will depend on numerous
factors including the amounts of share-based patgrgranted in the future, the valuation model we tesvalue future share-based payments
to employees and estimated forfeiture rates.

On April 14, 2005, the SEC announced that the &ffecate of SFAS No. 123(R) will be extended towal periods beginning after
June 15, 2005. We will adopt this new standardasdry 1, 2006, using the modified prospective oet#mnd a Black-Scholes valuation
model. We believe that the adoption of SFAS No.(R}3vill have a material impact on net income aetlincome per share.

ltem 7A: Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk

Foreign Currency Exchange RiskOur revenues, except in Japan, and our expenseptekose expenses related to our operations in
Germany, United Kingdom, Japan, Taiwan and Koreadanominated in U.S. Dollars. Revenues and at¢saaoeivable from the majority
our Japanese customers are denominated in Japamesé/e may purchase from time to time forward exaie

43




contracts to hedge certain existing foreign curyetenominated receivables. Gains and losses oa twegracts are generally recognized in
income when the related transactions being hedgerbaognized.

As of December 31, 2005, we had one outstandirgjgorcurrency exchange forward contract to se22,800,000 Japanese Yen for
$21,451,640 with a contract rate of 117.66 JapaMeseper U.S. Dollar. The fair value on this foreigurrency forward exchange contract as
of December 31, 2005 would have changed by $2,845flthe foreign currency exchange rate for thead@se Yen to the U.S. Dollar on this
forward contract had changed by 10%. We do noteswative financial instruments for trading or splkative purposes.

Interest Rate Risk. The primary objective of our investment activitisgo preserve principal while at the same time imi&ing the
income we receive from our investments without iggntly increasing risk. Some of the securitiesnihich we invest may be subject to
market risk. This means that a change in prevailitgrest rates may cause the principal amourtiefrtvestment to fluctuate. For example
we hold a security that was issued with an intenast fixed at the then-prevailing rate and thevaitang interest rate later rises, the principal
amount of our investment will probably decline. maimize this risk, we maintain our portfolio ofstaequivalents, and marketable secur
in a variety of securities, including commerciappg money market funds, government and non-goventihebt securities and certificates of
deposit (see Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidatadrsial Statements). The risk associated with dlating interest rates is limited to our
investment portfolio and we do not believe thabD&clchange in interest rates will have a signifigergact on our consolidated statements of
income and statements of cash flow. As of DecerBheP005, all of our investments were in money retdccounts, certificates of deposi
high quality corporate debt obligations and U.Siaggoment securities.

Item 8: Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements of FormFagtquired by this item are included in the sectatitled “Consolidated Financial
Statements” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Sem 15(a)(1) for a list of our consolidated fic#l statements.
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Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unauditel

The following selected quarterly financial datagldde read in conjunction with our consolidatewaficial statements and the related
notes and “ltem 7: Management’s Discussion and ysiabf Financial Condition and Results of Operadio This information has been
derived from our unaudited consolidated finandiatesnents that, in our opinion, reflect all reaugradjustments necessary to fairly present
this information when read in conjunction with mansolidated financial statements and the relatéelsrappearing in the section entitled
“Consolidated Financial Statements”. The resultspgdrations for any quarter are not necessarilicatie of the results to be expected for
any future period.

Dec. 31, Sept. 24, June 25, Mar. 26, Dec. 25, Sept. 25, June 26, Mar. 27
2005 2005 2005 2005 2004 2004 2004 2004
(in thousands, except per share date
Revenue! $ 71,81¢ $ 62,374 $ 52,337 $ 50,96¢ $ 46,11 $ 51,377 $ 43,15¢ $ 37,11¢
Cost of revenue 36,51¢ 33,98( 30,43¢ 28,691 26,504 25,471 20,15¢ 18,02¢
Stock-based compensation 100 108 127 144 160 154 157 155
Gross Margin 35,201 28,28¢ 21,77¢ 22,13( 19,44¢ 25,752 22,83¢ 18,937
Operating Expense
Research and development 8,754 7,70C 5,51€ 5,66¢& 5,392 5,55E 4,51€ 4,34¢
Selling, general and administrative 12,124 10,65& 9,377 9,19€ 8,37¢ 7,904 6,862 5,874
Stock-based compensation 470 1,397 625 610 462 455 564 552
Total operating expenses 21,34¢ 19,752 15,51¢ 15,474 14,232 13,914 11,942 10,77t
Operating income 13,852 8,534 6,25¢ 6,65€ 5,21€ 11,83¢ 10,897 8,162
Interest incom 1,37C 1,116 980 816 710 635 572 533
Other income (expense), net (437) (630) (112) 87 1,29€ (156) (247) (395)
Income before income taxes 14,78€ 9,02C 7,12€ 7,55¢ 7,224 12,317 11,222 8,30C
Provision (benefit) for income taxes )
4,30€ (758* 2,114 2,64¢ 1,402 4,82C 4,46€ 3,197
Net income $ 10,48C $ 9,778 $ 501z $ 4911 $ 5,822 $ 7,497 $ 6,75€ $ 5,108
Net income available to common stockholders
share:
Basic $ 0.26 $ 025 $ 0.13 $ 0.13 % 0.15 $ 0.20 $ 0.18 $ 0.14
Diluted $ 025 $ 023 $ 012 $ 012 % 0.14 % 019 $ 0.17 $ 0.13
Weighted-average number of shares used in per
share calculation:
Basic 40,11¢ 39,73¢ 39,27¢ 39,01¢ 38,37¢ 37,632 37,381 37,08t
Diluted 41,85¢ 41,762 41,497 41,197 40,64z 40,49¢ 40,60¢ 40,231
(1) Amounts exclude stodkased compensation,
follows:
Research and developm $ 133 $ 181 $ 185 $ 211 $ 224 $ 216 $ 226 $ 164
Selling, general and administrative 337 1,21€ 440 399 238 239 338 388
Total $ 470 $ 1,397 $ 625 $ 610 $ 462 $ 455 $ 564 $ 552
* The third quarter of fiscal 2005 was impacted bitaie discrete transactions, mainly adjustment$30 million related to a research and developrtentredit study as

well as the release of prior year tax reserves reitipect to years for which the statute of limétas had been reached.

Item 9: Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéanting and Financial Disclosure

None.

45




Item 9A: Controls and Procedure s
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15(b) of the Securitiestaxge Act, our management, including the Chief Htiee Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation as of&mber 31, 2005, of the effectiveness of our “disate controls and procedures” as
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13&{e). Based on that evaluation, our Chief Exeeutdficer and Chief Financial Officer, concludéedt, as
of December 31, 2005, our controls and procedurs wffective to ensure that information requietié disclosed in reports that we file or
submit under the Exchange Act are recorded, predessimmarized and reported in accordance withufles and forms of the SEC and that
such information is accumulated and communicateddnagement as appropriate to allow timely decssiegarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have previously reported on-going remediatidares related to the material weakness identifisdfaDecember 31, 2004 related to
our lack of a sufficient complement of personnehva level of technical accounting expertise comsnesite with our financial reporting
requirements. During fiscal 2005, we designed dadgul in operation new controls to remediate thterra weakness. Specifically, in the
first quarter of 2005, we hired a Chief Financidfi€@r with extensive industry experience. Additidly, in the second quarter of 2005, we
implemented new controls over the period-end fifgmeporting process, including controls to reviemd evaluate the accounting impact of
certain transactions related to stock-based conapiensand redeemable convertible preferred stotkhé third quarter of 2005, we hired
additional personnel to strengthen the controlspptace during the second quarter of 2005. Tipessonnel included, several accounting
analysts, an Assistant Controller and Senior Dineof Tax and Treasury. As of December 31, 2005hase determined that the new cont
are effectively designed and have demonstratedteféeoperation for a sufficient period of timegpnable management to conclude the
material weakness identified in 2004 has been réatest

As required by Rule 13a-15(d) of the Exchange Aat,management, including our Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer,
conducted an evaluation of our “internal controdofinancial reporting” as defined in Exchange Raie 13a-15(f) to determine whether any
changes in our internal control over financial néipg occurred during the fourth quarter of 200&ttmaterially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal controver financial reporting. Based on that evaluatmther than as described above, there have
no such changes during the fourth quarter of figéals.

Limitation on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, do not expect that disclosure controls and
procedures or our internal control over financedarting will prevent or detect all errors andaaturrences of fraud. A control system, no
matter how well designed and operated, can prasidie reasonable, not absolute, assurance thatijleetives of the control systems are met.
Further, the design of a control system must réflee fact that there are resource constraintstlamtenefits of all controls must be
considered relative to their costs. Control systearsbe circumvented by the individual acts of sp@esons, by collusion of two or more
people, or by management override of the controhddition, over time, controls may become inadégibacause of changes in conditions
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate. Because of the inherentdtions in all control systems, no
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assgrdimat the control systems will detect all conissles, including instances of fraud, if any.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting as defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange fac FormFactor. Our management with the parétign of our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer conducted an evaluatibthe effectiveness of our internal control ofieancial reporting as of December 31,
2005. This evaluation was based on the framewddbished ininternal Control—Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis$ased on this evaluation, our management condltit our internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of DecemberZI05.

Management's assessment of the effectiveness @dhgpany’s internal control over financial repogtias of December 31, 2005 has
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, thep@owis independent registered public accounting,fas stated in their report which
appears in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ltem 9B: Other Information

On December 15, 2005, the Compensation CommitteeroBoard of Directors unanimously approved amaase in the housing
allowance to Joseph R. Bronson, our President agmildér of the Office of the Chief Executive Offictr,$3,900 per month. The housing
allowance increase is retroactive to the effeatiate of his apartment lease, consistent with ttragén his employment offer letter.
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PART Il
Item 10: Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Information concerning our board of directors, cattees and directors, including our audit commitee audit committee financial
expert, appear in our Proxy Statement, under tbigoseentitled Proposal No. 1—Election of DirectoiSuch information in this portion of
the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by esfes.

For information with respect to our executive doffis, see Part |, Item 1 of this Annual Report om¥d0-K under the section entitled
“Executive Officers”.

Information concerning Section 16(a) beneficial evahip reporting compliance appears in our ProgyeBtent under the section
entitled “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Rep@rtCompliance”. Such information in this portiohtbe Proxy Statement is incorporated
herein by reference.

We have adopted a Statement of Corporate Code sih8ss Conduct that applies to all directors, efcand employees of FormFactor
and a Statement of Financial Code of Ethics thpliepto our chief executive officer, chief finaakofficer, and other employees in our
finance department. Information concerning thestes@ppears in our Proxy Statement under the geatiitled “Proposal No. 1—Election
of Directors—Corporate Codes”. Such informationhis portion of the Proxy Statement is incorpordtecein by reference.

ltem 11: Executive Compensation

Information concerning executive compensation ahated information appears in our Proxy Statemadeuthe section entitled
“Executive Compensation and Related Informationictsinformation in this portion of the Proxy Statmhis incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 12:  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners aitnagement and Related Stockholder Matters

Information concerning the security ownership ata@ beneficial owners and management and rekttmkholder matters, including
information regarding our equity compensation plampears in our Proxy Statement under the seetititied “Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Relateckholder Matters”. The information in suchtjpor of the Proxy Statement is
incorporated in this Annual Report on Form 10-Kréference.

Item 13: Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Information concerning certain relationships andteal transactions appears in our Proxy Statenreténthe section entitled “Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions”. The in&iom in such portion of the Proxy Statement ioiporated in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K by reference.

Item 14:  Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information concerning principal accountant feed services and the audit committee’s pre-approghties and procedures appears in
our Proxy Statement under the section entitledopBsal No. 2—Ratification of Selection of Indepemidé&uditor”. The information in such
portion of the Proxy Statement is incorporatechis Annual Report on Form 10-K by reference.

48




PART IV

Iltem 15:  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(@)
1)

)

®3)

(b)

Exhibit
Number

The following documents are filed as part of thisndal Report on For 1C-K:

Consolidated Financial Statemer

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfding
Consolidated Balance She:

Consolidated Statements of Inco

Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity (Deficit)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Fl

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfding

Financial Statement Schedu
Schedule —Valuation and Qualifying Accoun

Exhibits:
The exhibits listed in the accompanying Index tdibits are filed or incorporated by reference as pa
of this AnnualReport on Form -K.

Exhibits: The following exhibits are filed as paftthis Annual Report on Form -K:

Exhibit Description

21.01
23.01
24.01
31.01

31.02

32.01*

List of Registrar’s Subsidiaries
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.
Power of Attorney (included in the signature pafjthis Form 1-K).

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant15 U.S.C. Section 7241, as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant15 U.S.C. Section 7241, as adopted pursuant
to Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chiefhancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9@&dbarban«-Oxley Act of 2002

* This exhibit shall not be deemed “filed” for purpssof Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Adi984 or otherwise subject to the
liabilities of that section, nor shall it be deeniecorporated by reference in any filing under Sezurities Act of 1933 or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, whether made before or #fiedate hereof and irrespective of any generalrpuaration language in any filings.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyidthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, théoedmy authorized, in the City of Livermore, StatieCalifornia, on the 1st day of

March 2006.
FORMFACTOR, INC.

By: /s RONALD C. FOSTEF
Ronald C. Foste
Chief Financial Officel

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each efuindersigned whose signature appears below agesténd appoints
Dr. Igor Y. Khandros, Ronald C. Foster and Stuamtlerkadeau, and each of them, the undersignagésand lawful attorneys-in-fact and
agents with full power of substitution, for the ensigned and in the undersigned’s name, placetaad,sn any and all capacities, to sign any
and all amendments to this Annual Report on ForAK Elhd any other documents in connection therewitid, to file the same, with all
exhibits thereto, with the SEC, granting unto ssitdrneys-in-fact and agents, and each of therhpéuler and authority to do and perform
each and every act requisite and necessary toriewlith respect to this Annual Report on Form 1@G&fully to all intents and purposes as
the undersigned might or could do in person, herabifying and confirming all that said attorneysfact and agents, or his or their substitute
or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be doygirtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned hasuteel this Power of Attorney as of the date indidaielow.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on beh
of the Registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Signature Title Date

Principal Executive Officer and Directc

/s/ DR. IGOR Y. KHANDROS Chief Executive Officer and Director March 1, 2006
Dr. Igor Y. Khandros

Principal Financial Officer and Principal
Accounting Officer:
/sl RONALD C. FOSTEF Chief Financial Officer March 1, 2006
Ronald C. Foste

Additional Directors

/sl HOMA BAHRAMI Director March 1, 2006
Homa Bahram
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/sl JOSEPH R. BRONSO

Joseph R. Bronsc

/sl THOMAS J. CAMPBELL

Thomas J. Campbe

/sl HARVEY S. WAGNER

Harvey S. Wagne

/s G. CARL EVERETT, JR

G. CARL EVERETT, JR

/s/ JAMES A. PRESTRIDGI
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of FormBctor, Inc.:

We have completed integrated audits of FormFattor's 2005 and 2004 consolidated financial stat@sand of its internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 200& am audit of its 2003 consolidated financial stegats in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (BdiStates). Our opinions, based on our auditgrasented below.

Consolidated financial statements and financial stement schedule

We have completed integrated audits of FormFattor's 2005 and 2004 consolidated financial stateand of its internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 200, an audit of its 2003 consolidated financialestants in accordance with the standar
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (BdiStates). Our opinions, based on our auditrasented below.

Consolidated financial statements and financiatesteent schedule

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the index appearing under Item 15{&)pesent fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of FormFactor, boad its subsidiaries at December 31, 2005 an@ber 25, 2004, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of thedfyears in the period ended December 31, 200&nioenity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Ametitaddition, in our opinion, the financial statamechedule listed in the index appearing
under Item 15(a) (2) presents fairly, in all maikrespects, the information set forth therein wiesad in conjunction with the related
consolidated financial statements. These finarstébments and financial statement schedule amegpensibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements and financ&@éstent schedule based on our audits
conducted our audits of these statements in acooedaith the standards of the Public Company ActingrOversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perfoenatidit to obtain reasonable assurance about whe#hénancial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit of financial stagets includes examining, on a test basis, evidsapporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made dyagement, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thatadits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

Internal control over financial reportin

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment,dted in Managements Report on Internal Control &ieaincial Reporting appearing
under Item 9A, that the Company maintained effectinternal control over financial reporting as afd@mber 31, 2005 based on criteria
established imnternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway Commission
(COSO0), is fairly stated, in all material respebti@sed on those criteria. Furthermore, in our opinthe Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financegorting as of December 31, 2005, based on ierigstablished internal Control—
Integrated Frameworissued by the COSO. The Company’s managementpsmsible for maintaining effective internal contoser
financial reporting and for its assessment of fifrecéiveness of internal control over financial oefing. Our responsibility is to express
opinions on management’s assessment and on thatiedfeess of the Company’s internal control oveaficial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit of
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internal control over financial reporting in accante with the standards of the Public Company Acting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perfoenadidit to obtain reasonable assurance about wheffieetive internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all materggpects. An audit of internal control over finahceporting includes obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financigloging, evaluating managementissessment, testing and evaluating the desigopardting
effectiveness of internal control, and performingtsother procedures as we consider necessarg girtumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesasuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantiegeinerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over firgad reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainky reflect the transactions and dispositionshaf assets of the company; (ii) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdegtessary to permit preparation of financakestents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and(idyide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygsats that could have a material effect on then@iizd statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeqaate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California

February 24, 2006
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31 December 25

2005 2004

(In thousands, except share
and per share data)

ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 31,217 $ 34,83¢
Marketable securitie 180,391 156,647
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#fttounts of $74 in 2005 a
$41 in 2004 43,967 25,054
Inventories 18,404 11,232
Deferred tax asse 11,39¢€ 7,587
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 7,169 4,760
Total current assets 292,544 240,11¢
Restricted cas 2,250 2,250
Property and equipment, r 81,58¢ 59,35€
Deferred tax asse 4,518 570
Other assets 461 274
Total assets $381,361 $302,56¢

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl $ 26,36¢ $ 17,55¢
Accrued liabilities 20,467 14,68E
Income tax payabl 9,697 —
Deferred revenue and customer advai 3,588 2,770
Deferred rent 313 —

Total current liabilities 60,434 35,011
Deferred revenue and customer advai — 195
Deferred rent and other liabilities 3,138 2,185

Total liabilities 63,572 37,391

Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder' equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par vali
Authorized: 10,000,000 shares issued and outstgndome in 2005 and 20( — —
Common stock, $0.001 par valt
Authorized: 250,000,000 shares issued and outstgndD,236,686 shares in

2005 and 38,885,637 shares in 2 40 39
Additional paic-in capital 268,291 249,14¢
Deferred stoc-based compensation, r (2,495) (5,413
Accumulated other comprehensive |i (359) (730)
Retained earnings 52,312 22,13C

Total stockholders’ equity: 317,78¢ 265,17¢
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $381,361 $302,56¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.

54




FORMFACTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Revenue!

Cost of revenue

Stock-based compensation

Gross margin

Operating expense
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative:
Stock-based compensation

Total operating expenses

Operating income

Interest incom

Interest expens

Other income (expense), net

Income before income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net income

Preferred stock dividen

Amount allocated to participating preferred stodkleos
Net income available to common stockholc

Net income per share available to common stockhsi

Basic
Diluted

Weightec-average number of shares used in per share cabridz

Basic
Diluted

(1) Amounts exclude sto-based compensation, as follo

Research and developmt
Selling, general and administrative
Total

Years Ended

December 31

December 25

December 27

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands, except per share date
$237,49¢ $177,76: $ 98,302
129,62: 90,15¢ 49,929
479 626 612
107,39 86,977 47,761
27,638 19,81:¢ 15,569
41,352 29,01¢ 19,044
3,102 2,033 2,550
72,092 50,864 37,163
35,301 36,113 10,598
4,282 2,450 1,041
— — (38)
(1,091) 500 563
3,191 2,950 1,566
38,492 39,062 12,164
8,310 13,88t 4,649
30,182 25,17¢ 7,515
— — (2,340)
— — (10)
$ 30,18: $ 25,17¢ $ 5,16E
$ 0.76 $ 0.67 $ 0.25
$ 0.73 $ 0.63 $ 0.19
39,547 37,647 21,012
41,59C 40,054 29,280
$ 710 $ 830 $ 893
2,392 1,203 1,657
$ 3,10z $ 2,03: $ 2,55C

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DE FICIT)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2005,
December 25, 2004 and December 27, 2003

Additional Notes Accumulated
Receivable Deferred Other Retained
Common Stock Paid-in from Stock-based Comprehensive Earnings
Shares Amount Capital Stockholders Compensation Loss (Deficit) Total
(In thousands, except share dats

Balances, December 28, 20 4,680,11¢ 5 20,183 (3,447) (10,782) — (10,56%) (4,604)
Repurchase of common sta (100,000) — (200) — — — — (200)
Issuance of common stock in connection with initial

public offering and followen offering, net of issuant

costs 8,755,17: 9 137,82¢€ — — — — 137,83¢
Conversion of redeemable convertible preferredkstoc

into common stock upon initial public offerit 23,002,62I 23 64,872 — — — — 64,895
Conversion of redeemable convertible preferredkstoc

warrants into common stock warra — — 306 — — — — 306
Issuance of common stock pursuant to net exer€ise o

common stock warran 45,33¢ — — — — — — —
Repayment of notes receivable from stockholi — — — 2,786 — — — 2,786
Issuance of common stock pursuant to exercise of

options for casl 425,65: — 1,655 — — — — 1,655
Tax benefit from exercise of common stock opti — — 1,668 — — — — 1,668
Deferred stoc-based compensation, net of cancellati — — 282 — (282) — — —
Recognition of deferred sto-based compensatic — — — — 3,162 — — 3,162
Components of other comprehensive inco

Change in unrealized gain on marketable securitie

net of tax — — — — — 47 — 47
Translation adjustmen — — — — — (51) — (51)
Net income — — — — — — 7,515 7,515

Comprehensive income 7,511

Balances, December 27, 2003 36,808,901 37 226,592 (661) (7,902) 4) (3,048) 215,014
Repayment of notes receivable from stockhol — — — 661 — — — 661
Issuance of common stock pursuant to exercise of

options for casl 1,789,49! 2 10,392 — — — — 10,394
Issuance of common stock under the Employee Stock

Purchase Pla 287,23¢ — 3,439 — — — — 3,439
Tax benefit from exercise of common stock opti — — 8,556 — — — — 8,556
Deferred stoc-based compensation, net of cancellati — — 170 — (170) — — —
Recognition of deferred sto-based compensatic — — — — 2,658 — — 2,659
Components of other comprehensive inco

Change in unrealized loss on marketable securitie

net of tax — — — — — (496) — (496)
Translation adjustmen — — — — — (230) — (230)
Net income — — — — — — 25,17¢ 25,178

Comprehensive income _ 24,452

Balances, December 25, 2004 38,885,63 39 249,14¢ — (5,413) (730) 22,13C  265,17%
Issuance of common stock pursuant to exercise of

options for casl 1,042,37: 1 8,707 — — — — 8,708
Issuance of common stock under the Employee Sto«

Purchase Pla 285,92¢ — 3,683 — — — — 3,683
Tax benefit from exercise of common stock opti — — 6,089 — — — — 6,089
Conversion of warrants to common stc 22,75C — — — — — — —
Deferred stoc-based compensation, net of cancellati — — 663 — (663) — — —
Recognition of deferred sto-based compensatic — — — — 3,581 — — 3,581
Components of other comprehensive inco

Change in unrealized loss on marketable securitie

net of tax — — — — — 113 — 113
Translation adjustmen — — — — — 258 — 258
Net income — — — — — — 30,182 30,182

Comprehensive income 30,553

Balances, December 31, 2005 40,236,680  $40 $ 268,291 $  — $ (2,495 $ (359) $ 52,31z $317,78¢

See accompanying notes are an integral part oé tt@ssolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigesl by operating activitie:

Depreciation and amortizatic
Stoclk-based compensation expel
Deferred income taxe
Tax benefits from employee stock option pl.
Interest income from stockhold’ notes receivabl
Provision for doubtful accounts receiva
Provision for excess and obsolete inventc
Loss on disposal of property and equipm
Changes in assets and liabiliti:

Accounts receivabl

Inventories

Prepaids and other current ast

Accounts payabl

Accrued liabilities

Deferred ren

Deferred revenues

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipme
Purchase of marketable securit
Proceeds from maturities and sales of marketalolergies
Restricted cas

Other assets

Net cash used in investing activiti

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Repayment of notes receivable from stockhol
Repurchase of common sta
Proceeds from issuance of bank line of cr
Repayment of notes payat

Repayment of bank line of credit

Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casvaénts
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
Non-cash financing activities:

Repurchase of common stock in connection with déattan of notes receivable fron

stockholder:

Conversion of redeemable convertible preferredkstonl warrants to common sto

Deferred stoc-based compensatic

Purchases of property and equipment through acs@ayable and accrue

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Interest paic
Income taxes paid (refunde

Years Ended

December 31

December 25

December 27

2005 2004 2003
(In thousands)

$ 30,182 $ 25,17¢ $ 7,51F
16,513 6,987 5,147
3,581 2,659 3,162
(7,702) (4,130) 1,458
6,089 8,556 1,668
— — (160)
33 (61) (150)
10,858 4,462 1,959
80 — 10
(18,966) (5,294) (7,547)
(18,030) (7,668) (5,755)
(2,620) (1,905) 918
2,318 804 3,842
13,670 4,446 933
1,120 114 2,071
623 1,527 (28)
37,749 35,675 15,043
(28,318) (37,727) (11,151)
(223,928¢) (138,6993) (257,091)
198,687 147,96€ 109,25&
— 300 285
(400) (40) 83
(53,959) (28,194) (158,619)
12,391 13,833 139,49C
— 661 2,786
— — (200)
— — 1,000
— — (2,125)
— — (1,375)
12,391 14,494 140,57€
200 6 44
(3,619) 21,981 (2,956)
34,836 12,855 15,811
$ 31,217 $ 34,83¢ $ 12,85¢
$ — $ — $ 200
$ — $ — $ 65,201
$ 663 $ 170 $ 282
$ 8,62C $ 6,157 $ —
$ — $ — $ 38
$ (70) $ 10,271 $ 2,557¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1—Formation and Business of the Company: (Coimtued)

FormFactor, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated?pril 15, 1993 to design, develop, manufactuedi, @and support precision, high
performance advanced semiconductor wafer probescale Company is based in Livermore, Californ@nk to its corporate offices,
research and development, and manufacturing lotatithe Company has offices in California, Japamddry, Germany, Taiwan, Italy and
South Korea.

Fiscal Year

Our fiscal year ends on the last Saturday in Deegnifiscal year ended December 31, 2005 had 53swvéék fiscal years ended
December 25, 2004 and December 27, 2003 had 52svesek.

Initial Public Offering

The SEC declared the Company’s first registratiatesnent, which the Company filed on Form S-1 (Beegiion No. 333-86738) under
the Securities Act of 1933 in connection with thigial public offering of its common stock, effeati on June 11, 2003. Under this registra
statement, the Company registered 6,900,000 sbarsscommon stock, including 900,000 shares stiligethe underwriter’s over-allotment
option, with an aggregate public offering price$86,600,000. The Company registered 6,505,305asktishares on its behalf and 394,695 of
these shares on behalf of certain stockholderseo€ompany, including a director and certain offoaf the Company.

In June 2003 the Company completed its initial mudlfering in which it sold 5,605,305 shares af thompany’s common stock that it
registered on its behalf and 394,695 shares onfuafithe selling stockholders. The shares werd $oi the aggregate public offering price of
$84,000,000. The underwriters exercised their @ietment option to purchase 900,000 shares on 20n2003 and in connection with the
option’s exercise, the Company sold 900,000 shares fagheegate public offering price of $12,600,000e Bhle of shares of common st
by the Company, including the sale of 900,000 shpresuant to the exercise of the over-allotmetibofby the underwriters, resulted in
aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $91,000dpproximately $6,400,000 of which the Compappliad to underwriting discounts
and commissions and approximately $2,700,000 offwttie Company applied to related costs. As atebel Company received
approximately $82,000,000 of the offering proceeds.

The sale of shares of common stock by the selliackbolders resulted in aggregate gross proceedpmbximately $5,500,000,
approximately $2,700,000 of which the selling stoulklers paid to the Company to repay loans fronbpany and approximately
$387,000 of which the selling stockholders appt@dnderwriting discounts and commissions. As teslué selling stockholders received
approximately $2,400,000 of the offering proceeds.

Follow-On Public Offering

The SEC declared the Company’s follow-on regisgtratitatement, which the Company filed on Form Rdgfstration No. 333-109815)
under the Securities Act of 1933 in connection wlith follow-on public offering of its common stoaifective on November 4, 2003. Under
this registration statement, the Company and eest@ickholders of the Company offered 5,750,000eshaf the Company’s common stock,
including 750,000 shares subject to the underveirer-allotment option, with an aggregate publiering price of $149,500,000. The
Company registered 2,249,866 of these shares dimgur50,000 shares subject to the underwriterst-@iotment option, on its behalf and
3,500,134 of these shares on behalf of
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

Note 1—Formation and Business of the Company: (Coimued) (Continued)
certain stockholders of the Company, includingaiarofficers of the Company and an officer wholga director of the Company.

On November 10, 2003, the Company completed itevfebn offering in which it sold 2,249,866 shardste common stock and the
selling stockholders sold 3,500,134 shares of th@@any’s common stock. The sale of shares of constawk by the Company, including
the sale of 750,000 shares pursuant to the exestibe over-allotment option by the underwritgesulted in aggregate gross proceeds of
approximately $58,500,000, approximately $2,600,080&@hich the Company applied to underwriting disets and commissions. As a result,
the Company received approximately $55,900,000@bffering proceeds. The sale of shares of constark by the selling stockholders
resulted in aggregate gross proceeds of approxiyrts®d,000,000, of which $4,100,000 was appliednderwriting discounts and
commissions. As a result, the selling stockholdecgived approximately $86,900,000 of the offepngceeds.

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:
Basis of Consolidation and Foreign Currency Transian

The consolidated financial statements include tw@ants of the Company and its wholly owned subsiel. All material intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Translation gains and losses resulting from thegses of remeasuring into the United States of Acaadbllar the foreign currency
financial statements of the Company’s wholly owsalsidiaries, for which the United States of Amedollar is the functional currency, are
included in operations. For the Company’s inteoval subsidiaries which use their local currencthag functional currency, assets and
liabilities are translated at exchange rates iaatfht the balance sheet date and revenuexpehse accounts at average exchange rates 1
the period. Resulting translation adjustments ecended directly to accumulated other compreheriese

Use of Estimates

In accordance with accounting principles generaflgepted in the United States of America, manageunigizes certain estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts eftassd liabilities at the date of the financiaktsments and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting perloelprimary estimates underlying the Company’srfaial statements include allowance
for doubtful accounts receivable, reserves for pobdvarranty, reserves for obsolete and slow moirimgntory, income taxes and accrual for
other liabilities. Actual results could differ frothose estimates.

Foreign Exchange Management

The Company transacts business in various foraigreccies, primarily the Japanese Yen. We enterfarivard foreign exchange
contracts in an effort to mitigate the risks asatsa with currency fluctuations on certain foreggmrency balance sheet exposures. These
foreign exchange contracts do not qualify for hedgeounting under FASB Statement No. 133, “Accaunfor Derivatives Instruments and
Hedging Activities”, as amended by FASB Statemeot N9, “Amendment of Statement 133 on InstrumantsHedging Activities”. Gains
and losses resulting from the impact of currenahexge rate
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies(Continued)

movements on forward foreign exchange contractgydated to offset certain foreign currency balasiceet exposures are recognized as
income (expense), net in the accompanying congelidacome statements in the period in which theharge rates change. These gains and
losses are intended to partially offset the fora@igmency exchange gains and losses on the undg/yiposures being hedged. The Company
does not use derivative financial instruments fading or speculative purposes.

Realized foreign currency losses for fiscal 2005enapproximately $584,000.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmauith original or remaining maturities of three ntlas or less, at the date of purch:
to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivatesitele money market and various deposit accounts.

Marketable Securities

The Company has classified its marketable secsidtie‘available-for-sale”. All marketable secustirepresent the investment of funds
available for current operations, notwithstandimgjiit contractual maturities. Such marketable séearare recorded at fair value and
unrealized gains and losses, if material, are oembto accumulated other comprehensive loss watilzed. Realized gains and losses on sale
of all such securities are reported in earnings)mated using the specific identification cost metho

Restricted Cash

Under the terms of one of its facility leases, @mmpany provides security to the landlord in therfof letters of credit. As of
December 31, 2005 and December 25, 2004, restrietshul includes $2,250,000 of letters of credit smtiby a certificate of deposit.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (ppalty standard cost which approximates actual ot first-in, first-out basis) or market
value. Reserves for potentially excess and obsolgentory are made based on management’s analfysigentory levels and future sales
forecasts. Once established, the original codt@fQompany’s inventory less the related inventeserve represents the new cost basis of
such products. Reversal of these reserves is remmjonly when the related inventory has been padpr sold.

The Company designs, manufactures and sells aduifom product into a market that has been sutgesiclicality and significant
demand fluctuations. Probe cards are complex pitsdagstom to a specific chip design and have tddtigered on lead-times shorter than
most manufacturers’ cycle times. Probe cards arafaatured in low volumes, therefore, material pases are often subject to minimum
purchase order quantities in excess of the acerabdd. It is not uncommon for the Company to aegpioduction materials and start certain
production activities based on estimated productields and forecasted demand prior to or in exoésg&tual demand for the Company’s
wafer probe cards. These factors make inventonyati@n adjustments part of the normally occurringtof revenue. The aggregate inven
valuation adjustments equal the additions to thientory reserves and were
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies{Continued)

$10,858,000, $4,462,000 and $1,959,000 for thesyeraded December 31, 2005, December 25, 2004 agehiber 27, 2003, respectively.
The Company retains the excess inventory untittistomer’s design is discontinued. The inventory maused to satisfy customer warranty
demand. The Company disposed of inventories of2230®0 in fiscal 2005, $994,000 in fiscal 2004 thigt not dispose of any inventories in
fiscal 2003.

As our advanced wafer probe cards are manufactoiesv volumes and must be delivered on relativakprt lead-times, it is not
uncommon for us to acquire production materialsstad certain production activities based on ettt production yields and forecasted
demand prior to or in excess of actual demand domafer probe cards.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost lessradated depreciation and amortization. Depreciaisgorovided on a straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the asgenerally two to five years. Leasehold improvets@re amortized over their estimated
useful lives or the term of the related lease, wner is less. Upon sale or retirement of asdes;ast and related accumulated depreciation
or amortization are removed from the balance sae@the resulting gain or loss is reflected in apens.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Ass¢o be Disposed of

The Company accounts for impairment of long-livededs in accordance with Statement of FinanciabArting Standards (“SFAS”)
No. 144 “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lohfred Assets”. SFAS No. 144 establishes a unifoaecoanting model for long-
lived assets to be disposed of. SFAS No. 144 algoires that long-lived assets be reviewed for impent whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amouincdisset may not be recoverable. Recoverabiliaggeéts to be held and used is measur
comparing the carrying amount of an asset to estidnandiscounted future net cash flows expectdxtgenerated by the asset. If the
carrying amount of the asset exceeds its estinfatack cash flows, an impairment charge is recagghizy the amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds the fair value ofdbeta

Concentration of Credit Risk and Other Risks and thrtainties

The Company maintains its cash and cash equivaleatscounts with two major financial institutioimsthe United States of America
and in countries where subsidiaries operate. D&pisthese banks may exceed the amounts of inseiaiovided on such deposits. The
Company has not experienced any losses on its iepbsash and cash equivalents.

Carrying amounts of certain of the Company’s finahinstruments including cash and cash equivajemtsounts receivable and
accounts payable approximate fair value due to #teirt maturities. Estimated fair values for méakée securities, which are separately
disclosed elsewhere, are based on quoted marketsgdar the same or similar instruments.

The Company markets and sells its products to @warase of customers and generally does not reguitateral. In fiscal 2005, four
customers accounted for approximately 12%, 15%, aB&23% of revenues. In fiscal 2004, four cust@aecounted for approximately
12%, 15%, 19% and of revenues. In
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FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies{Continued)

fiscal 2003, four customers accounted for approiémgal 0%, 12%, 13% and 30% of revenues. At DecerBlheR005, three customers
accounted for approximately 12%, 13% and 33% obants receivable. At December 25, 2004, three ouste accounted for approximately
13%, 18% and 32% of accounts receivable. The Coyngpplied a threshold of 10% to disclose such custs.

The Company operates in the intensely competigwgiconductor industry, primarily dynamic randomessmemory, or DRAM, whic
has been characterized by price erosion, rapicdht#obical change, short product life, cyclical metrgatterns and heightened foreign and
domestic competition. Significant technological mpes in the industry could affect operating resadtgersely.

Certain components that meet the Company’s reqeinésrare available only from a limited number gigiers. The rapid rate of
technological change and the necessity of devedppimd manufacturing products with short lifecyatesy intensify these risks. The inability
to obtain components as required, or to develaprative sources, if and as required in the futtweld result in delays or reductions in
product shipments, which in turn could have a nigtadverse effect on the Company’s business, @ii@deondition, results of operations or
cash flows.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when title andofisééss have passed to the customer, there is g&r®uevidence of an arrangement,
delivery has occurred or services have been reddtre sales price is fixed or determinable, arictibility of the resulting receivable is
reasonably assured. Revenues from product satestomers other than distributors are recognizeuh shipment or delivery depending on
the terms of sale. Although the Company’s distidbitas no price protection rights or rights to retproduct, other than for warranty claims,
the Company defers recognition of revenue andaeledst of revenues, on a gross basis, from itslaisor until the distributor confirms an
order from its customer.

In multiple element arrangements, the Company deters whether there is more than one unit of adboginTo the extent that the
deliverables are separable into multiple unitsaafoainting, the Company then allocates the totabfesuch arrangements to the individual
units of accounting using the residual method. Thepany recognizes revenue for each unit of acauyidepending on the nature of the
deliverable(s) comprising the unit of accounting.

The Company offers product maintenance and repa@ngements to its customers. Amounts due fronoowsts under these
arrangements are initially recorded as deferredmegs. The fees are recognized as revenue orighsiiae basis over the service period and
related costs are recorded as incurred.

Revenues from the licensing of the Company’s deaighmanufacturing technology, which have beemiificant to date, are
recognized over the term of the license agreemewhen the significant contractual obligations haeen fulfilled.

Warranty Accrual

The Company offers warranties on certain productsracords a liability for the estimated futuretsasssociated with warranty claims,
which is based upon historical experience and tha@any’s estimate of the level of future costs. ifatly costs are reflected in the income
statement as a cost of
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revenues. A reconciliation of the changes in then@any’s warranty liability for the year ending Dedger 31, 2005 and December 25, 2004
follows (in thousands)

Years Ended
December 31 December 25

2005 2004
Warranty accrual beginning balance $ 560 $ 446
Reserve for warranties issued during the 893 936
Settlements made during the year (942) (822)
Warranty accrual ending balance (included in aattiadbilities) $ 511 $ 560

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed athand consist primarily of personnel costs, gment materials and other
related costs.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs, included in sales and markegirgenses, are expensed as incurred. Advertisingnegg in fiscal years 2005, 2004
and 2003 were approximately $190,000, $169,0006246,000, respectively.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under thagions of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income €aX Under this method,
deferred tax assets and liabilities are determbeesd on the difference between the financialrsiate and tax bases of assets and liabilities
using enacted tax rates in effect for the yearliictvthe differences are expected to affect taxeitgeme. Valuation allowances are
established when necessary to reduce deferredgsatsato the amounts expected to be realized.

The Company has no income tax audits pending bigdeauthority in all jurisdictions as of Decembdr, 2005. The Company
establishes reserves for tax related uncertaiitithee application of tax regulations. The Compesgognizes liabilities for anticipated tax
audit issues in the U.S. and other tax jurisdidibased on its estimate of tax liabilities of wieethdditional tax payments are probable. The
Company regularly assesses the adequacy of thevessa light of changing facts and circumstansesh as the expiration of statute of
limitation. If the Company ultimately determinestipayments of these amounts are unnecessarypthpdy reverses the liability and
recognizes a tax benefit during the period in whiehCompany determines that the liability is noger necessary. The Company records an
additional charge in its provision for income taxeshe period in which it determines that the releal tax liability is less than the Company
expects the ultimate assessment will be. The Coynpalieves that adequate reserves have been ptbiddmver any potential additional tax
assessment, as well as the related net interest.

In July 2005, the Financial Accounting Standardaiflq FASB) issued an Exposure Draft of a proposésfpretation “Accounting for
Uncertain Tax Positions-an interpretation of FASBt&ment No 109”. On January 11, 2006, the FASBanced to move back the effective
date of the proposed Interpretation. The effedfiate of this Interpretation for the Company is be@ig January 1, 2007. The Company is
currently analyzing the proposed Interpretation basl not determined the potential impact on itssBbdated Financial Statements.
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Segments

The Company operates in one segment for the dedéyelopment, manufacture, sale and support ofgioec high performance
advanced semiconductor wafer probe cards, usingn@@surement of profitability to manage its busines

Stock-based Compensation

The Company uses the intrinsic value method of Antiag Principles Board Opinion No. 25 (“APB No."25'Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees,” in accounting for its empéogtock options, and presents disclosure of prmddnformation required under SFAS
No. 123 “SFAS No. 123"), “Accounting for Stock-Based Compation”. Had compensation cost for the Companyslksbption grants to
employees been determined based on the fair vafug stock option at the date of grant consistétit the provisions of SFAS No. 123,
Company’s net income and net income (loss) avaladtommon stockholders per share would have tieamged to the pro-forma amounts
as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Years Ended
December 31 December 25 December 27

2005 2004(1) 2003(1)
Reported net income $ 30,182 $25,17¢ $ 7,51
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expenssdied!in
reported net income available to common stockheldest of
tax 2,923 1,889 2,421
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensatioarese
determined under the minimum and fair value metHodall

awards, net of ta (11,574) (7,468) (8,406)
Pro forma net income $ 21,531 $19,59¢ $ 1,53C
Net income per share available to common stockhslder shar:

Basic:

As reported $ 0.76 $ 0.67 $ 0.2
Pro forma $ 0.54 $ 0.52 $ (0.04)

Diluted:

As reported $ 0.73 $ 0.63 $ 0.19
Pro forma $ 052 $ 0.49 $ (0.04)

(1) For fiscal 2003 and 2004, stock-based compensatipanse has been revised to reflect (1) the ingfaam immediate expense for
certain fully vested options granted in June 2@@8ch the Company had been amortizing over fourgjeand (2) a decrease in the fair
value of options under the ESPP plan and an inengascome taxes related to fair value of awangs wh computational errors. These
revisions resulted in a net decrease of pro-foretantome of $1.0 million in fiscal 2003 resultimgpro forma net income per share
available to common stockholders decreasing frord2$fer share (basic and diluted) to a loss of#pe¥ share (basic and diluted) au
net increase of pro-forma net income of $1.6 millio fiscal 2004 resulting in pro forma net incomailable to common stockholders
increasing from $0.48 per share to $0.52 per sioadgasic and from $0.45 per share to $0.49 perestiituted.
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The Company has adopted the disclosure only pangsof SFAS No. 123. Prior to the Company’s inifiablic offering in June 2003,
the Company calculated the fair value of each opbio the date of grant using the minimum value wetis prescribed by SFAS No. 123.
Therefore, the pro forma net income (loss) andfpnma net income (loss) per share may not be reptasve for future periods. The
assumptions used are as follows:

ESPP Year ESPP Year
Stock Options Years Endec Ended Ended
December 31 December 25 December 27 December 31 December 25
2005 2004 2003 2005 2004
Risk-free interest rate 4.17% 3.46% 3.00% 3.23% 1.64%
Expected life (in years 4.5 5 5 0.5 0.5
Dividend yield — — — — —
Expected volatility 48% 48% 67% 48% 56%

The weighted-average per share grant date faievafloptions granted during the years ended DeeeBih 2005, December 25, 2004
and December 27, 2003 was $11.12, $9.43 and $@20ectively. The weighted average estimated &lirevof purchase rights granted under
the 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan was $9.08&8d per share for fiscal 2005 and fiscal 208dpectively.

The Company accounts for equity instruments issogmhnemployees in accordance with the provisions of SN&S123 and Emergir
Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 96-18, “Acctug for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Qtiiean Employees for Acquiring, or
in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services” ainirequire that such equity instruments are reabad¢heir fair value on the measurement
date. The measurement of stock-based compensatsuibject to periodic adjustment as the underlgipgjty instruments vest.

Net Income Per Share

Basic net income per share available to commorkbtidders is computed by dividing net income avd#dab common stockholders by
the weighted-average number of common shares adistafor the period. Diluted net income per shiareomputed giving effect to all
potential dilutive common stock, including optiomsrrants, common stock subject to repurchase eteemable convertible preferred stock.
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A reconciliation of the numerator and denominatediin the calculation of basic and diluted nebime per share follows (in
thousands):

Years Ended
December 31 December 25 December 27

2005 2004 2003

Basic net income per shari
Numerator:

Net income available to common stockholders $ 30,182 $25,17¢ $ 5,16E
Denominator

Weightec-average common stock outstand 39,557 37,762 21,180

Less: Weighted-average shares subject to repurchase (10) (115) (168)
Weighted-average shares used in computing basiacmne per

share 39,547 37,647 21,012
Diluted net income per share
Numerator:
Net income available to common stockholc $ 30,18 $25,17¢ $ 5,165
Add preferred dividends for each Series considditedive — — 310
Net income available to common stockholc $30,18: $25,17¢ $ 5/47¢
Denominator
Weighted-average shares used in computing basiocmne per

share 39,547 37,647 21,012
Add stock options, warrants and common stock suilhgec

repurchass 2,043 2,407 2,422
Add convertible preferred shares for each Seriesidered

dilutive — — 5,846
Weightedaverage shares used in computing diluted net in

sﬁqare J PHANg Al 41,590 40,054 29,280

The following outstanding options and warrants wexeluded from the computation of diluted net ineoper share as they had an
antidilutive effect (in thousands):

December 31 December 25 December 27

2005 2004 2003
Options to purchase common stock 863 708 1,122
Restricted stoc 10 — —
Convertible preferred stoc — — 17,15¢€
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Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) includes foreign cuydranslation adjustments and unrealized gairssés) on available-for-sale
securities, the impact of which has been excludeah fnet income and reflected as components of tddkr’'s equity. The component of
comprehensive income (loss) is reported on the @myip consolidated statements of stockholders’tgqui

Years Ended

December 31, December 25, December 27,
2005 2004 2003
Net income $ 30,182 $25,17¢ $7,51t
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on marketablergexs) net of
tax 113 (496) 47
Foreign currency translation adjustments 258 (230) (51)
Comprehensive income $ 30,55: $ 24,452 $7,511

Components of accumulated comprehensive loss veeialaws:

December 31, 200! December 25, 200-

Unrealized loss on marketable securities, netyof ta $ (335) $ (448)
Cumulative translation adjustments (24) (282)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (359) $ (730

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123@are-Based Payment”. SFAS No. 123(R) requiresi@yep stock options and
rights to purchase shares under stock participgians to be accounted for under the fair valuéhotstand eliminates the ability to account
for these instruments under the intrinsic valuehoétprescribed by APB Opinion No. 25, and allowadar the original provisions of SFAS
No. 123. SFAS No. 123(R) requires the use of aogiricing model for estimating fair value, whiishamortized to expense over i
requisite service periods. SFAS No. 123(R) alloarsgfither prospective recognition of compensatiymease or retrospective recognition,
which may be back to the original issuance of S&S123 or only to interim periods in the year dbption.

SFAS 123(R) also requires the benefits of tax diéolug in excess of recognized compensation exptense reported as a financing c:
flow, rather than as an operating cash flow asqoifesd under current accounting rules. This reeuéet will reduce net operating cash flows
and increase net financing cash flows in periotisr aidoption. Total cash flow will remain unchandexhn cash flow as it would have been
reported under prior accounting rules.

As permitted by SFAS 123, the Company currentlyoaots for share-based payments to employees ushBy@pinion 25's intrinsic
value method. As a consequence, we generally réez®go compensation cost for employee stock optamuspurchases under our Employee
Stock Purchase Plan. Although the adoption of SERRR)’s fair value method will have no adverse impacbonbalance sheet or total ¢
flows, it will affect our net income and dilutedreings per share. The actual effects of adoptingSE23(R) will depend on numerous
factors including the amounts of share-based patgnen

67




FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies{Continued)
granted in the future, the valuation model the Canypuses to value future share-based paymentsptogees and estimated forfeiture rates.

On April 14, 2005, the Securities and Exchange Casion announced that the effective date of SFASI28(R) will be extended to
annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005. Tdragany will adopt this new standard on January0062using the modified prospective
method and a Black-Scholes valuation model. Manageimelieves that the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R)have a material impact on net

income and net income per share.

Note 3—Balance Sheet Components:

Marketable Securities
Marketable securities at December 31, 2005 combatéhe following (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Market
Cost Gains Losses Value
Municipal bonds $158,78¢ $27 $(284) $158,53]
U.S. government agencies 22,00C — (140) 21,86C
Total $180,78¢ $27 $(424) $180,39’
In Loss Position for In Loss Position for
Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Gross Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Fair Fair
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses
Municipal bonds $ 36,397 $(234) $15,69¢ $(127) $52,09¢ $(362)
U.S. government agencies — — 21,860 (63) 21,860 (63)
Total $36,397 $(234) $37,55¢ $(190) $73,95°  $(424)

The Company’s unrealized losses of $424,000 on etabke securities in fiscal 2005 were due primddlynterest rate movements.
Management does not believe that any of the uzezhlosses represented an other-than-temporaryrimgrat based upon its evaluation of

available evidence as of December 31, 2005.
Marketable securities at December 25, 2004 consitéhe following (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized
Market
Cost Gains Losses Value
Corporate bonds and notes $ 3,11t $— $ 23) $ 3,092
Municipal bonds 121,481 4 (162) 121,32:
U.S. government agencies 32,49¢ — (267) 32,232
Total $157,09¢ $ 4 $(452) $156,64:
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Contractual maturities of marketable securitiesfd3ecember 31, 2005 were as follows (in thousands)

Market

Cost Value
Due in one year or less $ 95,087 $ 94,841
Due after one year or to five ye: 26,41€ 26,351
Due after after five years to 10 ye: 24,983 24,931
Due after 10 years 34,302 34,26¢

$180,78¢ $180,39:

For fiscal 2005 realized gains and realized lossesales or maturities of marketable securitie®evimmaterial. For fiscal 2004, the
Company did not incur any realized gains or redlipsses on sales of marketable securities.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Acous

Accounts receivable consisted of trade accountsvable at December 31, 2005 and December 25, 20@de accounts receivable are
recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bearrdagest. The Company estimates allowances fobtfioluaccounts based primarily on
analysis of historical trends and experience. Tamgany reviews its allowance for doubtful accountthly. Past due balances over 90
days and over a specified amount are reviewed ioshailly for collectibility. The Company does notieaany off-balance-sheet credit
exposure related to its customers.

Asset Retirement Obligation

The Company accounts for the retirement of tanding-lived assets and the associated asset retiternsts in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SPASY. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligas”. SFAS No. 143 requires that
the fair value of a liability for an asset retiramebligation be recognized in the period in whitcis incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair
value can be made. In accordance with SFAS No. thé3air value of the liability is added to thergeng amount of the associated asset and
this additional carrying amount is amortized over life of the asset. The Company’s asset retir¢mmigiigation is associated with its
commitment to return property subject to an opegakease in Jubei City Hsinchu, Taiwan to origioahdition upon lease termination. The
Company estimated that as of December 31, 200Ss@nxpected future cash flows of approximately FXI@would be required to fulfil
these obligations.

The Company has recorded an asset retirement tibligat approximately $144,000 and a correspondtiggease in leasehold
improvements. This amount represents the preséunt e expected future cash flows associated vethrning the leased property to original
condition. This amount is subject to foreign examnate fluctuations and has been translated tiseigxchange rate at December 31, 2005.
The leasehold improvements are being amortize@poettiation and amortization expense over the tdriine lease. During the year ended
December 31, 2005, approximately $3,000 of theelealsl improvements were amortized to expense.
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Inventories

Inventories, net of reserves, consisted of the¥alhg (in thousands):

December 31 December 25

2005 2004
Raw materials $ 7,68¢ $ 4,58¢
Work-in-progress 9,971 6,174
Finished goods 747 472

$ 18,404 $ 11,232

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of the followingljousands):

Useful Life December 31 December 25

(in years) 2005 2004
Machinery and equipment 5 $ 57,443 $ 30,03t
Computer equipment and softws 3 11,84¢ 8,704
Furniture and fixture 5 3,932 2,100
Leasehold improvemen lto7 40,553 29,814
Construction-in-progress N/A 11,371 18,487
125,15z 89,138
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization (43,564) (29,782)

$ 81,58¢ $ 59,35¢

Depreciation and amortization of property and emdpt for the years ended December 31, 2005, Deae?dh@004 and December 27,
2003 was approximately $14,874,000, $6,987,000650@86,000, respectively.

Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consisted of the following (inousands):

December 31 December 25

2005 2004
Accrued compensation and benefits $ 13,68t $ 10,401
Accrued commission 457 556
Accrued warrant 511 560
Other accrued expenses 5,753 3,168

$ 20,40¢ $14,68¢

Note 4—Derivative Financial Instruments

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had one faherchange contracts outstanding, requiring the @ to sell 2,524 million
Yen for $21.5 million with a contract rate of 116.8en per U.S. dollar.
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The estimated fair value for this contract was $2illion as of December 31, 2005. The contracab®e due on January 27, 2006.

Note 5—Commitments and Contingencies:
Environmental Matters

The Company is subject to U.S. federal, state aoal | and foreign governmental laws and regulatiefeting to the protection of the
environment, including those governing the discharpollutants into the air and water, the manag@rand disposal of hazardous
substances and wastes, the clean-up of contamisié#sdand the maintenance of a safe workplaceChmepany believes that it complies
with all material environmental laws and regulatighat apply to the Company. In late 2003 and

2004, the Company received an aggregate of sixemtf violation from the California Departmentlafxic Substances Control, the Bay

Area Air Quality Management District, the City oiviermore Water Resources Division and the Califaivision of Occupational Safety

and Health at various times regarding violationsartain environmental regulations. In fiscal 20, Company received two notices of
violation from the City of Livermore regarding vailon of certain applicable discharge limits. Facle notice received, the Company
promptly took appropriate steps to address alhefviolations noted, believes that all such violasi were addressed, paid the applicable fines
ranging from $150 to $7,750 and confirmed suchesgive steps. Notwithstanding the Company’s coivedctions, certain of the notices of
violation remain unresolved and the Company maguigect to penalties based thereupon.

While the Company believes that it is in complianéth all material environmental laws and regulatidhat apply to the Company, in
the future, the Company may receive additional mmvnental violation notices, and if received, finedolution of the violations identified by
these notices could harm the Company’s operatisigitse New laws and regulations, stricter enfora@noé existing laws and regulations, the
discovery of previously unknown contamination & @ompany’s or others’ sites or the imposition @fvrcleanup requirements could
adversely impact the Company’s operations, whichld/bave a negative effect on the Company’s opegatsults and cash flows.

Leases and Purchase Obligations

The Company leases its facilities in Livermore,ifoabia. In addition to the base rental, the Compresponsible for certain taxes,
insurance and maintenance costs. Each of theditiéadincludes research and development, admatietr, sales and marketing, and
operations functions. Internationally, the Compleases offices in Germany, Italy, Taiwan, Southd&oand Japan, which include sales and
marketing, research and development, and operdtimations depending on the location.
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The Company leases its facilities under operatiagé agreements that expire at various dates th&Q4P. Future minimum payments
under noncancelable operating leases and purchéigatmns are as follows:

Payments Due by Fiscal Yea
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010  After 2010 Total
(In thousands)

Operating lease $3,174 $3,064 $3,134 $3,21¢€ $3,12t $5,29C $21,00t
Inventory and related purchase obligati 452 — — — — — 452
Other purchase obligations 990 — — — — — 990
Total $4,61€ $3,064 $3,134 $3,21¢ $3,12E $5,29C $22,44

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, P@@gmber 25, 2004 and December 27, 2003 was apmatety $3,471,000,
$3,505,000 and $3,417,000, respectively.

Inventory and related purchase obligations reptga@rcthase commitments for silicon wafers and othaterials. Other purchase
obligations represent commitments related to timsizaction of leasehold improvements for our nefices in Japan.

Indemnification Arrangements

The Company from time to time in the ordinary ceuo$ its business enters into contractual arrangésmeith third parties that include
indemnification obligations. Under these contrattweangements, the Company has agreed to defesheininify and hold the third party
harmless from and against certain losses. Theaagements may limit the time within which an indéination claim can be made, the type
of the claim and the total amount that the Compazarybe required to pay in connection with the indiéication obligation. In addition, the
Company has entered into indemnification agreemeititsits directors and officers, and the Comparytaws contain indemnification
obligations in favor of the Company'’s directordiadrs and agents. It is not possible to determineasonably estimate the maximum
potential amount of future payments under theserimtfication obligations due to the varying ternisach obligations, the history of prior
indemnification claims and the unique facts andwinstances involved in each particular contracduangement and in each potential future
claim for indemnification. The Company has not bag requests for indemnification under these aearents. The Company has not
recorded any liabilities for these indemnificatmmangements on the Company’s condensed consalilatance sheet as of December 31,

2005.

Legal Matters

From time to time, the Company may become invoinddgal proceedings in the ordinary course of heiss. Other than as set forth
below, management of the Company is not currentiyra of any matters that will have a material agdgeffect on the financial position,
results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

On February 24, 2004, the Company filed in the $8outhern District Court, located in Seoul, Sokititea, two separate complaints

against Phicom Corporation, a Korean corporatibegiemg infringement of a total of four Korean patie issued to the Company. One
complaint alleges that Phicom is infringing the Qamy’s Korean Patent Nos. 252,457, entitled “MetbbHBabricating Interconnections
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Using Cantilever Elements and Sacrificial Subssidtend 324,064, entitled “Contact Tip StructurasNlicroelectronic Interconnection
Elements and Methods of Making Same”. The otherpdaimt alleges Phicom is infringing the Company'sr&n Patent Nos. 278,342,
entitled “Method of Altering the Orientation of B Elements in a Probe Card Assembly,” and 399 &ititled “Probe Card Assembly”.
Both complaints seek injunctive relief. The couwti@ns are part of the Company’s ongoing effortprmtect the intellectual property
embodied in its proprietary technology, includitgyMicroSpring interconnect technology.

On or about March 19, 2004, Phicom filed in the é&&r Intellectual Property Office (“KIPO”) invaligitactions challenging the validity
of some or all of the claims of each of the foun@any patents at issue in the Seoul infringemetidrae: KIPO dismissed Phicom’s
challenges against all four of the patents-at-isBhécom appealed the dismissals of the challetigb®e Korean Patent Court.

On or about October 27, 2005, the Korean Patentt@saued rulings holding invalid certain claimstab of the Company’s Korean
patents. The two Korean patents affected by thesides are Nos. 278,342, entitled “Method of Albgrithe Orientation of Probe Elements in
a Probe Card Assembly,” and 399,210, entitled “Bréhrd Assembly”. The Company is appealing thesisidas to the Korean Supreme
Court. The Company is also continuing its enforcenaetion against Phicom under these patents iSéwil Southern District Court,
including certain claims from both patents thateveot addressed by the Korean Patent Court desision

On or about February 9, 2006, the Korean Patentt@sgsued a ruling declining to render a decisiarPhiicom’s appeal regarding the
Company’s Korean Patent No. 252,457, entitled “Mdtbf Fabricating Interconnections Using CantileZEments and Sacrificial
Substrates,” instead re-opening the case for fugtaceedings to be handled by a new panel of thatent court judges. Meanwhile this
leaves unchanged the decision of KIPO affirminguhiidity of the claims of Patent No. 252,457. Qrabout the same date, the Korean
Patent Court invalidated ten claims of the Compat§orean Patent No. 324,064, entitled “ContactStiuctures for Microelectronic
Interconnection Elements and Methods of Making Saing did not address some sixty-one other claifithe 324,064 patent that were not
before the Patent Court. Following normal practibe,basis for these rulings was not given andevriopinions explaining the rulings would
typically be expected in one to three weeks. Thengany is evaluating the substantive merits of greapto the Korean Supreme Court
regarding the 324,064 patent. The Company is aatiraiing its enforcement action against Phicomeurmbth the 252,457 and 324,064
Korean patents in the Seoul Southern District Ganctuding certain claims from the 324,064 patiat were not addressed or affected by
the Korean Patent Court.

The proceedings in Korea do not affect the Compmaogiresponding U.S. and other international patent

On March 4, 2005, the Company filed a patent iigieiment lawsuit in the United States District Cdartthe District of Oregon against
Phicom charging that it is willfully infringing fouJ.S. patents that cover key aspects of the Coyipavafer probe cards. The complaint in
this action alleges that Phicom has incorporatedthmpany’s proprietary technology into its produanid seeks both injunctive relief and
monetary damages. The U.S. patents identifieddrctdmplaint are U.S. Patent No. 5,974,662, entifiéethod of Planarizing Tips of Probe
Elements of a Probe Card Assembly”, U.S. Patent@\®46,247, entitled “Probe Card Assembly and &g Methods of Using Same”, U.S.
Patent No. 6,624,648, entitled “Probe Card Asseinéhd U.S. Patent No. 5,994,152, entitled “Fabtiiog
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Interconnects and Tips Using Sacrificial SubstratEsree of the patents at issue in the U.S. abstsuntially identical to those at issue in the
Company’s litigation with Phicom in Korea. On oroaib August 2, 2005, Phicom answered the complairtdmying infringement, alleging
defenses and asserting counterclaims seeking adjiahs on the validity and enforceability of therpany’s patents and whether Phicom is
infringing those patents. Phicom also filed a motidth the Oregon District Court seeking that theduit be transferred to the U.S. District
Court for the Northern District of California, wiids where the Company’s principal place of busiriedocated, and Phicom’s motion was
denied without prejudice by the District Court. @mabout February 7, 2006, the District Court issaescheduling order as jointly proposed
by the parties that culminates in a pretrial cosfiee on May 30, 2007, followed by a two to four ki@l at a date to be set by the Court. As
of the date of this Form 10-K, discovery has begnd the parties are exchanging written prelimir@nytentions regarding infringement and
validity.

The Company has incurred and could in the futucarimaterial legal expenses in connection withéHegal proceedings.

One or more third parties have initiated challerigdsreign patent offices against other of the @amy’s patents. For example, on or
about October 6, 2004, a third party filed an irdation proceeding with KIPO relating to the ComyarKorean Patent No. 312,872. After
briefing, KIPO dismissed the challenge and uphleédvialidity of all of the claims of the Company’'si#¢an Patent No. 312,872. The matter
was appealed by the third party to the Korean R&enrt. On or about April 22, 2005, an invalidatiaction was filed with KIPO against the
Companys Korean Patent No. 467,997. KIPO has yet to roléhis invalidation action. By way of further exalepchallenges against three
the Company’s Taiwan patents, Taiwan Patent Nd®.155, 198,158 and 121,535, have been filed iMtiean Intellectual Property Office
(“TIPO"). TIPO has not issued rulings in any of tradidity challenge proceedings. While the Comphaljeves that it does not have a
material monetary damages exposure in these varivaldity proceedings, it is possible the Companly incur material attorneys’ fees in
defending its intellectual property at issue insthehallenges.

Note 6—Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock:

Upon the closing of the Company’s initial publidesfng in June 2003, all outstanding shares ofeatble convertible preferred stock
converted into an equal number of shares of comstmrk.

Prior to the Company’s initial public offering imide 2003, holders of redeemable convertible prefestock Series B-G and Series A
were entitled to cumulative dividends and non-cuative dividends, respectively, which were payabhemwand as declared by the Board of
Directors. No dividends on common stock could bie patil all dividends on the redeemable conveetipteferred stock were paid. Also, the
holders of redeemable convertible preferred stoeteventitled to participate on an as convertedshiasiny dividends paid on common stock.
Note 7—Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit):

Preferred Stock

The Company has authorized 10,000,000 shares efsigrthted preferred stock, $0.001 par value, nbmdizch is issued and
outstanding. The Company’s Board of Directors stielermine the rights,

74




FORMFACTOR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

Note 7—Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit): (Continued)

preferences, privileges and restrictions of thégured stock, including dividends rights, convensi@hts, voting rights, terms of redemption,
liquidation preferences, sinking fund terms andrthmber of shares constituting any series or tiseggdation of any series.

Common Stock

Each share of common stock has the right to one Vidte holders of common stock are also entitle@d¢eive dividends whenever fur
are legally available and when declared by the @o&Directors, subject to the prior rights of heisl of all classes of stock outstanding
having priority rights as to dividends. No dividernigave been declared or paid as of December 35, 200

Warrants

In September 2000, the Company entered into a sgeaamtechnology license agreement to transfent@oly to a related party. In
connection with the license agreement, the Compssued a warrant to purchase 45,500 shares ofsSeriedeemable convertible preferred
stock, now common stock, at an exercise price &f(Lper share. The warrant was fully vested upantgand nonforfeitable. This warrant
expired on September 22, 2005 unexercised. Thedhie of this warrant, estimated on the date ahgusing a Black-Scholes model, of
$306,220 has been capitalized as an other asskis aring amortized against revenue using thagstréine method over the expected life of
the technology of five years.

Stock Option Plans

The Company has reserved shares of common stogssfaance under the 1996 Stock Option Plan, thentinee Option Plan and the
Management Incentive Option Plan (the “Plans”). &mall Plans, the Board of Directors may issueritive stock options to employees and
nonqualified stock options and stock purchase signiconsultants or employees of the Company. Tdegdof Directors has the authority to
determine to whom options will be granted, the nandf shares, the term and exercise price (whionaibe less than fair market value at
date of grant for incentive stock options or 85%adf market value for nonqualified stock optiongxan employee owns stock representing
more than 10% of the outstanding shares, the pfieach share shall be at least 110% of the faiketaalue, as determined by the Board of
Directors. Generally, all options are immediatetgreisable and vest 25% on the first anniversamhefvesting commencement date and on a
monthly basis thereafter for a period of an adddichree years. The options have a maximum tertarojears. Unvested option exercise:
subject to repurchase upon termination of the hitddgatus as an employee or consultant. At Dece®be2005 and December 25, 2004,
none and 33,895 shares of common stock, respegtivete subject to the Company’s right of repurehas

On April 18, 2002, the Board of Directors adoptiee 2002 Equity Incentive Plan (“2002 Plan”), whimdcame effective upon the
effective date of the initial public offering ofégfCompany’s common stock. The 2002 Plan provideth#ogrant of both incentive stock
options and nonqualified stock options, restrictimtk and stock bonuses. The incentive stock optiealy be granted to the employees and
the nonqualified stock options, and all awards othan incentive stock options, may be granted to
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Note 7—Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit): (Continued)

employees, officers, directors and consultants. &Xezcise price of incentive stock options musableast equal to the fair market value of
common stock on the date of grant. The exercise i incentive stock options granted to 10% stottkérs must be at least equal to 110¢
the fair market value of common stock on the déigrant and vest over five years. Options grantedieu the 2002 Plan are exercisable as
determined by the Board of Directors, and genesatlyire ten years from date of grant. The Compaasyreserved 500,000 shares of com
stock for issuance under the 2002 Plan plus ameshehich have been reserved but not issued uhdeZampany’s existing Plans, plus any
shares repurchased at the original purchase pnit@y options which expire, thereafter. With tifeativeness of the 2002 Plan, the
Company will not grant any options under the 1986 Option Plan, the Incentive Option Plan andNtaagement Incentive Option Plan.
In addition, on each January 1, the number of shavailable for issuance under the 2002 Plan wiincreased by an amount equal to 5.0%
of the outstanding shares of common stock on teegaling day.

Activity under the Plans and the 2002 Plan is sghfbelow (in thousands, except share and peegtan):

Outstanding Options

Weighted

Average

Shares Number of Aggregate Exercise

Available Shares Exercise Price Price Price

Balances, December 28, 2002 3,233,25. 5,704,028 $ 0.1¢-8.0C $ 32,12t $ 5.63
Additional shares reserve 500,00( — — — —
Options grante! (1,807,54) 1,807,54° 6.5(-26.07 29,571 16.36
Options exercise — (425,657) 0.1¢-9.00 (1,655) 3.89
Options canceled 399,99¢ (399,996 2.5(-19.50 (2,575) 6.44
Balances, December 27, 2003 2,325,70( 6,685,92: 0.1(-26.07 57,46€ 8.60
Additional shares reserve 1,840,50: — — — —
Options grante: (1,287,32) 1,287,32! 17.0€-27.16 26,674 20.72
Awards grantes (38,432 — — — —
Options exercise — (1,789,499 0.17%-20.49 (10,3949) 5.80
Options canceled 361,007 (361,007 3.25-21.84 (4,560) 12.63
Balances, December 25, 2004 3,201,45. 5,822,74t $0.1(-$27.1¢ $ 69,18¢ $11.8¢
Additional shares reserved 1,944,28: — — — —
Options grante: (2,476,547 2,476,54: 20.64-28.14 61,63¢ 24.89
Awards grantes (17,000 — — — —
Options exercise —  (1,042,37) 0.8(-23.56 (8,708) 8.36
Options expiret — (15,000) 0.10 Q) 0.10
Options canceled 653,93¢ (653,939 6.0(-27.24 (10,69€) 15.99
Balances, December 31, 2005 3,306,12¢ 6,587,97° $ 0.1(-28.14 $111,42( $16.91
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The options outstanding and vested by exercise pti®©ecember 31, 2005 are as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Vested
Weighted Average

Weighted Weighted
Number of Remaining Average Average
Options Contractual Exercise Number Exercise

Range of Exercise Price Qutstanding Life in Years Price Vested Price
$0.50 500 1.83 0.50 500 0.50
$0.80 3,16€ 1.98 0.80 3,16€ 0.80
$1.50 600 3.00 1.50 600 1.50
$2.50 10,67¢ 3.19 2.50 10,67¢ 2.50
$3.25 192,551 3.44 3.25 192,551 3.25
$3.75- $5.50 278,23¢ 4.70 5.49 278,23¢ 5.49
$6.00 147,03¢ 5.1C 6.00 147,03¢ 6.00
$6.50 1,482,91¢ 6.14 6.50 817,251 6.50
$7.50- $8.00 75,88¢ 6.37 7.89 64,41¢ 7.91
$9.00 83,331 7.39 9.00 30,861 9.00
$14.00 182,49( 7.44 14.00 182,49( 14.00
$17.06- $18.45 304,01« 8.49 17.48 104,081 17.51
$18.55- $19.50 771,54¢ 7.69 19.43 115,421 19.29
$19.74- $20.49 364,59: 8,47 20.06 125,63¢ 20.08
$20.64- $24.49 899,06( 9,16 23.22 111,00¢ 23.25
$24.93- $26.02 1,349,15( 9,63 25.53 81,832 25.88
$26.07 - $28.14 442,22 9.54 26.82 45,077 26.47
6,587,97° 7.80 $16.91  2,310,83¢  $10.47

The number of options outstanding and vested ae@ber 31, 2005 was 2,310,839 shares. The numimgtiohs outstanding and vested at
December 25, 2004 and December 27, 2003 was 14893t 1,691,430, respectively.

Deferred stock-based compensation

During fiscal 2001 and fiscal 2002, and through@uenpanys initial public offering in June 2003, the Compassued options to certe
employees under the Plan with exercise prices btlevdeemed fair market value of the Company’s comstock at the date of grant. In
accordance with the requirements of APB No. 25Qbmpany has recorded deferred stbeked compensation for the difference betwee
exercise price of the stock option and the deeraidrfarket value of the Company’s stock at the grahis deferred stock-based
compensation is amortized to expense on a stréighbasis from the date of grant through the wesgieriod, generally four years to five
years. During the years ended December 31, 200&erDiger 25, 2004 and December 27, 2003, the Compyecorded deferred st«
based compensation related to these options iartfeeints of none, $170,000 and $282,000, net ofedlations, respectively, of which
$1,715,000, $2,659,000 and $3,162,000 had beertiaewto expense during fiscal 2005, 2004 and 268hectively.

During fiscal 2005, the Company recognized stockeblacompensation of $1,503,000 related to the eataln of vesting of certain
options and options issued to hon-employees.
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Restricted Stock Units

During fiscal 2004, the Company issued 38,432 shafeestricted stock to its new president as @lnis initial compensation package.
The closing market price of the Company’s commalstvas $26.02 per share on the date of grantr@stected stock units vest in four
equal installments on January 1 of each of 2008722008 and 2009. The Company recorded an aggref&t.0 million in deferred stock-
based compensation which will be amortized as cosgt@n expense over the vesting period. The Coynparognized $246,000 and
$20,000 in stock-based compensation expense @ 2805 and 2004, respectively, related to restlistock.

During fiscal 2005, the Company issued 17,000 shafeestricted stock to the CEO. The closing mipkiee of the Company’s
common stock was $23.56 per share on the dateaof.grhe restricted stock units vest in two egnsiallments on April 3 of 2006 and 2008.
The Company recorded an aggregate of $400,000f@mrdd stockbased compensation which will be amortized as cosggéon expense o
the vesting period. The Company recognized $11708€ck-based compensation expense in fiscal 28@%ed to restricted stock.

2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On April 18, 2002, the Board of Directors approvied 2002 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (2002 ESHR& 2002 ESPP is designed
to enable eligible employees to purchase sharesrmafmon stock at a discount on a periodic basisutifrgayroll deductions or through a
single lump sum cash payment in the case of teedffering period. Except for the first offeringniod which had a seven-month duration,
each offering period is be for two years and cassi§four six-month purchase periods. The pricthefcommon stock purchased is 85% of
the lesser of the fair market value of the comntonkson the first day of the applicable offeringipd or the last day of each purchase pel
1,500,000 shares of common stock are reserved$oance under the 2002 ESPP and will be increasedah January 1 by an amount equal
to 1.0% of the outstanding shares of common stocthe preceding day. During fiscal 2005, 285,926 st had been purchased under this
program at a weighted average exercise price aB81DPuring fiscal 2004, 287,236 shares had beechpsed under this program at a
weighted average exercise price of $11.87. No shaad been purchased during fiscal 2003.

Notes receivable

In fiscal 2000 and 2001, the Company receivedr&dburse notes receivable from certain employeegdhange for common stock. The
notes bear interest at the applicable market isteate, ranging from 4.46% to 6.60%, and haveddies through May 2007. Under the terms
of the full recourse notes receivable, the Compaay proceed against any assets of the holder afdtes, or against the collateral securing
the notes, or both, in event of default. The natescollateralized by the underlying shares of comstock. As of December 25, 2004, the
notes receivable had been fully paid.
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The following is a geographic breakdown of inconeéobe the provision for income taxes (in thousands)

Years Ended

December 31 December 25

December 27

2005 2004 2003
Domestic $39,871 $ 39,642 $13,02¢
Foreign (1,379) (579) (861)

$ 38,492 $ 39,061 $12,16¢

The components of the provision (benefit) for ineotaxes are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended

December 31 December 25

December 27

2005 2004 2003
Current provision

Federal $14,08¢ $15,87¢ $ 3,031
State 1,469 1,887 2
Foreign 454 252 158
16,012 18,015 3,191

Deferred provision (benefit
Federal (5,706) (3,679) 1,085
State (1,996) (451) 373
(7,702) (4,130) 1,458
Total provision for income taxes $ 8,31C $13,88¢ $4,64¢

At December 31, 2005, the Company had researclit caadyforwards of approximately $7,182,000 faxtstincome tax purposes. The

state research credit can be carried forward indely.

The Company provides for U.S. income taxes on #nriegs of foreign subsidiaries unless they aresiclemed permanently invested
outside of the U.S. At December 31, 2005, the catiud amount of earnings upon which U.S. incomehiasx not been provided is
approximately $0.3 million. The incremental U.Scame tax on these cumulative earnings is approrin&20,000.

Fiscal 2005 was impacted by certain discrete ti@itsss recorded in the third quarter of 2005, maadjustments of $3.0 million related
to a research and development tax credit studyetisaw the release of prior year tax reserves wispect to years for which statute of

limitations had been reached.
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The components of the deferred tax assets ardlag$q(in thousands):

December 31 December 25

2005 2004

Tax credits $ 2,802 $1,024
Depreciation and amortizatic 337 (855)
Inventory reservi 7,621 4,985
Other reserves and accru 3,370 1,600
Non-statutory stock option 1,784 1,403
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards 779 358
Gross deferred tax assets 16,693 8,515
Valuation allowance (779 (358)

Net deferred tax assets $15,914 $8,157

Management periodically evaluates the recoverghifithe deferred tax assets and recognizes thieciagfit only as reassessment
demonstrates that they are realizable. At such, tihitds determined that it is more likely thaotrthat all U.S. deferred tax assets are
realizable, the valuation allowance will be adjdstés of December 31, 2005 and December 25, 20@4Cbmpany has provided a valuation
allowance because it believes it is less likelynthat that all deferred tax assets will be realiethe foreseeable future.

Tax benefits of $6,089,000, $8,556,000 and $1,&888i0 fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectivelypeisted with the exercise of
employee stock options and other employee stoalgrpnes were recognized in stockholders’ equity.

The items accounting for the difference betweenime taxes computed at the federal statutory ratal@provision (benefit) for incor
taxes consisted of (in thousands):

Years Ended
December 31 December 25 December 27

2005 2004 2003

U.S. statutory federal tax rate $ 13,472 $ 13,672 $4,257
State taxes and credits, net of federal be 212 1,164 365
Amortization of stoc-based compensatic 195 255 535
Research and development cre (1,315) (543) (328)
Tax exempt interest and other permanent differe (1,753) (1,249) (225)
Tax benefits from recognition of prior ye’ tax credits (2,922) 373 —
Change in valuation allowance 421 213 45

Total $ 8,31C $13,88¢ $4,64¢

Note 9—Employee Benefit Plan:

In 1996, the Company adopted a retirement planlwisiqualified under Section 401(k) of the InterRalvenue Code of 1986. Eligible
employees may make voluntary contributions to #ieament plan of up to 25% of their annual compéns, not to exceed the statutory
amount, and the Company may make matching coniiteit The Company made no contributions to theemi@nt plan in fiscal
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2003. The Company recorded expenses for matchimgilotions of $636,000 and $128,000 during fi2@05 and 2004, respectively.

The Company provides a tax-qualified profit shanietrement plan for the benefit of eligible empmesg in the U.S. The plan is designed
to provide employees with an accumulation of fuftgetirement on a tax-deferred basis and profadennual discretionary employer
contributions. The Company expensed $2,316,0000981000 and none for the qualified U.S. profitrgimretirement plan in fiscal 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively.

Note 10—Operating Segment and Geographic Informatiw:

The Company operates in one segment regardingeigrd development, manufacture, sale and supppreoision, high performance
advanced semiconductor wafer probe cards. In aanoedwith SFAS No. 131 (“SFAS No. 131"), “DisclossrAbout Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information,” the Compayiief operating decision-maker have been identéigthe Chief Executive Officer and
the President, who review operating results to miasions about allocating resources and assegsifiiymance for the entire company.
Since the Company operates in one segment anceigroup of similar products and services, all feiahsegment and product line
information required by SFAS No. 131 can be founthie consolidated financial statements.

The following table summarizes revenue by geog@pggion based upon invoicing location:

Years Ended
December 31 December 25 December 27

2005 2004 2003

United States 34.2% 35.8% 50.1%
Taiwan 254 20.C 13.5
Japar 26.2 25.5 20.1
Asia (excluding Japan and Taiwe 4.6 5.4 6.0
Germany 6.6 9.3 9.2
Other 3.0 4.0 1.1

Total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Net property and equipment by country was as falg¢w thousands):

December 31 December 25

2005 2004

United States $79,48¢ $ 58,24¢
Japar 704 676
Korea 439 306
Taiwan 639 —
Germany 321 128
Total $81,58¢ $ 59,35¢
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The following customers represented greater th&a @fbthe Company’s revenues in fiscal 2005, 2002 2003:

Fiscal 2005 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003
Intel Corporation 11.8% 14.5% 30.1%
Spirox Corporatiot 23.0% 20.0% 13.4%
Elpida 22.71% 18.7% 12.4%
Infineon Technologies A( * 11.6% 10.2%
Samsung 15.3% * *

* Less than 10% of revenues.

Note 11—Related Party Transactions:
In July 2003, the Company purchased approximatg)¥3i,000 of manufacturing equipment from a compahgre one of the members

of the Company’s Board of Directors was also aiceffof that company. This transaction was negadiatt arms length.
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SCHEDULE I

FORMFACTOR, INC.
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2005, December 2804 and December 27, 2003
(in thousands)

Balance at Balance
Beginning at End of
Description of Year Additions Deductions Year
Allowance for doubtful accounts receival
Year ended December 27, 2C $ 253 $ — $ 150 $ 103
Year ended December 25, 2C $ 103 $ — $ 62 $ 41
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 41 $ 33 $ — $ 74
Reserve for excess and obsolete inven
Year ended December 27, 2C $ 7,45¢ $ 1,95¢ $ — $ 9,41¢
Year ended December 25, 2C $ 9,41¢ $ 4,462 $ 994 $12,88¢
Year ended December 31, 2C $12,88¢ $10,85¢ $3,922 $19,82:

Allowance against deferred tax ass

Year ended December 27, 2C $ 99 $ 45 $ — $ 144
Year ended December 25, 2C $ 144 $ 214 $ — $ 358
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 358 $ 452 $ 31 $ 779
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Set forth below is a list of exhibits that are lgefiled or incorporated by reference into this AahReport on Form 10-K:

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Date of Exhibit Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. First Filing Number  Herewith
3.01 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatitihe Registrant as filed wi
the Delaware Secretary of State on June 17, - S-1 33:-10981% 10/20/02 3.01
3.02 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registi 8-K  00C-50307 5/25/0& 3.02
4.01 Specimen Common Stock Certifica S-1/A  33:z-8673¢ 5/28/0z 4.01
4.02 Sixth Amended and Restated Rights Agreement byaamshg the Registrant
and certain stockholders of the Registrant datgd1R®; 2001. S-1  33:-8673¢ 4/22/0z 4.02
4.03 Stockholders Agreement by and among the Registtantgor Y. Khandros,
Susan Bloch and Richard Hoffman dated Februarp94: S-1  33:-8673¢ 4/22/0z 4.03
4.04 Stockholders Agreement by and among the Registtantgor Y. Khandros,
Susan Bloch and Milton Ohring dated April 11, 19 S-1  33:-8673¢ 4/22/0z 4.04
4.05 Stockholders Agreement by and among the Registitantgor Y. Khandros,
Susan Bloch and Benjamin Eldridge dated Augusti224. S-1  33:-8673¢ 4/22/0z 4.05
4.06 Stockholders Agreement by and among the Registitantgor Y. Khandros,
Susan Bloch and Charles Baxley, P.C. dated SepteByli®©94. S-1  33:-8673¢ 4/22/0z 4.06
10.01 Form of Indemnity Agreemen S-1/A  33:-8673¢ 5/28/0z 10.01
10.0z  Form of Change of Control Severance Agreerr 1C-K  00C-50307 3/14/0% 10.4¢
10.03 1995 Stock Plan, and form of option gre S-1  33:-8673¢ 4/22/0z 10.0z
10.04 1996 Stock Option Plan, and form of option gr: S-1  33:-8673¢ 4/22/0z 10.0¢
10.05  Incentive Option Plan, and form of option gre S-1  33:-8673¢ 4/22/0z 10.04
10.06 Management Incentive Option Plan, and form of apgicant. S-1  33:-8673¢ 4/22/0z 10.0&
10.07 2002 Equity Incentive Plan, and forms of optionrgr S-1/A  33:-8673¢ 6/10/0% 10.0€
10.0¢ 2002 Employee Stock Purchase P S-1/A  33:-8673¢ 6/10/0% 10.07
10.0¢*  Key Management Bonus Plan (200 S-1/A  33:-8673¢ 6/10/0% 10.08.1
10.1C* Sales Incentive Plan (first half 200: S-1/A  33:z-8673¢ 6/10/0% 10.09.1
10.11* Sales Incentive Plan (second half 20( S-1 3310981t  10/20/0: 10.1C
10.1z2* Key Management Bonus Plan (200 1C-K  00C-50307 3/22/04 10.11
10.1%* Sales Incentive Plan (first half 200. 1C-K  00C-50307 3/22/04 10.12
10.14 Key Employee Bonus Plan (200! 8-K  00C-50307 3/30/0% -
10.15  Employment Offer Letter dated November 17, 2004daseph R. Bronso 1C-K  00C-50307 3/14/0% 10.4¢
10.1€  Employment Offer Letter dated January 27, 2005dadd C. Fostel 1C-K  00C-50307 3/14/0% 10.5C
10.17 Employment Offer Letter dated October29, 1998 taMkazu Hatsukanc S-1  33:-8673¢ 4/22/0z 10.13
10.1&€  Written description of material definitive agreerteto increase certain
executive officer compensation approved on Noverdb@005. 8-K  00C-50307  11/10/0% —
10.1¢  Written description of material definitive agreerh&mincrease director
compensation approved on February 16, 2! 8-K  00C-50307 2/16/0% —
10.2C Lease by and between Paul E. lacono and the Ragfistated June 26, 19¢ S-1  33:-8673¢ 4/22/0z 10.14
10.21  First Option to Extend Lease Term by and betweern Palacono and the
Registrant dated October 4, 2002 for the Leasedwmrivthe parties dated
June 26, 199¢ S-1/A 338673t 12/18/0Z 10.12.1
10.2Z Lease by and between Paul E. lacono and the Ragfistated April 12, 199t S-1  33:-8673¢ 4/22/0z 10.13
10.22  First Option to Extend Lease Term by and between Palacono and the
Registrant dated October 4, 2002 for the Leasedmivthe parties dated
April 12, 1996. S-1/A 338673t 12/18/0Z 10.13.1
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10.24 Lease by and between Paul E. lacono and the Raufistated

November 20,199¢ S1  33:-8673¢ 4/22/0z 10.14
10.2E  First Option to Extend Lease Term by and betweern Palacono and the

Registrant dated October 4, 2002 for the Leasedmivthe parties dated

November 20, 199¢ S-1/A  33z-8673&  12/18/0z 10.14.1
10.2€ Lease by and between Paul E. lacono and the Ragfistated April 24,199° S-1  33:-8673¢ 4/22/0z 10.1E

10.27 First Option to Extend Lease Term by and between Palacono and the
Registrant dated October 4, 2002 for the Leasedmtwthe parties dated

April 24, 1997. S-1/A 333-8673€  12/18/0Z 10.15.1
10.28 Lease by and between Richard K. and Pamela K. @pfabert and Cheryl
Rumberger, Connie Duke and the Registrant datediivb2, 1998 S-1  33:-8673¢ 4/22/0z 10.1€

10.2¢ First Amendment to Standard Industrial/ Single Tenaase—Net by and
between Richard K. Corbett and Pamela K. CorbetheR Rumberger and

Cheryl Rumberger, and the Registrant dated Apr2G03. S-1/A  33:-8673¢ 5/21/0% 10.16.1
10.3C Lease by and between L One and the Registrant déaech 25, 1998 S-1  33:-8673¢ 4/22/0z 10.17
10.31 Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @ileemvestors, L.P. and

the Registrant dated May 3, 20( S-1/A  33:-8673¢ 6/10/0z 10.1¢
10.32  First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasard between Greenville

Investors, L.P. and the Registrant dated Januarg(®13. S-1/A  33:-8673¢ 5/07/0z 10.18.1
10.32  Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @ileemvestors, L.P. and

the Registrant dated May 3, 20( S-1/A  33:-8673¢ 6/10/0z 10.1¢
10.34  First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasartd between Greenville

Investors, L.P. and the Registrant dated Janugr2@®13. S-1/A  33:-8673¢ 5/07/0% 10.19.1
10.35  Pacific Corporate Center Lease by and between @ileemvestors, L.P. and

the Registrant dated May 3, 20( S-1/A  33:-8673¢ 6/10/0z 10.2C
10.3€  First Amendment to Pacific Corporate Center Leasard between Greenville

Investors, L.P. and the Registrant dated Januarg2®13. S-1/A  33:-8673¢ 5/07/0z 10.20.1
21.01 List of Registrar’s subsidiaries — — — — X
23.01 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourfing. — — — — X
24.01 Power of Attorney (included on the signature pafgénis Form 1(-K) — — — — X
31.01 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant15 U.S.C. Section 7241, as

adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 2002 — — — — X
31.02 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant15 U.S.C. Section 7241, as

adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sart-Oxley Act of 2002 — — — — X
32.01** Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chi€inancial Officer pursuant to

18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant tadBe@®6 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002 — — — — X

Confidential treatment has been requested andegtdat portions of this exhibit.

This exhibit shall not be deemed “filed” for purpssof Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Adt9®4 or otherwise subject to the
liabilities of that section, nor shall it be deeniecorporated by reference in any filing under Seeurities Act of 1933 or the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, whether made before or #fiedate hereof and irrespective of any generalrpuaration language in any filings.
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EXHIBIT 21.01
LIST OF REGISTRANT'S SUBSIDIARIES

SUBSIDIARY NAME JURISDICTION OF ORGANIZATION
FormFactor Europe Ltd. United Kingdom

FormFactor Germany Gmb Germany

FormFactor Hungary Licensing LL Hungary

FormFactor International, In Delaware, United State

FormFactor, KK Japar

FormFactor Korea, In¢ South Kore:




EXHIBIT 23.01
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Nd33-306043, 333-115137 and 333-
125918) of FormFactor, Inc. of our report datedrbaly 24, 2006 relating to the financial statemeifitiancial statement schedule,

managemens$ assessment of the effectiveness of internal aloower financial reporting and the effectivenetsternal control over financi
reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
March 1, 2006




EXHIBIT 31.01

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 7241, AS
ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Igor Y. Khandros, certify that:

1. | have reviewed the annual report on Form 10-KarffFactor, Inc., a Delaware corporation, for theqeeended December 31, 2005,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commigsio

2. Based on my knowledge, the annual report doesariain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with resp
to the period covered by the annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ atimer financial information included in the anhieport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in the
annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd dave:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoidge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which the annual report is beingpared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financégarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentéiannual report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by the annual rep
based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in the annual report any change érégistrant’s internal control over financial refoay that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hatenelly affected, or is reasonably likely to madly affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of directf@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céotrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg’s ability to record, process, summarize aambrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a samiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 1, 2006 /s/ IGOR Y. KHANDROS

Igor Y. Khandros
Chief Executive Office




EXHIBIT 31.02

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. SECTION 7241,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Ronald C. Foster, certify that:

1. | have reviewed the annual report on Form 10-KarffFactor, Inc., a Delaware corporation, for theqeeended December 31, 2005,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commigsio

2. Based on my knowledge, the annual report doesariain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with resp
to the period covered by the annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements$ atimer financial information included in the anhieport, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in the
annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd dave:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoidge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which the annual report is beingpared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financégarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentéiannual report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discsantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by the annual rep
based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in the annual report any change érégistrant’s internal control over financial refoay that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hatenelly affected, or is reasonably likely to madly affect, the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of directf@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal céotrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg’s ability to record, process, summarize aambrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a samiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 1, 2006 /s RONALD C. FOSTEF

Ronald C. Foste
Chief Financial Officel




EXHIBIT 32.01

CERTIFICATION OF
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report on Form 10fkcormFactor, Inc., a Delaware corporation, for pleeiod ended December 31, 2005, as
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissé&ath of the undersigned officers of FormFactor, tectifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9@dbarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to his respe knowledge:

(1) the annual report fully complies with the requiremnseof Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securitieshamge Act of 1934, as amend
and

(2) the information contained in the annual reportiygiresents, in all material respects, the findnmiadition and results of operatic
of FormFactor, Inc. for the periods presented there

Date: March 1, 2006 /s/ IGOR Y. KHANDROS

Igor Y. Khandros
Chief Executive Office

Date: March 1, 2006 /s RONALD C. FOSTEF

Ronald C. Foste
Chief Financial Officel




